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About this report

The Finnair Group's core business consists of atrline business and travel
services The purpose of the Annual Report and its GRI section under
the G4 reporting framework, to be published at the end of February, 15
to account for the company's financial, economic, social and environ-
mental impacts, and to explain their strategic business significance The
report’s intended audience consists of shareholders, investors, analysts,
medza, customers, employees, other interested stakeholders and the
general public at large

Finnair considers sustainabulity a critical and strategic aspect of busi-
ness performance, thus sustainabihity reporting is an integral part of its
annual reporting framework The report describes the Finnair Group's
matenal acttvities in 2015 across all its units Matenal aspects are listed
on page 20

Finnair has made efforts to facilitate reading 1ts financial statements
and to clanfy the overall picture that can derived from them Firstly,
the notes of Finnair’s financial statements have been combined to busi-
ness related sections 1n order to give a more relevant and less complex
picture of the whole Each section sets out the accounting principles
applied in producing these notes together with any criticat accounting
estimates and sources of uncertainty Sccondly, interesting figures have
been hughhghted by cirching them, and these as well as other hagh-
lights are explained :n a text box marked with a star Thardly, illustrating
charts have been inserted in various sections of the financial statements
5o as to facihtate understanding the figures
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CEQ’s review

Pekka
Vauramo

CEO

B @pekkavau

The year 2015 marked the beginning of a new

era for Finnair in many ways. We maintained a
steady angie of attack in spite of the turbulence
in the global economy: we improved our year-on-
year performance each quarter, and achieved a
positive operational result for the full year, At the
same time, our share price more than doubled.

Our revenues grew by 1 7 per cent during the year,
although we focused on our core business and let
go of several non-core functions During the last
quarter, our rate of growth was bordering on six
percent, driven by passenger trafhe One of the
financial hughlights of the year was the growth of
ancillary revenues by a whopping third to shghily
above 100 million eures

We carried a record number of passengers in 2015
more than 10 million, along with well over 100
million kidlogrammes of cargo Despite a sigmficant
increase in seats, we saw continued improvement in
our passenger load factor and punctuality, and while
our customer satisfaction scores also remained
good, our sights are set even higher

Last year we worked together with our personnel
to crystallise the values that inspire everyone at
Finnair Qur new values are Courage, Simplicity
and Commitment to Care | am dehghted to see
how these valucs are alrcady being reflected in our
day-to-day operations

In 2015, we showed Courage tn launchung the next
phase of growth 1n our long-haul traffic by becoming
the first European airline to operate the new A350
atrcraft We also stated this move would need to be
supported by increasing our feeder trafhic capacity
and recruiting more personnel for fhght operations
in particular, but also 1 ground services At the
same time, we have worked to introduce Simpliaity
for instance to our processes and pnicing for cargo,
and by mtroducing a Light ticket product for passen-
gers who do not travel with checked bags Mean-
while, our Commutment to Care 1s reflected, besides
our customer service, also in the way we all pull in
the same direction

Qur direction 15 clear we want to offer the
smoothest, fastest connections in the northern
hemisphere via Helsinks, and the best network to the
world from our home market Our vision 1s a unique
Nordic expertence for our passengers In 2015, we
have made significant progress towards these goals

The aviation mdustry competes on a global scale
and 1s continuously evolving some legacy cartiers
have fallen by the wayside, while many others are
undergoing sigmificant renewal programs or actively
participating in the current process of consolidation
in the industry, of which there were many examples
last year, too We actively monitor the competitive
landscape, and strive to develop our strengths to
ensure our ability to succeed in an intensely compet-
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We hecame the first
European alriine to operate
the new A350 aircraft.

In 2015, our share
price more than
doubled.
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itve industry For example, in 2015 we focused on
refining our brand and improving the profitabihity
of domestic traffic

Finnair 1s emerging from a dramatic transformation,
as the company focused on 1ts core business and the
achievement of cost savings to ensure its competetive-
ness and viability The goal of these moves was to
create a sustainable foundation for future growth
We must continue to keep our eyes on costs now,
while our growth 1s yet accelerating for take-off,

in order to reach sustainable growth

A growth organusation requires a new type of DNA,
whach is why we are taking determined steps to
develop our management practices and investing 1n
the wellbeing of our personnel We have a number
of programs already underway as well as in devel-
opment in these areas Growth and new aircraft
exhilarate and inspire our personnel 1 have seen this
with my own eyes, both on the ground and 1n the air,
including dozens of A350 flights that 1 hosted last
year as part of our marketing activities

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015 4

in the long run, financial success 15 based on sustan-
abihty We are commutted to implementing the
sustamabihity principles of the UN Global Compact
imtiative 1n our operations In 2015, our corporate
social responsibility efforts focused on equality and
non-discrimination, as well as promoting respon-
sibility in the supply chain Our environmental
reporting was again recognised in the form of our
inclusion tn the CDP Nordic Disclosure Leadership
index Also notable with regard to our sustainability
reporting 1s the adoption of the GRI G4 framework

I would like to take this opportunity to express my
warmest thanks to our passengers, partners and
shareholders for the successful year we had 1n 2015
Special thanks must be extended to our personnel
for their good work and uncompromising commit-
ment to Finnair's renewal We are well positioned to
keep moving forward with vigour and umity

want to know more?

Visit Finnair.com
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Finnair in brief

Finnair 1 a network airline specialising 1n passenger and cargo traffic between Asia and
Europe Helsinki’s geographucal location gives Finnair a competitive advantage, since the
fastest cannections between many European destinations and Asian megacities fly over
Finland Currently, Finnair serves 15 Astan destinattons across 9 countrtes, to a mix of
financial centres and leisure destinations In addition, from summer 2016 onwards, Finnair
will launch new services to Fukuoka in Japan and Guangzhou in China Finnair also serves
3 North American destinations and approximately 60 destinations in Europe

Finnair's vision is to offer its passengers a unitque Nordic experience, and its mission is to
offer the smoothest, fastest connections in the northern hemisphere via Helsinki and the
best network to the world from its home markets Finnair 1s the only Nordic carrier with a
4-star Skytrax ranking and a member of the oneworld alliance In 2015, Finnair's revenues
amounted to 2,324 mithon euros and it had petsonnel of 4,817 at the year-end

Organisation set-up and key shareholders

Finnair Ple's shares are quoted on Nasdaq Helsinke The State of Finland holds 55 8 per cent
of the company’s shares The business 1s divided into two business segments Awrline Busi-
ness and Travel Services

Arrline Business area 1y responsible for scheduled passenger and charter traffic as well as
cargo sales, customer service and service concepts, fight operations and activity connected
with the pracurement and financing of acrcraft In 2015, the segment generated 91 per ceat
of Finnair’s revenue Largest share of the revenue comes from passenger ticket sales and
belly cargo, but the importance and share of acillary revenues 1s growing fast, at a rate of 32
per cent 1n 2015

Travel Services (Tour Operators and Travel Agencies) area consists of the tour operator
Aurinkomatkat (Suntours), its subsidiary operating in Estonia, the business travel agency
Finland Travel Bureau (FTB}, and Amadeus Finland, which produces travel sector software
and solutions The segment comprises 9 per cent of Finnair's annual revenue
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Business areas and key shareholders

State of Finland

55.8%
' ™
Travel Services
4 J
— FINNEAIR
i ™
Arrline Business
\ »
Others
44 2%
82.6%
Key revenue sources and split | Passenger transportation
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EUR 2,324
million
{2015)

—* Tour operators
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» Travel agencies

. Based on total revenue exchuding Group ehminations,

“  Inctudes. extra baggage fees, advance seat setechion, upgrade options, Economy
comfort product o bong-haut Sky Brstro w short haul economy

***  In 2014 ncluded Travel Reta!l Siare operations. Finncatering business. m 2015 other revenues
consisted poimanly of arcralt keases.
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Year 2015 Highlights

Strategy update

In May, as a part of its annual strategy review, Finnair's
Board of Directors approved a new vision and updated the
company's mission and strategic targets Finnair's new
vision s to offer its passengers a unmue Nordic expertence
and sts misston 15 te offer the smoothest, fastest
connections in the northern hemisphere via Helsinky, and
the best network to the world from its home markets The
updated strategic objectives are to double Asian traffic by
2020 from the 2010 level, deliver a unigue customer
experience and achieve world-class operations as well as to
create shareholder value n addibion, commitment to care,
simplicity and courage were adopted as the company's
values

B4 Cautr3ISChERol A rpi

A350s kicked off Finnalr's growth
The first of the 19 state-of-the-art A350-900 XWB aircraft
ordered by Finnarr arrived to Ftnland on 7 October These
arcraft will substantially increase Finnair's passenger and
cargo capacity, reduce fue! consumption and improve
travel comfort

Before moving o long-haul routes the first A350 was
operated for a couple of weeks on European antd domestic
routes, receiving overwhelming pubhaity and positive
feedback By the end of the year, Finnaw had three new
A350s, flying to Shanghal, Beying and Bangkok

In order to implement 1ts growth plans, Finnair
launched the recruitment of 200 new pilots and over 400
cabin crew In additien, 50 extra personnel will be neaded
for ground services

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Finnair shed light on Its teeder fleet development plan
In November, Finnair announced it would lease two A321
narrowbody atrcraft on a tempory basis in its European
traffic due to the capacity increase resulting from the new
A350s In December, Finnatr announced having ordered
four asrcraft of the same type with longer lease pertods
At the same tume, Finnair stated it would sell two small
Embraer jet aircraft and one ATR propeller aircraft

Investments In cargo terminal and WiFl connections
In March Finnair announced and began the construction of
a new COOL Nordic Cargo Hub terminal at Helsinki Airport
The terminal will include special cargo handhing areas for
pharmaceutical and hfe science products {Pharma} as well
as perishable products, including fish and seafood The new
state-of-the-art terminal wifl have a high level of
warahouse automation to ensure high quality arr fresght
service and competitive handling cost The termunaf is to be
opened duning spring 2017

In addition Fmnarr announced it would mstall WiFy
connechions in its Arbus fleet The first wireless services
on Finnair aircraft were seen already by the end of 2015, as
the new A350 XW8 arcraft jomned the fleet In 2016, Finpair
will begn to tnstall WiFi connections in its long-haul A330
atrcraft and in the Airbus narrowbody aircraft used in its
European traffic




) STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION

Norra ownership armangements

In january Finnair entered into 2 Memorandum of
Understanding with StaffPoint and GWS on gwnership
arrangements concerning Norra (formerly Flybe Nordic),
which operates Finnair s regional traffic Hence, the joint
venture received a new majority owner in heu of Flybe UK
The negotiations were protracted but m the end an
agreement was reached at the beginning of November, when
staffPomnt and Kitco became Norra s joint majority owners

LATA Environmental and Pharma certificates

in January, finnair became the first airline m Europe and
second in the world to be certified i the second phase
of the 1ATA IEnvA environmentat programme Meanwhile,
Finnair Cargo was the first 1n the world to pass I1ATA CEIV

FINANCE GOVERNANCE

Pharma certification programme, which 15 a testament to
top-notch standardised service for pershable pharmaceu-
tical products

Finnair boistered lts batance sheet for Aeet renewal

At the beginming of October, Finnair issued a 200 million
euro hybrid bond This marked the largest corporate hybrid
bond in Finland to-date, and 1t would enable Finnair to fund
its fieet renewal, valued approimately at 2 dillion euros,
on compelitive terms as a whole, and to keep its hquidity
and capital structure on a sohd basis Towards the end of
the vear, Fianair also announced the sale and leaseback of
four A350 aswrcraft, which was estimated to result in
one-time gans totaliing 160 million euros between 2015
and 2017

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Finnair recelved several awards during the year
FhightStats named Fsnnarir as the most punctual European
ahne m 2014 The World Airkine Awards chose Finnair as
the best arrline m Northern Europe for the sixth time In a
row The cabin design of Finnair's Airbus A350 XWB arrcraft
won first prize in the Commercial Aviatron - Economy/
Business Class category at the tnternational Yacht & Aviation
Awards 2015 Furthermore, COP, an organisation promotig
sustainability reporting, identified Finnair as a Nordic leader
n reportig cirmate change related information to investors
and other stakeholders, and awarded Finnair a position on
the Nordic Drsclosure Leadership Index (CDLD Finnairs
disclosure score 1n 2015 was 99/100

Mew routes and product reforms
In spring, finnawr expanded its purchased traffic agreement
with Norra, and its number of destinations increased thus
by eight as of 1 May 2015 In addition, Finnair announced 1t
would open new routes to Gdansk Luled and Umed These
routes are also operated by Norra as purchased traffic
New seasonal routes for the summer season 2015 were
Athens, Dublin, Malta, Spht and Chicago Miami was
established as a new year-round destination

In March, Finnair introduced Light, a new ticket type for
passengers travelling with hand baggage only on European
or Middle-Eastern scheduled routes A completely new
Nordic Sky in-flight entertainment system was introduced
in the A350s, whose derse offering, services and WiF)
keep the passengers better entertained and more
comfortable during long-haul fights During the year,
Suntravels focused particularly on digital services and
vacation concepts tailored specifically for different
customer segments
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Megatrends affecting Finnair

shift in economic and political focus from the
United States and Europe to developing countries

The gradual shaft in economic and politrcal focus from
the United States and Europe to developing countrees,
and Asia in particular, 15 the strongest of the mega-
trends affecting the aviation industry Asian corpora-
tions are becoming globalised and their significance
on the world market 1s growing The middle class ts
growing rapidly in many Asian countries

Asian travel will increase, and competition will inten-
sify, as Asian airhines expand thewr operations to inter-
continental fhights At the same time, airlhines and
governments will also have to negotiate for more
traffic rights Asian customers determine the expected
standard of quality for service and products, and
non-Asian airlines must increase their understanding
of Asian culture and customers

Urbanisation

Migration flows from rural areas to cities continue to
accelerate, particularly in China and other developing
countries In Asiain particular, the number of citres
with more than five million inhabitants will grow, as wall
the number of connections between such cities New
markets wili be created for airlines as traffic between
these megactties grows Competition will intensify as
regional airhnes begin to operate on these routes

Technological progress, increase in the signifi-
cance of network connections and digitalisation
Technologtcal pregress 1s leading to changes in
purchasing behaviour, the comparability of prices

and services online, and immediate feedback
Consumers want and expect network connections
everywhere they go Social media spreads news
rapidly and requires businesses to react quickly

Aurlines must anticipate changes, adapt to them and
provide opportunities for buying, using services and
sending feedback online Consumers want network
access belore, duning and after their flights They
increasingly want digital entertainment services
during flights

Muore advanced customer identification will also
allow autlines to offer tailored services and a person-
alised customer experience

Increasing significance of sustainability

Political decision-makers, consumers and other
stakeholders require businesses to operate more
responsibly and transparently Regulation and
reporting obligations will increase, and bus:-
tiesses are required to be more dihgent in momni-
toring the ethical dimensions of their supply chains
Consumers monitor the responsibility of compa-
rues’ operations and give feedback on social media

The arrtine industry will face stricter regulations

on emassions and notse, with increased regulation
resulting in added costs such as tax-like payments
Aurbines must increasingly cooperate on issues related
to safety, emrssions, noise and passenger rights

Megatrend

The shift In economlc
and pofitical power to
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mpact on the Industry

and Flanair

» Traffic between Asia and
Europe grows

« Intense competition
coentinues

+ Increased rmportance
of understanding Asian
markets

+ New markets are created

- Intensifying competition

+ Increasing significance of
online services and network
cennectons

» New opportunities for
Serving customers

+ Increase In vegulation and
reporting requirements

» Increasing significance of
open communication

« Renewal of the new generation
long-haul fleet from 2015 onwards

» New Asian destinations,
additional flights

+ Increasing Fimnair's
understanding of Asian markets

+ Good stakeholder relations

*+ Fastest route between Asia and
Europe

- Developtng online services

+ Developing inflight entertainment
systems

« Developing the service experience

+ Umique Nordic customer
experience

+ Investments in 3 more
environmentally friendly and
efficient fleet and operations

= Developing our operations
towards greater efficiency and
responsibility

+ Monttoring the supply chain

+ Participating in joint
sustamability projects in the
industry

+ Developing our reporting and
stakehotder communications
related to responsibilety
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A changing operating environment

‘The arrhne business 15 cydlical by nature and heavily
influenced by external factors Typically, revenues
are high during economic upswings and consider-
ably lower during periods of economic downturn
For individual airtines, the yield also fluctuates on
the basis of the holiday and business seasons

Aarhnes must make decistons on significant

fleet investments years before prrce-and-quality
conscious travellers make their purchase decisions
Aurcraft deltvery times may take years, which mears
that airfines have to plan their business for the long
term, often at least 10 years ahead, especially in
long-haul traffic This includes, among ather things,
a plan for future destinations and network, the type
of awrcraft required and the regulations they must
comply with

It 15 often very difficult to foresee how the market
will change between the order and delivery of an
arcraft With the low margins in the airline business
and the hugh capital expenditure needed to operate
an airhne, 1t 15 crucial to optimuse all aspects of busi-
ness operations to succeed It s also crucial to build
resiltence and flexibihty for unexpected changes in
the market environment

Management measures must ensure
competitiveness

Finnair’s goal 1s to generate shareholder value by
focusing on its core business, and investing in
competitiveness and profitable growth The most

important duty of Finnair’s management 1s to
ensure a successful future for the company
The policies, guidelines and processes used at
Finnarr assist the management in managing
and developing operations The management
15 also responsible for ident:fying changes
and risks in the operating environment

and making decis:ons to improve Finnair’s
competitiveness

Finnair’s financtal performance 1s described
on page 22 onwards and Finnair's governance
1s described on page 84 onwards

Competitive, growing industry

Based on ICAQ statistics and Airbus’ fore-
cast, revenue passenger ktlometres have
doubled every 15 years and are expected

to continue to do so * Awrbus further fore-
casts that air traffic between emerging

Asia and Western Europe will grow at an
average rate of 4 per cent annually between
2013 and 2033, and between China and
Western Europe at an average rate of 5 6 per
cent annually over the same period This
will provide substanttal opporturuties for
growth

Today, approximately 23 million people
travel between Finnar’s current Asian and
European destinations every year, and an
estimated 45 per cent of these are transfer
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External factors influencing

airlines
Changes tn consumer
preference, expectations, @
purchasing patterns
J and demographics \
m ™ | - -
— o Global economic cycles
Fue! price
] _nm_
@ AWH Seasonal lersure and
Exchange rates business travel

Weather, natural

¥ gQe
¢ VQ L4
disasters, pandemics

or other external shocks

Political envirgnment
and rules & regulations

*50urce ICAQ Awhus Global Market Forecast 2014
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passengers without direct connections to their

final destination ** Asian traffic already represents
approximately half of Finnair's passenger traffic, and
Japan 1s currently Finnair's second-largest market
after Finland In the future, the share of trafhe to and
from China 1s expected to grow

‘The airhine industry 1s ughly competitive, and with
the growth of the industry, the competitors have not
just changed, but also multiphed Finnair's compet-
ttive landscape can be roughly divided into two
parts European short-haul point-to-point traffic
and Astan long-hau) transfer trafhic In short-haul
point-to-point trafhic, airhines with the lowest cost
structures typically have the strongest competitive
posstions, and competition ts mamly driven by price
On the long-haul transfer traffic scene, airlines with
the largest network providing smooth and ctheient
end-to-end journeys typically have the strongest
positions

European network carniers, Finnair included, have
revised their operating methods and adjusted their
cost base 1n recent years in response to competi-
tion from low-cost airlines and airlines based in the
Middle East Intense competition has led to more
consolidation, athances and joint ventures in the
industry, with the aim of improving capacity discx-
pline and profitabahity

** The figures are Finnair's estimates The esumates are based on MIDT
data collected on the sales volumes of travel agencies and Finnair s esti-
mates of arlines sales through thew own sales channels such as websi
tes. Numbers reflect destination cilies rather than airports
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Strategy and value creation

The cernerstone of Finnair's strategy is leveraging
its geographical competitive advantage and the
fastest connections in the growing market of air
traffic between Asla and Europe.

The creation of value for Finnair's shareholders and
other stakeholders 15 based on the company's ability
to operate and grow its route network resource-
efficiently and protitably, the way it treats customers,
employees and other stakeholders and commuts
them to the company, and the ability to take the
environmental and other external impacts of oper-
ations into consideration Ultimately, the cntical
factors in the creation of value are the effectiveness
of the processes used at Finnair, and the ability of
Finnarr's management to develop the company and
manage the risks associated with operations

A strong position on the domestic
market and punching above its weight
in Aslan traffic

Finnarr holds a salid position 1n Finrush arr traffic
Due to the small size of its domestic market, the
focus of the company's growth has, for several
decades, been on the rapidly growing market of
Asian traffic Asia has been one of the fastest-
growing arr traffic markets in recent years, and its
mmportance 15 expected to increase further n the
short and medium term The share of Asian traffic
1s hugher at Frnnair than at its competitors, which
puts the company 1n an 1deal position to benefit
from these growing markets [n 2015, Asian traffic
accounted for approximately 50 per cent of Finnair's

trafhc In spite of its small s1z¢, the company was
among the largest airlines in terms of market share
on the routes it operates

Finnair's network - the smoothest
connections between Asla and Europe
Finnair's business model 1s that of a network carner,
and it specialises n traffic between Asia and Europe
Helsinki's geograplucal location provides Fmnair with
a structural competitive advantage, as geographical
proxumity allows it to offer the fastest and most direct
connections to the growing Asian markets

Finnair s also the only European airline that can
operate flights to most Asian destinations ina
24-hour aircraft rotation, which means that the routes
can be operated as round trips within 24 hours at
regular times using a single arcraft This enables very
tegh aircraft utilisation 1n long-haul traffic, reduces
the need for additronal crews due to flight time
restrictions, and decreases fuel consumption and
ermissions thanks to shorter flight times

Helsinki’s geographical proximity means that travel
times are more than two hours shorter on average
compared to one-stop fhghts via European hubs,
and more than four hours shorter compared to
flights via hubs located in the Middle East. Helsinki
Airport also supports the growth of tratfic between
Asia and Europe its three runways, connection
times as short as 35 nunutes, and uncongested
airspace make Helsinki Airport 2 good awrport for
connecting flhights

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015 12

Finnair gains a
competitive advantage
from Helsinki's
geographical location.
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Finnair’s strategic objective 1s to double its Astan

traffic by 2020 compared to 2010 Finnair currently

operates flights to hfteen Asian destinations in nine Yo i
different countrtes, including financial hubs as well Y : a.f,.n
as holiday destinations Finnair’s next Asian dests-

nations are Fukuoka in Japan and Guangzhou in

China, both to be launched in summer 2016 Finnawr ,n

also operates flights to three cities in North America ..
and approximately 60 destinations in Europe

Our membership of the oneworld alliance increases
the size of our network to nearly one thousand desti-
nations arouad the world Close cooperation with
alliance partners in North American and Japanese
traffic in particular 1s a prionty for Finnair Member-
ship of the oneworld alliance and joint businesses
strengthen Finnair's market posibon and reduce the
nisks related to growth For customers, they provide
an even broader chorce of destinations as well as

more flexible routang and pricing options For ﬁ? r .«v@ﬁ.ﬁ :ﬁ.ww 0 u‘.

arrhnes, joint businesses are a way to gain benefits
§

typically associated with consohidation in a haghly \Hg QE,Q.E a ~ &\mas:o&
competitive industry without actual mergers, acqu- R o .
sitions or equity transfers between partners All- - mncoereases. A.\d@ size 0-\- our
ance partnerships and joint businesses have a signif- . -
tcant impact on Finnair's revenue | - ggeﬁ.‘a 1o §w-% one

A E L g ® [
Finnair's abality to operate its network safely and : agaa ggm.ngnﬁg\m
punctually from one of the world’s northernmost air I aﬂegﬂ‘& ﬁg A.GSE.

tratfic hubs 1s integral to value creation The transfer o
of passengers, baggage and cargo to connecting ;
flights 1s ensured through efficient processes and

cooperation with airport authorities

.
i

ot
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Finnair entered a new phase in 2015:

Finnair's direction: a unlque Nordic experience
Finnair's new vision is to offer its passengers a
unique Nordic expertence

Finnair's route network connects Asia, North
America and the northern regions of Europe and
beyond through its hub at Helsinki Awrport The
operations are based on quality, rehiabihity, safety
and design inspired by Nordic pure nature Finnair's
vision ts expressed for example tn easy-to-use digital
services and n the enhancement of Business Class
services The goal 1s that, as a result of the service
offered at the airport, in lounges and on board,
customers arrive at their destinattons relaxed and
with peace of mind

Finnair’s vision gives direction to all Finnarr
employees and partners in the areas of customer
service, operations and the development of the
company’s operations and servitces

Finnalr's mission: fast and smooth connections
Finnair’s mussion 1s to offer the smoothest, fastest
connections n the northern hemusphere via
Helsinki, and the best network to the world from its
home markets

FINANCE GOVERNANCE

Updated strategic objectives:
+ Double Astan traffic by 2020 from the
2010 level
+ Deliver a unique customer experience
and achteve world-class operations
+ Create shareholder value

‘The core of Finnair’s strategy 1s taking advantage of
the growing demand for traffic between Europe and
Asta The strategy 15 based on the growing markets
n Asia, fast connections between Europe and
Northeast Asia, quality service and cost-efficient,
punctual operations Helsinkr's geographucal loca-
tron provides Finnair with a natural competitive
advantage, as the fastest routes between many desti-
nations n Europe and megacities in Asia go through
Helsmk

To achieve these strategic objectives, the company’s
Board of Directars has approved six strategic imple-
mentatton areas for 2015-2017

Intercontinental growth with a focus en
Northeast Asta

« A unique customer expertence

People and the Finnair culture
Digrtalisation

+ Funding and capital structure

+ World-class operations

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015 14

Finnair's values: Commitment to Care,
Stmpticity and Courage

+ We care about our customers and each other
We take respons:bility and operate respon-
sibly
Simplification means clear processes, open-

ness, transparency, clarity, efficzency and the
professional development of operations

+ Courage means a broadminded attitude
about the future It involves inspiration, crea-
tivity, persistence, the courage to ask, and the
courage to give feedback

Finnair’s vision is to offer
its passengers a

unique Nordic
experience.
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Airbus A350 XWB aircraft started a newera

Finnair’s fleet strategy 15 cntically important to both
revenue growth and cost management For an oper-
ator of Finnair’s stze, an all-Airbus fleet increases
operational efhiciency and flexability through opti-
mused crew utilisation, centralised spare parts
purchasing and more streamhined maintenance
programs It also enables efficient fleet utihsation
and flexibility in scheduled trafhc

The introduction of new Airbus A350 XWB arrcraft
provides the foundation for Finnair’s growth strategy
and enables controlled and profitable growth The
next-generation A350 aircraft were introduced 1n
our scheduled traffic in October 2015, marking

the beginning of a new era for Finnair Finnair was
the first European airline to operate these aircraft
A350 aircraft substantially improve travel comfort
and enable the company to offer new value-added
services to customers The improved fuel efficiency
and lower emissions of the new awrcraft increase
cost competitiveness and meet the growing demand
for more environmentally friendly and sustainable
air traffic The new aircraft also increase Finnair's
passenger and cargo capacity in long-haul traffic

FINANCE

GOVERNANCE

Finnair has ordered a total of 19 Airbus A350-900
X\¥B arrcraft from Airbus By the end of 2015,
Finnair had taken delivery of three A350 aircraft
According to the current delivery schedule, Finnair
will have five of these aircraft by nud-2016, seven by
the end of 2016, E1 by the end of 2017, and 19 by the
end of 2023

The growth of Finnaur's long-haul fleet from 2016
onwards

Alrcraft

20

15

10

14 15 16 17 18 19 20
T A330 B A340 W A3S0*

* First defiveries m Q4 2015 last defiveries n 2023
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To proceed with its growth strategy, Finnair wall also
expand and modermise its European fleet by selling
its older and smallest narrow-body aircraft and
reptacing them with new, larger aircraft With a view
to the growtng long-haul trafhc, feeder capacity wall
also be increased by adding seats to existing narrow-
body aircraft The company further plans to replace
its smallest aircraft wath larger ones over the next
few years Increasing aircraft sizes and the number
of seats allows Finnair to create additional capaaity
as cost-efficiently as possible

The Finnair fleet 1s described in more detail on
pages 27 and 28

|
4 GATE »

A A record number of passengers: Finnair flew more than 10.3 million customers in 20135.
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Finnair's strategic strengths are:
« Solid position in the domestic market
+ Ideally positioned to benefit from the growing

Astan markets,

— Asian traffic represents roughly 50 per cent
of Finnair's trafhe

- The company 1s among the largest airhnes in
traffic between Asia and Europe

+ Favourable geographical locatton,

- Shortest distance to Northeast Asian destina-
tions enables the fastest routes and 24-hour
rotation of awrcraft

« The introduction of next-generation Awrbus
A350 XWB aircraft brings sigmficant financial
advantages and enables controlled and profit-
able growth
Increasing aircraft sizes in the European fleet
will improve cost cthaiency
Strong cash flow and disciphned use of
caputal
Excellent operational quality and efficiency
+ Tap-class service — Northern Europe’s best

.

airline®

*Source Skytrax World Airine Awards repart published i summer 2015

We take pride in our committed personnel
The airline business 1s a labour-intensive industry
and our success depends significantly on our ability
to commut our personnel to the company and

FINANCE

GOVERNANCE

recrutt industry professionals to achieve our goals
Flight personnel and ground service employees play
a major role in operating our network and creating
the customer expertence, but equally important

to value creation 1s the capacity of our experts to
develop our product, negotiate traffic rights and
manage partnerships, for instance

Finnair’s personnel, wellbeing at work and key
projects affecting personnel are described in the
GRI section

Environmental impacts

The airline business has many environmental impacts,
the most significant of which are carbon dioxide
emusstons and noise The mfrastructure required by
air traffic also places a load on the cnvironment At
the same time, the airhine business benefits society by
providing connections and creating jobs

The most sigmficant way to reduce the environ-
mental impacts of flying 1s investing in next-
generation aircraft, such as the Atrbus A350 XWB
In addition to fleet investments, Finnair has
improved fuel efficiency through operational meas-
ures and by making better use of infrastructure

The environmental impacts of Finnair's operations
are described in the GRI section
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Helsinki - a permanent geographical
competitive advantage

Our home awrport plays an important role in the
creation of value for customers and Finnish society
Combined with our own expertise, it ensures the
punctuahty of fights, gnod customer service and a
rehability rating of over 98 per cent for connecting
flights

The geographical location of cur home aicport gives
us a permanent competiive advantage compared
to European airports located more to the west and
south Fmnair’s network strategy makes Helsimki
Arrport an active hub of international air traffic

and logistics Finnair's current route netwerk and
its future expanston ensures that Finland will have
more direct flight connections to other parts of the
world than domestic demand alone could support
Thas has a significant impact on the travel opportu-
nities of Finns and on the Finnish business sector
Awiation accounts for almost 4 per cent of Finnish
GDP*, and according to an analysis conducted in
autumn 2014 by ETLA, the Research Institute of the
Finnish Economy, Finnair 1s the 10th most signf-
tcant company for the Finnish economy *** One

of Finnair’s strategic goals ts to continue to grow

arr traffic through Helsink: by leveraging Finland's
geographical location

** Oxford Economics “Economic Benefits from Air Transport i £in
land™ hrtp./fwww iata arg/policy/Documents/Benefits-of Aviabon-Fin-
land-2011 pdf

*** ETLA Brief 28, http-//pub etla (/ETLA-Mursho-Brief 28 pdl
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Value creation at Finnair

Inputs/
Key capitals

Human capital
4.817 nersonnel. training hrs 33.9/
emplioyee. expertise

Financial
Interesi-bearing debt EUR 346.3 millign
Equity capital EUR 727.5 mi

Immaterial
Traffic rights. overflight rights,
customer data. quality certifications,
route netwark, brand and
cusiomer preferences

Natural
517 tans of jei fuel

Social and partnerships
Suppliers and pariners, AJB/S)B joint
business distribution network, alliance

cooperation. public affairs

Fleet and infra
Over 70 aircraft

GOVERNANCE

Our vision,
mission, strategy

Our governance
Our values

Business processes: Products/outputs
Passenger transportation

(network. fleet and trafiic {10.3 mitlion passenger

planning. resource €argo transporiation

allocation. ground services. (131 million kitos)

flying. procurement) ravel packages

Customer process Customer experience

Commercial process and service
Qther

Production process

Support processes
Finance. HR. Legal. Communications. public affai
and corporate responsibility
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\

Value created
and impacts

Fastest connections
between Europe and Asia

Customer value
Customer satisfaction 8.1/10

Financial
Operating result EUR 121.7 million,
taxes, trafiic charges. return on equity
and debt investments

Natural
Emissions 2.920.810 ion
CO.. noise, waste

Sacial
Traffic connections,
direct and indirect employment.
employee experience 3.63/5,
added value to partners, brand value,
innovative and sustainable products
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Stakeholder engagement

How Finnair communicates and cooperates with its stakeholders

Subjects

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015 18

Channels

Customers : Travel experience, customer service ssues product quality, on-time performance,
emissions and noise reduction, safety, recyching, responstble sgurcing, responsible
tourism, charity- and corporate responsibility projects via Finnair Plus

Personnel

Occupational health and wellbeing at work, target setting, Code of Conduct and
ethicak issues, safety and security, changes to improve profitabthity, values and
business practises, Increasing trust, reducing environmental impact on the job
corporate responstbility in partnerships, changes affecting personnel

Sharcholders and
Investors

Market environment and competitive landscape, the company’s operations,
corporate responsibility, goals, reporting, strategy and financial position

Aviation sector : Safety, emissions reductson, emissions trading, air traffic management, biofuel and
supply chain development, sustainable tourism, economic impacts of the sector
Auathorities and | Safety, emissions trading, air traffic management, supply chain responsibility,
government : feporting, economic contribution of aviation, impact of operations on environment

and noise, traffic continuity, biofuels, employee relations

N&Os and sustafnahble | Greenhouse gas emsssions reduction envircnmental impact reduction, public
design companies | health measures, disaster relief, wildlife protection, common interest projects for
¢ sustainabihity and development cooperatien, supply chain responsibility
suppliers | Cooperation efforts to reduce emissions and other eavironmental impacts

monitoriag of responsshility everywhere in the value chain
Dany operations and irregulanties, company strategy ard business, emissions
reduction, personnel relatiens financial sustainability, economic contribution of
aviation, ethics, charitable cooperation projects, trends n traffic, biofuels, emissions
trading, noise, tmpact of awiation an local economy and mobidity
Customer service, product quality, labour relations, econemic centribution of
aviation, ethics, emissiens reduction presence in local economies, charitable
cooperation progects, corporate citizenship

General public

Surveys, research, written feedback, Finnair website, social media, customer events, customer
service encounters at every stage of the journey, messages to finnaw Plus customers, Finnair
mobile app, Blue Wings -inflight magazine

Intranet, internal blogs, theme weeks, Yammer, personnel events, We Together- Wellbeing At
Waork survey, occupational health services, performance evaluation and development planning,
discussions with Jabour organisattons, Leadership forum Career Gate

Stock exchange bulletins under periodic and on-going disclosure obligation, tnterim reports
financial statements, report of the Board of Directors, Corporate Governance Statement Annual
General Meeting, investor, analyst and media meetings and events, corporate wehsite, Carbon
Disclosure Project

Membership in IATA and AEA cooperation forum for sustatnable tourism, membership in
oneworld alhiance, Joint Busmesses, cooperation with Finavia and other airpost operators
sector seminars and working groups manufacturers

Dialogue with local, national, EU-fevel authorities and governments, dialogue with governments
and authorities in destination and overflight countries, events and other cooperation with Finmish
Consumer Agency, Flight 5afety Authority {TraFi} embasstes and other relevant Finnish and
foregn actors

Cooperation with Finnish Association for Nature Conservation, UNICEF, Finnish Red Cress, Cancer
Socsety of Finland and other NGOs Membership in the Carbon Disclosure Project Partnerships
with sustainable design firms such as Tikav and GlobeHope

Press releases, press conferences, visits by reporters press trips, interviews, websites,
media desk, social media, Blue Wings magazine

Communications via media, websites, e-mait and lectures, social media including blogs, Facebook
Twitter and Sina Wetbo
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Sustainability review — Leave no one behind

Kati
Thamiki

Director
Corporate Sustainabllity

B @Xatuhamaki

In recent years, commitment to sustainable development and soclal
responsibility has increased substantially and globally among

both private sector and countries. The best results for sustainable
development can be achieved through cooperation between govern-
ments, husinesses, associations and citizens to pursue shared goals.

Cooperation and the role of the private sector was also emphasised in
the launch of Sustainable Development Goals and agenda introduced
by the UN in September 2015 The goals guide sustainable development
efforts from the present unttl 2030, and their purpose ts to end extreme
poverty and achieve sustarnable development 1n all areas, including
the economy, human well-being and the envirenment  The founda-
tion for the plan hes in cooperation the various participants in society
must promote and finance development through their own actions
Government responsibility and the expertise of non-profit organisa-
tions cannot be replaced by companies’ responsibility projects, but
utihsing the competencies and resources of all of the parties involved
can achteve long-lasting global results

Another milestone achieved in 2015 was the agreement signed at the
COP21 chimate conference in Paris The target of the joint commat-
ment is to stop global warmung at 1 5 degrees  The awation sector was
excluded from the agreement text, as IATA {International Air Transport
Association) and ICAQ {International Crval Aviation Organisation,
under the UN) have made efforts for several years to create a joint
global market-based emissions reduction model Good results on

this front will hopefully be achieved in October 2016, in the General
Assembly of ICAQ which wall hopefully agree on erussions reduction
mechamisms for aviation The market-based mechanism promoted by
IATA and ICAQ would significantly support other erussions reduction
measures in the industry

For Finnair, the year was highly significant The major milestones were
the arrival of the new Awrbus A350 XWB awrcraft and the launch of
Finnair's updated values

The Aarbus A350 XWB aircraft, which was first introduced in Europe
by Finnar, represents a signficant step forward from the sustainability
perspective as well 1ts fuel efficiency and emissions efhiciency are very
hugh, while 1ts noise 1s substantially lower than other aircraft types, both
outstde the aircraft and inside the cabin Advanced technology also
means that the Airbus A350 XV B 15 pleasant to work and travel in

Our new values — Commitment to Care, Simplicity and Courage —
play an important role in defining and implementing Finnasr’s direction
with respect to sustainability

+ We care about our customers and each other We take responsi-

bility and operate responsibly

Simplification means clear processes, openness, transparency,

clarity, efficiency and the professional development of operattons

« Courage means a broadminded attitude about the future It
involves inspiration, creatiity, persistence, the courage to ask,
and the courage to give feedback

Another sigmificant step was our adoptton of the G4 standard 1n our
GRI reporting In cooperation with our stakeholders, we carrted out a
matenahty assessment with regard to sustainability and updated our
selected indicators based on the assessment We will increase the depth
of our reporting based on the chosen aspects, and we will strive to
increasingly take into account the impacts of our supply chain In addi-
tion to the change of the reporting framewaork, we also launched other
cooperation and sustainabihty projects, which will be described in
more detail in the report’s GRI section

"Leave no one behind” 1s the UN's sustainable development theme for
the coming years At Finnair, we are committed to promoting sustain-
able development in cooperation with our partners and stakeholders
Qur goal for this year 1s to define the key aspects of the SDG program
in terms of their relevance to Finnair's operations, and to focus particu-
larly on these areas 1n our work

19




STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION

FENANCE GOVERNANCE

Identified material aspects

In 2015, Finnair updated :ts materiahty analysts for
corporate responsibility in accordance with the GRI
G4 reporting gmdelines The matenality analysis
was used to identify the key economic, environ-
mental and soctal impacts in Finnair’s vatue chain
as well as impacts on business and stakeholder
decision-making

The materiality analysis was based on identtfying
corporate responsibility 1ssues emerging from
Finnair'’s business environment through an analysis
of industry trends, legislation, corporate respon-
sibility reporting guidelines, the reporting of peer
companies and i1ssues hughlighted by various stake-
holders

The identified corporate responsibifity aspects
were assigned priorities in expert workshops based
on their business impact and stakeholder interest
The results of the prioritisation were reviewed with
the representatives of key stakeholders Finnaur's
Executive Board and Board of Directors approved
the results of the materiality analysis

Finnair's material corporate responsibility themes
and aspects, defined as a result of the materiality
analysis, are presented in figure on the night and

the management principles from page 85 onwards
The impacts, and indicators related to the material
themes and aspects will be presented in detail in the
GRI section to be pubhshed in February

TN

Identified

material themes

and aspects
of corporate
responsibility

Ethical business
conduct and

responsible sourcing /

AN

“

Code of conduct
Anti-corrupti

anti-bribery aolicies
Human rights

Purchasing practices and
supply chain sustainability

.,

Environment

Fuel efficiency

Energy and greenhouse gas
emissions

Envirgnmental

and regulation

Efficient air traffic
management

Biodiversiiy

Personnel

Employee safety
Competence development,

wellbeing. diversity. equality
and non-discrimination
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Economy

+ Financial performance and
future competitiveness
= Local economic impacis

Customer

« Customer wellbeing and safety
< Customer satisfaciion

+ Punciuality
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Key performance indicators

Indicator (KPI) and target level | Actions taken In 2015

Lo

« Seeking additional revenue through product ang service
development

x Qperational resuit | 0% of revenue

= EBITDAR 9 9% of revenue

« EBITDAR at least 17% of revenue

+ Return on capstal employed (ROCE) at least 7%

= Fleet investments, read more on page 27 onwards
» Norra divestment, read more on page 25 onward:
page 23 s ¥ Positive operational result

« Discontinuing the operations of the NGA frerghter arline
v ROCE 12 2%

+ Hybrid bond 1ssue read more on page 26 onwards

= Adjusted gearing no more than 175%

« Arcraft financing arrangements carmed out in 2015
read more on page 25 onwards

v Adjusted gearing 45 8%

gm== mapes mamecereperav==ge= = x

« To pay on average, at least one-third of the earmings per
share as a dividend during an economic cycle The arms to
also take account of trends and outlooks in the company’s
earmings, financial situation and capital needs for any given
period

The Board proposes that no dividend be distributed for 2015

L

= Arbus A350 enter into service = Fuel consumption / ASK increased by 10 019% compared to 2014
(growth due to changes in traffic structure)

x 0, ermissions / ASK increased by 10 01% compared to 2014
(growth due to changes wn traffic structure)

» Fuel consumption per avatlable seat kilometre (ASK)

will decrease
« Reducing emissions

Read mare i the GRI sectigh

aamsmtasmsmEREstamstAsassiads —mEEssebmen-eman

«  Emassions per avatlable seat kilometre will decrease

* Developing the product, service and network ¥ Overall customer satisfaction 8 1/10
1o better meet customer needs

Read more in the GRI section

« Customer satisfaction

¥ Employee wellbeing survey was reformed in 2015
Qverall personnel expertence 3 65/5

= Management programs and training programs
Read more in the GR] sectton

= Absence rate due to sickness was 4 8% 1n 2015 (4 6% in 2014)

» Decrease In absences due to sickness

B et L L T e P S up
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Key figures

€million
2,500

2,000

1500

1000

500

Operational resuit*

€ milon %

7 L]
11 12 13* 14 15

B % of revenue

** Operatmng result exctuding changes i the far
values of dervates and in the vatue of foreqgn currency
denominated tleet mamtenance reserves non-
recurning items and capital gairs

FINANCE GOVERNANCE
Revenue by product
€ million
2500 72,2845 23240

"2 Passenger revenue change «79% I Ancillary services
W Cargo revenue, change -21% revenue, dhange +32%

I Travel services revenue, W Other revenue
change-3% change -34%

Result before tanes

€ milticn
150

100

50

0

50

100

150

11 12 13* 14 15
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= Comparatrve higures tor 2013 have beenrestated due o thange in accounting principles refated to treatment of gverhauls

Distribution of revenue and costs by
currency In 2015

Distribution of operating expenses
€2,316.0 milHon

% %
100

0 EUR U Fuel 26% H Ground handling & catermg 119%

W usD M Staft costs 15% #l Other costs 10%

n ry M Leasmg, mamtenance I Other rental payments 7%
depreciation & I 5ates and marketin,
impairments 14% - M e ‘ 8%

Xpenses on tour
W Tralfi charges 119%

Capital expenditure and net cash flow Bes aperations 1%

from operations

€ million

350

300

250

200

150

100

11 12 13* 14 15

B Gross investments
M Net cash How trom operations
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Interest hearing liabltities and liquid
funds

€ militan
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100

[ Interest bearng dett
B Leqund funds.

Number of persons employed by Finnair
at year-end

8,000

6,000 —

4,000 —

2000 —

11

FINANCE GOVERNANCE

Return on equity (ROE) and return on
capital employed (ROCE)

%

s

-0 h_

1 12 13* 14 15

{2 Return on equity (RCE)
8 Return on capital empioyed (ROCE)

Number of passengers
million
12
10,294
10 A
8 - -
6 — -
A4 Y
4 — ~
2 — Eme
0 Fe f
14 15
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= Comparatve hgures for 2013 have heearestated due 1o change m accounting prnc ples related to treatment of overhauts.

Equity ratio, gearing and adjusted gearing

%
120

20
40 ...m —
60
11 1z 13* 14 15
5 Equity rato
M Gearmg
B Adjusted gearing

Available seat kilometres (ASK} and
revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)

3 Available seat kitometres (ASK)
H Revenue passenges kilometres (RPK)

Adjusted net debt* composition

€ milhon
1,200
695 708
900 — —_—
600
346 333
) .|—w|~||||lH
0 —i

7 Debt M Cash
B Cap Leases B Adyusted net debt

** Calculatedas LTdebt + ST debt + capitalised operatonal
I {T)-(tash tents « other
financial assets)

Available tonne kilometres (ATK) and
revenue tonne kilometres (RTK)

5000
4,500
4000
3,500
3000
2500
2000
1500
1000

500

] Available tonne kilometres (ATK)
M Revenue tonne kilometres (RTK)
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The Report of the Board of Directors 2015

Business environment

Trafhc continued to grow 1n Finnair's main markets in 2015 Scheduled market capacity between
Helsinkt and Finnarr’s European destinations grew by approximately 4 7 per cent year-on-year, while
direct market capacity between Finnair's Asian and European destinations grew by 2 5 per cent year-
on-year * Finnair's market share was 57 9 per cent (52 4) in European trafficand 4 5 per cent (4 8) 1n
traffic between Europe and Asia **

Passenger demand grew m line with the increased capacity, and unit revenues 1n Finnair's
passenger traffic grew 1n our major operating areas 1n Europe and Asia At the same time, the
development of urut revenue was weaker in North America, where our capacity growth has been
faster * There were 51gns of a recovery in the demand for consumer 2nd bustness travel in all areas
The adjusted supply of packaged travel by tour operators active in Finland for the year 2015 was n
balance with the demand

Cargo trafhc between Asia and Europe suffered from overcapacity throughout the year, which
further weakened average yields and load factors in Finnair’s primary markets for cargo trafhc

The appreciation of the dollar against the euro diluted the advantage gained by airlines from the
substantial decrease in the price of jet fuel that began in autumn 2014 At the same time, 1t signif-
tcantly incrcased other dollar-denominated costs However, several different income currencics
appreciated against the euro, which had a positive effect on Finnair's euro-denomunated revenue
The US dollar 1s a significant expense currency in Finnair's operations, while the Japanese yen and
Chinese yuan are sigmficant income currencies

Strategy implementation

In May, as part of Finnair’s annual strategy work, the Board of Directors approved the company’s
new vision and updated misston, as well as its updated strategic and financial targets Finnair's new
vision 1s to ofter 1ts passengers a umique Nordic expertence, and its mussion 1s to offer the smoothest,
fastest connections m the northern hemisphere via Helsinki, and the best network to the world from
its home markets The company's updated strategic targets are to double Finnair’s Asian traffic by
20290 from the 2010 level, deliver a unigue customer experience, achieve world-class operations and
create shareholder value

Joint businesses
Of Finnair's joint businesses, the Atlantic Joint Business covering flights between Europe and North
America increased 1ts market share 1n the premium segment but, 1n economy class, it suffered

* For the sake of comparability, the higures exclude Finnair's seasonal charter type routes changed into scheduled kraffic m 2014 and 2015
** Thg hgures are Finnair's esbmates The estimates are based on MIDT data collected on the sates volumes of travel agences and Finnarr s
estimates of awdines sales through thew own sales channels, such as websites The basss for calcufabon s destination itres, nol arports
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from intense competition and overcapacity The revenuce of the Siberian Joint Business remained
unchanged as the total traffic capacity between Europe and Japan contracted shightly, which strength-
ened Finnair’s relative market position In summer 2016, Finnair will become the only awrline to offer
non-stop flights from Europe to four major cities in Japan

Significant events during the review period

Norra transaction completed
On 7 January 2015, Finnair, Staffpoint Holding Oy (Staffpoint) and Oy G W Sohlberg Ab (GWS)
stgned a Memorandum of Understanding regarding an arrangement according to which Staffpoint
and GWS would own a combined 60 per cent of Flybe Nordic On 31 March 2015, Finnair acquired
Flybe Group plc's (Flybe UK} 60% ownerstup of Flybe Nordic AB fer a transaction price of one euro,
and Flybe Nordic was transferred to Finnair's ownership on an interim basis The contract flying
agreement with Flybe Fintand was expanded from 1 May 2015 onwards so that all routes previously
operated by Flybe Finland at 1ts own commercial risk were transferred to Finnair's commercial nisk
The name of Flybe Finland was changed to Nordic Regronal Airlines Qy (Norra), and the name of its
parent company Flybe Nordic was changed to Nordic Regional Airhnes AB

In early November, Finnair, Staffpoint and Kilco Oy agreed on an ownershap arrangement to have
60 per cent of the shares of Nordic Regional Airlines AB transferred to Staffpoint and Kilco Oy for
the price of one euro Instead of Oy G W Schlberg Ab (GWS), which was previously involved in the
negotiations, the partner was Kilco Oy The transaction was completed at the end of November The
arrangement did not have a ssignificant financial impact on Finnarr in 2015

Discontinuation of the operations of the cargo airline NGA

Finnair’s associated company Nordic Global Atrhines Ltd (NGA) decided to discontinue NGA's oper-
ations, effective 31 May 2015, for financial reasons Finnair Cargo Oy owned 40 per cent of NGA, and
the other shareholders were Neff Capital Management LLC, Daken Capital Partners LLC and Mutual
Pension Insurance Company Ilmarinen The discontinuation of NGA's operations did not have a
matenal impact on Finnair’s cargo business or Finnair'’s financial position

Investment decislons on a new cargo terminal and wireless connectlvity across the fleet

In March, Finnair announced an investment of approximately 80 million euros ina new cargo
termnal and an investment program of approxtmately 30 milhon euros to bring wireless Internet
connectivity to the majonity of the current wide-body and narrow-body fleet Both investments wall
be allocated over the next few years
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Atreraft sale and leaseback agreements
At the end of March, Finnar finahsed the sale and Jeaseback transactions referred to in the memo-
randums of understanding signed in December 2014 between Finnair and GOAL German Operating
Aircraft Leasing GmbH & Co for the sale and leaseback of three Embraer 190 arrcraft owned by
Finnair and operated by Norra Also in March, Finnair finalised the sale and leaseback transactions
referred to in the memorandum of understanding signed in December 2014 between Finnair and
Doric Asset Finance GmbH & Co for the sale and leaseback of six ATR 72 awrcraft owned by Finnair
and operated by Norra  After the conclusion of the sale and leaseback agreements, Finnair contiued
to sublease the aircraft to Norra The transactions had a non-recurring positive impact of approxi-
mately 40 million euros on Finnair's operating profit for the first quarter 0f 2015

in the fourth quarter of 2015, Finnair concluded a sale and leaseback with GECAS of its first two
Airbus A350 XWB aircraft on their delivery dates, 6 October and 16 December 2015 In September,
Finnarr cstimated that the non-recurning items associated with the renewal of the long-haul fleet will
have a combined positive impact of approximately 70 millten euros in the second half of 2015 The
non-recurring items are related to the sale and leaseback arrangements of two A350 aircraft and the
phasing out of A340 atrcraft from the fleet owned and managed by the company The actual non-re-
curning items were approximately [0 mullion euros hugher than estimated due to the appreciation of
the dollar

In December, Finnair entered mto a Memorandum cof Understanding with GECAS on the sale and
leaseback of two more A350 aircraft to be delivered 1n 2016 and 2017 Calculated at the exchange
rates effective at the turn of the year, the arrangement, including the gain on sale and currency gains
on pre-delivery payments and currency hedges, was estimated to have a positive non-recurring net
impact of approximately 90 muillion euros on Finnair's operating profit ‘The actual financial impact
depends on the euro-dollar exchange rate at the time of delivery of each of the asrcraft The income
will be recognised in connection with each delivery, which, given current dehvery schedutes, will be
reflected 1n the Q3 2016 and Q] 2017 financial statements

Renewal of the feeder fieet
In November, Finnair announced it will increase the capacity of its European feeder traffic by
replacing its small narrow-body arrcraft with larger ones As the first step, Finnair wilk temporarily
damp-lease two A321 narrow-body aircraft for one year starting from May 2016

In December, Finnair announced it will add seating capacity in 2017 to its current Airbus narrow-
body aircraft by modifying sterage and technical space at the front and rear of the aireraft The value
of the investment 15 approximately 40 million euros, and 1t includes 22 narrow-body Airbus aircraft
in Finnair's fleet

Later in December, Finnair announced 1t wll lease four new Airbus A321-200 narrow-body
arrcraft from BOC Aviation in the first half of 2017 for a munmimum term of eight years At the same
tine, Finnatr announced it had agreed on the sale of one ATR turboprop aircraft and two Embraer
E170 regional jet aircraft The transactions have been completed and the aircraft in question have
been removed from Finnair and Norra trathe in January-February 2016
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Issuance of hybrid bond

On 13 October 2015, Finnair 1ssued a 200 milhon euros hybrid bond with a fixed coupon rate of

7 875 per cent per annum The hybrid bond 1s treated as equity in the IFRS consolidated financial
statements The hybrid bond was significantly oversubscribed and allocated to more than 100 imves-
tors In conjunction with the i1ssue of the new hybrid bond Finnarr redeemed and annulled a share of
81 7 million euros of the 120 million euros hybrid bond 1ssued 1n 2012

Sale of facilities at Helsinki Alrport to Finavia

In December, Finnair sold certamn facilities at the Helsink: Awrport to Finavia as part of the develop-
ment of the infrastructure of Helsinki Airport The transactions comprise Finnair's present cargo
terminal to be decommussioned 1n 2017 and an ofhce building currently owned jomntly by Finnasr and
Finavia In addition, the termination of a land lease agreement for one aircraft hangar was advanced
i order to enable Finavia's investments to expand the Helsink: Airport termunal To replace the
hangar, Finnar purchased another hangar from Elo Mutual Pension Insurance Company The trans-
actions enable the development of Helsinki Airport in accordance with Finavia’s and Finnair's growth
plans Thewr combined non-recurring positive impact on Finnair's operating profit in 2015 was
approximately 15 miilion euros

Financial performance in 2015
Revenue in 2015 grew by 1 7 per cent year-on-year to 2,324 0 milhon euros {2,284 5) Revenue was
boosted by higher passenger traffic revenue and negatively affected by a decrease in cargo traffic and
yields as well as the elimination of revenue from businesses sold 1n the companson penod Capacity
measured 1n available seat kilometres (ASK) grew by 3 1 per cent year-on-year

Operational costs excluding fuel increased by 2 5 per cent year-on-year to 1,720 5 million euros
(1,678 8) Fuel costs, including hedging and costs incurred from emussions trading, decreased by 9 8
per cent to 595 5 mullion euros (660 4) Fue! costs were reduced by the dollar-denominated price of
jet fuel dechning by approximately 42 per cent year-on-year, but the posttive impact of this develop-
ment was dampened by the dollar appreciating against the euro by approximately 17 per cent over
the same time peniod Due to Finnair's hedging policy, changes in the price of jet fuel have a delayed
effect on costs

Traffic charges increased to 258 5 million euros (230 9), pnmarily due to the appreciation of the
dollar Personnel costs increased by 2 5 per cent to 353 2 million euros (344 5) Overall, euro-de-
nonunated operational costs decreased by 1 0 per cent from the comparison period, totalling 2,316 0
million euros (2,339 2) Finnair's EBITDAR was 231 2 mullion euros (176 6) The company's opera-
honal result, which refers to the aperating result excluding non-recurring items, capital gains and
changes in the fair value of derivatives and in the value of foreign currency-denominated flect main-
tenance reserves, was 23 7 million euros (-36 5)

‘The change n the fair value of derivatives and in the value of foreign currency denommnated fleet
maintenance reserves amounted to - 12 3 million euros (-43 7) The non-recurring items for January-
December amounted to 110 2 mullion euros (7 7) and primanly consisted of positive items related




STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION  FINANCE GOVERNANCE

to sale and leaseback agreements for A350, ATR and Embraer aurcraft, as well as costs related to the
phasing out of A340 aircraft The operating result was 121 7 million euros {-72 5), the result before
taxes was 113 3 mlhon euros (-99 1) and the resutt after taxes was 89 7 mullion euros (-82 5)

Unit revenue at constant currency (RASK} decreased by 1 0 per cent year-on-year and amounted
to 6 17 euro cents (6 23) Ticket revenue per available seat kilometre in passenger traffic increased
by 3 2 per cent year-on-year and amounted te 5 50 euro cents {5 33} Urut cost excluding fuel at
canstant currency (CASK excl fuel) increased by 0 6 per cent and amounted to 4 52 euro cents
(449)

Balance sheet on 31 December 2015
The Group's balance sheet totalled 2,050 3 mullion euros at the end of the period under review
(1,885 1 muliion euros on 31 December 2014} Shareholders’ equity increased to 727 5 million euros
(514 3), or 5 69 euros per share (4 02) Sharcholders’ equity increased year-on-year, pnmarily due to
the company’s comprehensive income showing a profit, as well as the issuance of a hybrid bond
Shareholders' equity includes a fair value reserve that is affected by changes 1n the fair values of
oil and currency derivatives used for hedging as well as actuarial gains and losses related to pilots’
defined benefit plans according to [AS 19 The value of the itemn at the end of December 2015 was
-67 9 mullion euros (-87 4) after deferred taxes, and it was affected particularly by changes in the
actuanal gains and losses of defined benefit pension plans

Cash flow and financial position
Fianair has a strong financial position, which supports business development and future investments
In January-December 2015, net cash flow from operating actrvities amounted to 171 0 mullion euros
(24 2) The change was mainly due to profit berng higher than in the comparison period, as well as
changes in workung capital Net cash flow from investments amounted to 78 6 mullion euros (14 4) and
was affected by the finalisation of sale and leaseback agreements for nine aircraft in the first quarter,
and particularly by the finahisation of sale and leaseback agreements for two new A350 aircraft m the
fourth quarter By comparison, sale and leaseback agreements were finalised for four A330 arcraft in
the corresponding pertod in the previous year After the end of the review peniod, Finnair secured a
financing arrangement of approximately 135 million euros for its latest A350 aircraft. A further two
similar financing arvangements are being prepared

‘The cquity ratio was 35 5 per cent (27 3) and gearing was negative at -49 8 per cent {0.3) The
adjusted gearing was 45 8 per cent (107 5} At the end of December, interest-bearing debt amounted to
346 3 mullion euros (427 6) and interest-bearing net debt was negative at -362 0 mullion euros (1 4)

The company’s liquidity remained strong in the review period The Group's cash funds amounted
to 708 2 ruflion euros (426 1) at the end of December In addition to the cash funds on the balance
sheet, the Group has the option of re-borrowing employment pension fund reserves worth approx-
imately 430 million euros from its employment pension insurance company Using these reserves
requires a bank guarantee Finnair has an entirely unused 180-million-euro synd:icated crecht agree-
ment, which was intended as reserve funding and matures at the end of July 2016

Advance payments related to fixed asset investments were 77 5 mithon euros (66 4)
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Finnair has a 200-nulhon-euro short-term commercial paper program, which was unused at the
end of the year Net cash flow from financing amounted to 18 1 mullion curos {-180 3) Financial
expenses were 9 7 milhon euros (26 9) and financial income stood at 1 3 million euros (3 5)

Capital expendlture
In 2015, capital expenditure excluding advance payments totalled 329 7 nullion euros (82 4) and
was primanily related to the fleet and engine improvements The amount also includes the two A350
arrcraft that were sold and leased back 1n 2015 Cash flow from commutted investments for the full
year 2016, including advance payments, 1s estimated at approximately 420 milhon euros, with invest-
ments in the fleet representing a majority of this total Net investments will be approximately 220
milhion euros, taking currency hedges mto account and provided that all awrcraft sale as well as sale-
and-leaseback agreements disclosed to-date are finalised as planned

Cash flow from commutted ivestments for the full year 2017 15 estimated at approximately 325
mulion euros, or 60 million net, taking currency hedges into account and provided that all awrcraft
sale as well as sale-and-leaseback agreements disclosed to-date are finalised as planned

Finnair will add seating capacity to its current Airbus narrow-body aircraft in 2017 by mods-
fying storage and technical space at the front and rear of the aircraft The value of the investment 15
approximately 40 milhon euros, and it includes 22 narrow-body Airbus aircraft in Finnair’s fleet

In addition to mvestments in the fleet, in March Finnair announced an investment of approxs-
mately 8¢ rmilion euros in a new cargo terminal and an investment program of approximately 30
rmullion euros to bring wireless Internet connectivity to the majority of the current wide-body and
narrow-body fleet Both investments will be allocated over the next few years

The current favourable state of the credit market and Finnair's good debt capacity enable the
financing of future fixed-asset investments on competitive terms  The company has 30 unencum-
bered aircraft, the balance sheet value of which corresponds to approximately 66 per cent of the value
of the entire fleet of 0 7 billion euros The balance sheet value includes three finance lease asrcraft

Fleet

Fleet operated by Finnair
Finnarr’s flect 1s managed by Finnarr Asrcraft Finance Oy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finnair Ple
At the end of 2015, Finnair itself operated 46 aircraft, of which 16 are wide-body and 30 are narrow-
body arcraft Of the aircraft, 23 are owned by Finnair, 20 are leased and 3 are on finance lease

In 2015, Finnair gave up two A340 wide-body aircraft and took delivery of three new A350-900
XWB wide-body aircraft Two of the new aircraft were sold immediately to GECAS pursuant to
sale and leaseback agreements, while the third was iitially funded by cash untd it was financed in
January 2016 using a Japanese Operating Lease with a Call Option (JOLCO) structure, where the
transaction amount 15 treated in Finnair’s [FRS financial statements as a loan and the aircraft as
owned

The average age of the fleet operated by Finnair was 10 1 years at the end of December 2015
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Fleet operated by Finnair on 31 Dec 2015
Leased
Change A‘o__maw o Average
from tional (Finance age
Seats # 310ec20i4 Own leasing) leasing) 31 Dec 2015  Ordered
Narrow-bady fleet
Arrbus A319 38 9 7 2 T T T e T
mrbusA320 165 10 & a 134
altbusA32L 9% 1 4 7 91
Wide-body flest T T -
arbusA3¥0 2863 8 o 5 3 62
ArbusA340 2637257 5 B! s 107
abusA3s0 297 3 3 1 z 01 16
Total " ST N D 0.1 16

* Finnair's Air Operator Certificate (ADC)

Renewal of the long-haul fleet
Finnair has ordered a total of 19 Airbus A350 XWB aircraft from Airbus, three of which were dehv-
ered 1n 2015 As the entry into service of new aircraft involves airhine-specific preparations and
comprehensive inspections, there may be slight changes to the announced tentative delivery dates
According to the current delivery schedule, Finnair will have five A350 asrcraft withun the first half
of 2016, seven by the end 0f 2016, 11 by the end of 2017, and 19 by the end 0f 2023 The invest-
ment commitments for property, plant and equipment, totalling 1,818 nullton euras, include the
upcoming investments in the long-haul fleet

Finnair plans to phase out its A340 awrcraft by the end of 2017, following the successful delivery
and entry into service of the A350 XWB aircraft Finnair has agreed to sell the oldest A340-300
arrcraft it owns for part-out in the first half of 2016, and to sell its remaining four Airbus A340-300
arrcraft back to Airbus 1n 2016 and 2017 The agreement between Finnair and Asrbus ensures a
smooth transitton from A340s to A350s, mitigating potential operational risks related to fleet
renewal and the impairment risk associated with the A340 atrcraft Finnair has the possibility to
adjust the size of sts fleet flexibly according to demand and outlook due to its lease agreements of
different durations

Fleet operated by Norra (purchased traffic)

Nordic Regtonal Airlines {(Norra) operates a fleet of 26 aircraft for Finnair on a contract flying basis
Of the aircraft operated by Norra, 13 are owned by Finnair and another 13 are leased. Of the aircraft
listed below, one ATR turboprop aircraft and two Embraer E170 tegional pet arrcraft will be sold

in the first quarter of 2016 pursuant to agreements that have already been signed In addition to

the aircraft shown in the table, Finnair has subleased four E170 aircraft to AS Estonian Air Their
planned return to the lessors in late 2015 was delayed after Estonian Air entered into hquidation in
autumn 2015 and was declared bankrupt on 29 December 2015
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Flzet aperated by Norra on 31 Dec 2015*

Change Alrcraft Leased™* Average
from owned by (Operational age
Seats # 31 Dec 2014 Finnair leasing) 31 Dec 2015 Ordered
ATR 72 £8-72 12 6 ] 64
Embraer 170 T6 2 2 938
Embraer 190 100 12 5 7 75
Total 26 [} 13 13 7.2 0

* Nordrc Regional Arrbines Oy s A Qperator Certificate (AOC)
** Finnair has leased these arcraft and subleased them to Nordic Regional Airines

Business area development In 2015
The segment reporting of Finnair Group's financial statements 1s based on business areas The
reporting busmmess areas are Aishine Business and Travel Services

Alrilne Business

This business area ts responsible for scheduled passenger and charter traffic as well as cargo sales,
customer service and service concepts, flight operations and activity connected with the procure-
ment and hnancung of aircraft The Airline Busmess segment comprises the Commeraial, Opera-
tions and Resources Management functions as well as the subsidiaries Finnair Cargo Oy, Finnair
Flight Academy Oy and Finnair Aircraft Finance Oy The segment also includes arrcraft maintenance,
Finnair Travel Retail Oy and Finnair's property holdings, office services and the management and
maintenance of properties related to the company’s operational activities

Key figures 2015 2014 Change %
Revenue and result

Revenue EUR million - 22057 dﬂ T n|||m|m.
Operational result EUR mullton 171 - - 435 ; I > Mmom;
QOperating result EBIT EUR millwon 1134 R IM;‘! ST T moom.uu
) .omm:immam result % of revenue ) 51 36 > 200%
‘Personnel -7

Average numher of employees 4002 4232 54




STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION FINANCE GOVERNANCE

Traffic __ﬂ_.qaﬁ_.—.uanﬂ 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Passengers thousands N 10 294 9630 9 269 8774 8013
avaltable seat kitometres millions T s 30889 31162 30 366 29345
Revenue passenger kilometres milhons 25 992 247712 24776 23563 21498
Passenger Load Faclor %% 804 802 95 ) 176 733
“Cargo and mall tonnes 130 657 149 141 146 654 148132 145 883
“pvailable tonne kigmetres milions 1633 4644 4709 1647 4571
Revenue tonne kilometres millions C o 3om 3130 3107 3029 2824
Jevenue lonne kilometres m .

Overall Load Factor 665 674 660 652 618

The revenue of Airline Business tn 2015 increased 1 8 per cent from the previous year and amounted
to 2,205 7 million curos (2,167 7) Revenue was boosted by improved ticket and ancillary service
sales and decreased particutarly by the discontinuation of NGA's cargo traffic operations and the
general decline of cargo revenue Revenue from passenger traffic constituted approximately 82 per
cent of the segment’s revenue, while ancillary revenue constituted shightly over 5 per cent, cargo
revenue approximately 9 per cent, and other revenue shightly less than 4 per cent The segment’s
operational result was 17 1 oullion euros (-43 5)

Revenue from passenger traffic in 2015 tncreased from the previous year, and profitability
improved due to factors including hugher ancillary revenue and the favourable development of the
exchange rates of mcome currencies Ticket revenue per available seat kilometre in passenger traffic
increased by 3 2 per cent overall Ancillary service revenue per passenger grew by 23 7 per cent year-
on-year to 10 16 euros per passenger

Capacity measured 1n available seat kilometres decreased by 2 0 per cent year-on-year in Asian
traffic The reasons for the decrease included cabin configuration changes to wide-body aircraft
that reduced the number of seats and improved travel comfort At the same time, capacity in North
American traffic increased by as much as 26 2 per cent due to Finnatr operating flights late in the
year to Chicago, Toronte and Miami, 1n addition to New York, in a change from the previous year

In addition to the introduction of new routes, the 5 3 per cent growth in capacity in European
traffic was attributable to flights that were previously operated as leisure flights now being operated
as scheduled fhights, as well as flights that were previously operated by Norra at its own risk being
transferred to Finnair in the second quarter Domestic capacity increased by 10 6 per cent as routes
that were previously operated by Norra at its own risk were transferred to Finnarr

Total passenger trathc capacity grew by 3 1 per cent and revenue passenger kilometres increased
by 3 3 per cent. Revenue passenger kilometres increased (n all traffic areas except Asia, where they
declined slightly The overall passenger load factor increased by 0 2 percentage points year-on-year,
to 80 4 per cent

Cargo traffic revenue decreased substantially year-on-year, but profitability was largely unchanged
from the previous year Cargo traffic during the review period consisted premarily of belly cargo
on scheduled flights after Finnair discontinied its own separate freighter flights to Asia at the end
of 2014 In addition, Finnair Cargo sells and manages JAL Cargo's capacity on the Helsinki-Tokyo
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(Narita) route and leases freighter capacity for flights between its hubs, namely Helsinki and Brussels
and Helsinki and London, n partnershup with TAG Cargo

Available cargo tonne kilometres decreased by 2 8 per centin 2015 Belly cargo capacity grew
in all traffic areas, but overall capacity declined due to a significant decrease in dedicated freighter
traffic compared to 2014, when Finnarr still operated its own freighter trafhc to Asia Capacity was
reduced by the discontinuation of fresghter flights to Hong Kong in December 2014 and tncreased by
the growth of wide-body traffic and leisure flights being changed to scheduled flights, which means
that the routes are included in cargo capacity Revenue cargo tonne kilometres in Finnair's scheduled
traffic decreased by O ! per cent year-on-year in spite of a capacity increase of 11 2 per cent More
than 70 per cent of the cargo tonnes carried are flown in Asian traffic, followed by Europe (19%),
North America (7%) and dumestic fhights in Finland (2%)

Alr traffic services and products

Route network and alliances
Finnair offers connections between Asia and Europe with over 200 route pairs and alse operates more
than 800 flights weekly from Helsinks to other Finnish and European destinations The number of flights
to Asia per week was at most 75 tn the summer season 2015, and 78 in the winter season 2015/2016

Finnair 1s part of the oneworld alhance and 1t also engages in closer cooperation with certain
oneworld partners through parttcipation in joint businesses, namely the Siberian Joint Business and
Atlantic Joint Business, which are agreements on revenue sharing and price coordination for flights
to the route areas in questicn

As of the second quarter 2015, Mlights that were previously operated by Norra at its own commer-
cat nisk now count as Finnasr flights Thes increased Finnair's number of destinations by eight Funnair
also launched new routes to Gdansk, Luled and Umed These routes are also operated by Norra In the
summer season 2015, Finnawr launched new seasonal routes to Athens, Dublin, Malta, Sphit and Chicago

In addition, Finnair expanded 1ts codeshares in Europe with its oneworld partner airberlin
starting from the beginning of May, as well as in Asia and Austraha with Japan Airlines and Qantas

In August, Finnair announced new scheduled flight destinations for the summer season 2016 from
Helsinki (Edinburgh, Billund, Svalbard, Pula, Zakynthos, Skiathos, Santoniny, Mytilene, Preveza,
Rimuni, Verona and Varna) as well as weekly flights from Oulu to Hania and Alanya In long-haul
trafhic, Finnair announced the launch of Miami as a year-round destination as well as tncreased
connections to Chicago during the summer Finnair will also introduce new Asian destinations in
the summer season, with three weekly flights to Fukuoka and four to Guangzhou

Finnair's cargo airhine Finnair Cargo expanded its route network in September by signing a partner-
ship agreement with IAG Cargo The two companies share the capacity of a freighter operated twice a
week between London and Helsink, which makes London Finnair Carge's third European cargo hub
in addition to Helsinks and Brussels The new cargo connection combines the cargo flight networks
of Finnair and IAG Cargo, allowing Finnair to introduce tens of new cargo destinations in North
Amenca The freighter operates between Helsinki and London on Wednesdays and Saturdays, and
Finnair operates a wide-body aircraft on the London route on Mondays, Fridays and Sundays
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Awards
In January, FhightStats named Finnair the most punctual European airline in 2014 The oneworld
alhance was recognised as the most punctual airhne alliance in the same survey

In June, the World Airhne Awards chose Finnair as the best airline in Northern Europe for the
sixth consecutive time The award s based on an independent Skytrax survey of some 18 million
travellers from more than 160 countries In the same survey, the oneworld alliance was named Best
Airhne Alliance for the third consecutive year

The cabin design of Finnair's Airbus A350 XWB aircraft won first prize in the Commercial Avia-
tron - Economy/Business Class category at the International Yacht & Aviation Awards 2015

In November, Finnair was identified as a Nordic leader for the quality of cimate change related
information that «t has disclosed to mnvestors and the global marketplace by CDPE, the mternational
not-for-profit that drives sustainable economues Finnair was also awarded a position on the Nordic
Disclosure Leadership Index with a score of 99/100 1n 2015

Travel Services (Tour Operators and Travel Agencies)

This business area consists of the tour operator Aurinkomatkat (Suntours), its subsidiary operating
1n Estonia, the business travel agency SMT (and, until 27 December 2015, its Estonian subsidiary
Estravel), as well as Amadeus Finland, which produces travel sectar information systems and salu-
tions Aurmnkomatkat Suntours serves leisure travellers, offering package tours designed for various
travel motivations and customer segments

Key figures 2015 2014 Change %
Revenue and result
Revenue EUR miflon i - 2081 2167 40
Operational result EUR million - 7 1@ 7 5o
Operating result EBIT, EUR milhon ) 33 Tt T Iﬂ T ) 39 wn
Operating resull % of revenue ' 40 T, T a5
Personnel ’ - T T
H.\rmamm number of employees ) ‘567 645 121

The revenue of Travel Services in 2015 decreased by 4 0 per cont from the previous year and
amounted to 208 1 mullion euros (216 7) At the same time, the segment’s operational result
improved due to factors including SMT's sales growth and excellent profitability, although the
segment’s operational result declined shightly, to 6 7 millton euros (7 0) On 29 December 2015, SMT
sold its stake (71 3%) 1n Estravel, its subsidiary operating in the Baltic countries, to its Estoruan busi-
ness partner The Group recorded a gain of two miilion euros on the sale Estravel had a personnel of
168 employees

The performance improvement program of Aurinkomatkat Suntours progressed ahead of
schedule Previously implemented improvements related to sales steering and product renewal
resulted in the load factor for package tours remamming high (97%), particularly late in the year, and
higher average prices than in the companison period
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Changes in senior management
Pekka Vahihyyppa (M Sc Econ, eMBA), Finnair's Chief Financial Officer and member of the Exec-

utive Board, joined the company on 17 August 2015 Mika Stirkkinen, Vice President, Group
Treasury, acted as interim CFO from the beginning of May until 17 August

Personnel

Finnair employed an average of 4,906 (5,172) people 1n 2015, which ts 5 1 per cent fewer than in
the comparnison period The Aicline Business segment employed an average of 4,002 (4,232) people
Travel Services employed an average of 567 (645) people and other functions 337 (295) people The
number of employees 1n an employment relattonship was 4,817 (4,981) on 31 December 2015

Amendment of Finnish employee pension legislation
In November 2015, the Finmsh Parlrament passed an amendment to Finmsh employee pension
legislation, which inter alia mncreases employees’ statutory retirement age Finnair 1ssued a stock
exchange release on the potential financial effect of the amendment on 24 September 2015 :n
connection with the issue of a hybnd bond

The Board of Directors of Finnair Pension Fund has made a deaision in principle that amendments
to pension legislation are incorporated in the rules of the fund so that the obligations of the fund will
not change due to any changes in employee pension legislation

Finnair pilots’ pension benehts, which exceed the existing statutory pension benefits in Finland,
form part of their collective labour agreement Finnair considers that the habihties related to the
pilots’ penston benefits will not increase or change as a result of the legislative amendment Finnair
has obtained a legat opinton on the matter

Finnair has not recogmised a supplementary obligation due to the amendment of the employee
pension legislation

shares and sharcholders

Shares and share capital

On 31 December 2015, the number of Finnair shares entered 1n the Trade Register was 128,136,115
and the registered share capital was 75,442,904 30 curos The company’s shares are quoted on
NASDAQ Helsinki Each share confers one vote at the General Meeting

Government ownership

At the end of 2015, the Finmish Government owned 55 8 per cent of Finnair's shares and votes
According to the decision made by the Finnish Parliament on 20 June 1994, the Government must
own more than half of Finnair Plc's shares, and decreasing ownership below this level i1s subject toa
Parliament decision
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Share ownership by management

On 31 December 2015, members of the company’s Board of Directors did not own any Finnair
shares, and the CEQ owned 64,675 shares Members of the Executive Board, including the CEO,
owned a total of 223,859 shares, representing 0 17 per cent of all shares and votes

Own shares

Finnair did not acquire its own shares in 2015 In the first quarter, the number of shares held by
Finnair ncreased by 14,893 shares that were returned to Finnair pursuant to the rules of the compa-
ny’s performance share plan for 2010-2012 In the fourth quarter, the company transferred 1,780 of
its own shares as incentive bonuses to members of the FlyShare employee share savings plan The
Board of Directors decided on the transfer of shares in accordance with the employee share savings
plan and based on the authonsation granted by Finnair'’s Annual General Meeting 2015 On 31
December 2015, Finnair held a total of 325,205 of its own shares (312,092), representing 0 25 per
cent of the total share caprtal

Flagging notifications
No flagging notices were tssued in 2015

Acquisition and delivery of own shares and returns of shares

Acqguisition value,
Period Number of shares EUR Average price, EUR
2004 422 800 2 275,666 49 538
2005 37800 209838 54 555
2005 T © isoeo0 | 151668000 w011
2006 ’ BETY Y 205684788 537
007 I T o
2008 T ) 235526 T153895635 653
2009 o 000 0
2010 22758 11471952 504
2011 o 000 000
2012 ¢ 000 Q00
2013 600,000 168465010 281
2013 731019 4055 744 86 7T 55
018 T TTT T T Tismea | sseolzz 253
2014 i 9a0 233440 248
2015 14893 3173440 253
2015 1780 676400 380
31 Dec 2015 325,205 922,678.40 2.84
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Finnair Mc largest shareholders as at 31 Dec 2015 Number of shares % Changes 2015
1 State of Finland Othice Couns Qf State 71515426 558 Q
ke C € 200 875 48 50000
"3 Hmarinen Mutual E:«.rm Insurange mm.aum_._,._ B 3675564 29 4]
"4 varma Mutual Pension Insurance nosn_umé T h 3354002 26 935000
5 Kyostild Hewkki 2870000 22 1540000
6 TFiviste-Group Oy 2 450000 - Itwo T Iloi
7 State Pension Fund 2 100000 16 T T
8 Nordea Funds 1584784 12 1560133
9 0P Funds 1431600 11 20483l
IS .dum_?ﬂuma_pc‘s _aﬁat:;nm Company ) 1250000 10 o]
11 Etralwestoy 1 000000 08 o
12 Fwnar elcStaffFond 759000 06 -151000
13 molabrkw 750,000 06 750000
14 Taalentehdas Funds 600000 05 300000
15 Norvestia Plc 423394 03 26 357
Nominee regstered 11177265 87 1753 828
“others -7 16 994 205 T o133
Total 7 ) 128,136,115 1000
Number of Number of
Breakdown of shares at 31 Dec 2015 shares % shareholders %
1-200 663 418 05 7276 471
201-1 000 2950724 23 5504 356
1001-10000 6659516 52 245 " 158
10 901-100 000 2632874 36 186 12
100 001-1 009 0CO B 7243692 57 19 01
“Too0 00k I YL 72T S 740 9 01
“Registered in the name of nommee 11177265 87 12 0l
Not converted into the book entry system 18 656 o] - .
Total 128,136,115 1000 15,441 1000
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Shareholders by type at Nutmber of Number of
31 De¢ 2015 shares % shareholders %
Public bodies 88,640 706 692 12 01
Households 16979 790 133 T 142 963
Private companies " 6156498 48 a2 29
Financial mstitutions 4037782 32w T ool
“Assocations T 905 602 07 35 02
" "Finnrsh shareholders total 116720378 911 15380 996
zmmmsqna In the name of a norsnee 11,172,265 87 12 01
“outside Fintand T 219816 0z ) 03

Nominee registered and foreign 11 397081 a7 61 - T oa

shareholders, total
Not converted 1nto the book entry system 18 656 Q0 o T )
Total 128,136,115 100 15841 100.0

Shareholding by number of shares cwned

%

~ 1-2000 5%

N 201-1,0002 3%

Il 1001-10 0005 2%

W 10 001-100 0CC 3 6%

B 100 001-1 600 0005 9%

W 1000 001- 74%

[ Regrstered in the name of the nominee 8 7%
@ Not converted mto the book entry system 0%

Shareholding by type

%

™ pubix bodtes 69 2%

B Households 13 3%

W Fmnancial msttutions 3 2%
B Private compantes 4 8%
W Assoriations O 7%

W Regstered in the name of
anominee 8 7%

B Qutside Finland 0 2%

B Not converted inta the
book entry system 0 0%
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Shareholder agreements
Finnair 15 not aware of any sharcholder agreements pertatrung to share ownership or the use of
voting nghts

change of control provisions in material agreements

Some of Finnair’s financing agreements include a change of control clause under which the finan-
crer shall be entitled to request prepayment of the existing loan or to cancel the avallability of a loan
facility in the event that a person other than the State of Finland acquires control of Finnair either
through a majority of the voting nights or otherwise

Share-based incentive schemes

Employee share savings plan FlyShare

In February, Finnair’s Board of Directors decided to launch a new 12-month savings period under
the FlyShare Employee Share Plan The objective of the plan established 1n 2013 15 to encourage the
employees to become shareholders in the company, and thereby strengthen the employees’ interest
in the development of Finnair'’s shareholder value and to reward them over the long-term Approx-
imately 700 Finnair employees, or 16 per cent of those invited, participated 1n the third phase of the
planm 2015 The share savings plan is described in more detail in Finnair's Remuneratton Statement
and on the company's website Previously concluded share-based plans are described in Finnair's
Remuneratton Statement and on the company’s website

Share price development and trading

At the end of December 2015, Finnair's market value stood at 694 5 mullion euros {317 8), and the
closing price of the share was 5 42 euros (2 48) During 2015, the highest price for the Finnair share
on the Nasdaq Helsinki Stock Exchange was 5 50 euros (3 01), the lowest price 2 49 euros (2 30) and
the average price 3 54 euros (2 32) Some 25 5 million (10 8) of the company's shares, wath a total
valuc 0of 90 1 muhon curos {25 0), were traded The number of shares recorded in Finnair’s Trade
Register entry was 128,136,115 at the end of the period The Finnish state owned 55 8 per cent

(55 8} of Finnair’s shares, while 8 9 per cent (7 6) were held by foreign investors or in the name of a
nominee
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Finnair share 2011-2015

EUR

11 12 13 14 15

M Average price

Number of shares and share prices 2015

FINANCE GOVERNANCE
Comparison European Alriines
200
150
100 -A )
s PR [——— — e —
0

11 12 13 14 15

B Finnalr
I European Avlines

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Average number of shares
adjusted tor share s5ue

Average number of shares
adjusted for share 1ssue
(with diluted eftect)

The number of shares
adsted for share rssue at
the end of financial year

The number of shares
adjusted for share 1ssue at
the eng of fimancial year
(with diluted eflect)

‘Number of shares, end of the

i

pes 128136115 128136115 128136115

pcs 128136113 128136115 _mm.mwm:.m

pes 128136115 128136115 128136115

128136115 128136115 128136115

128,136115 128136115 128136115

128.136 115 128136115 128136115

pcs 128136115 128136115 128 136115 128136115 128136115 128136115

financial year pcs 128136115 128136115 128,136 Sm‘ FNW._WQ 115 128136 =m|~|~|m 136 Zmi
Trading price highest _ ER 550 a1 ) 325 264 537 572
“trading price lowest EUR 249 23 40 167 230 361
Market value of share capatal
Dec 31 EUR mill 495 318 355 305 295 646
No of shares traded prs 25456779 10750318 26024070 19 oom.no.mlu 21422076 27299521
No of shares traded as % of
1987 839 Nla 31 1535 1672 N_lu—l

average no of shares %
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Comparison Nasdaq Helsinkl

100

11 12 13 14 15

B Finnair
W OMX Helsnki
B OMX Hetsinki benchmark

Dividend policy and the Board's proposal for the distribution of profit
The aim of Finnair’s dwidend policy 1s to pay, on average, at least one-third of the earnings per share
as a dividend during an economic cycle The aim 1s to take into account the company’s earnings trend
and outlook, financial sttuation and capital needs in the distribution of dividends In 2015, earnings
per share from the result of the period (before hybrid bond interest) was 0 70 (-0 65) euros, and earn-
ings per share was 0 57 (-0 71) euros

Finnair Pic's distnbutable equity amounted to 181,101,862 30 euras on 31 December 2015 The
Board of Birectors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be distributed for 2015

Corporate responsibility
Financial, social and environmental sustainability 1s integral to Finnair's overall business strategy and
operations Finnair wants to be a responsible global citizen and respond to its stakeholders’ needs,
also from the perspective of responsibiity Finnair 1s cooperating with industry operators and the
authonities in areas such as reducing the chimate impacts of aviation

Finnair's target 15 to reduce its CO2 emussions by 20 per cent per revenue tonne kilometre from the 2009
level by 2017 The shared objective of the aviation industry is carbon neutral growth from 2020 onwards
The new A350 XWB wide-body aircraft that joined the Finnarr fleet in the autumn take not only travel
comfort but also energy efficiency to a new level, as their fuel consumption and carbon dioxide emissions
per seat are a quarter lower than those of the A340 wide-body aircraft being replaced As a result, the new
awrcraft will significantly reduce the carbon dioxide emissions ansing from Finnair trafhe
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Job satisfaction among Finnatr’s personnel was evaluated i 2015 by a new employee survey, We
Together @ Finnair The employee experience score, which 15 the average score for all of the statements
in the survey, was 3 63/5 and the employee commitment score was 3 85/3 The results of the survey
have been discussed at the company level as well as at the unit and team levels At the company level,
Finnair’s focus areas in 2016 include the development of welibeing at work and leadership

Finnair's own operattons do not directly involve significant human nghts nsks or impacts
However, indirect nsks and impacts may occur 1n relation to the supply chain and outsourced oper-
ations In order to improve the mon:toring of its own operations and those of its entire supply chain,
Finnarr launched a project in 2015 to develop methods to assess the realisation of social respon-
sibility and human rnights and related risk assessment In conjunchion with this, Finnair joined the
SEDEX cooperation agreement concernung supply chain auditing tools as part of the oneworld alh-
ance [n 2015-2016, Finnair is also participating 1n a joint project of travel industry operators and
UNICEF to examine the status of children’s nghts within travel service production chains The pilot
phase of the project was carried out in Vietnam, and the findings of the project will be utilised in
other destinations in the future

A comprchensive revision of Finnair's Code of Conduct is scheduled to be completed in the first half
of 2016 As part of the renewal, an internal whistleblowing channel was established in autumn 2015

Key performance indicators for corporate responsibility are described above on page 21

Reporting

Finnair has reported on environmental sustainabtlity since 1997, and 1n 2008 became one of the first
airlines to report according to GRI guidelines The Global Reporting Initiative, formed wath the support
of the Umted Nations Environment Program, 1s the mast widely recogmised mternational authonty on
sustainability reporting Finnair's Annual Report for 2015, including the GRI section to be published at
the end of February 2016, covers the financial, economuc, social and environmental performance of the
Finnair Group tn accordance with the new GRI G4 framewaork, and 1t seeks to wdentify and explain the
strategic business ramifications of this performance Finnair wall also report on its UN Global Compact
targets as part of the report.

significant near-term risks and uncertainties
Aviation 15 an industry that 15 globally sensitrve to econonuc cycles and reacts quickly to external
disruptions, seasonal vanation and economuc fluctuations In the implementation of strategy, Finnair
and its operatrons involve vanous risks and opportunities Finnair has implemented a comprehen-
stve risk management process to ensure that risks are identified and mitigated as much as pessible,
although many risks are not within the comnpany’s full control To exploit value creation apportunities,
Finnair 1s also prepared to take and manage risks within the hmuts of its nsk-beartng capacity

‘The nisks and uncertainties descnbed below are considered to potentially have a significant impact
on Finnair's busimess, financial result and future outlook withun the next 12 months Thus list 15 not
intended to be exhaustive
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Exceptional variation in fuel price and the potential of the recent decrease in fuel price to be
passed on to flight ticket prices or lead to an increase in capacity in Finnair’s mam markets as well
as sudden, adverse changes in currency exchange rates constitute a nisk for Finnair’s revenue devel-
opment The reduction in the demand for passenger or cargo tHlights due to slowing or non-existent
economic growth in Finnair's main markets also constitutes a risk for Finnair'’s revenue develop-
ment

Potential capacity increases and product improvements among Finnair's existing or new competi-
tors may have an impact on the demand for Finnair's services in additien, joint operations invelving
closer cooperation than airline alhances, and jomnt businesses, are expected to develop further

I'he achievement of the strategic advantages and cost reductions sought through Franair's part-
nershup and outsourcing projects involves risks For example, quality or availabihty 1ssues and/or
unexpected additional costs of partnerships and suppliers can have a negative effect on Finnair'’s
product, reputation and profitabihty

The use of the next-generation Airbus A350 XWB aircraft involves risks associated with new tech-
nology and roll-out processes In addition, the implementation of Finnair’s strategy includes signifi-
cant operating and internal changes, which involve nsks

The aviation industry 1s affected by a number of regulatory projects at the EU and international
levels Estimating the impacts of the regutatory changes on airlines’ operational activities and/or
costs in advance 1s difficult Examples of such regulatory projects include international regulation
related to emission trading, noise regulation and other environmental regulation, EU regulations on
privacy protection and the decision made by the Court of Justice of the European Union in October
2012 regarding flight passengers' nights In additton, regulations on the reporting of non-financial
information (responsibility) and other stakeholder requirements have increased substantially

Geopohtical uncertainty and other potential external disruptions may, if materiahised, significantly
affect Finnair’s operations

Finnair's risk management and risks related to the company's operations are described in more
detail on the company's website at www finnairgroup com

Seasonal variation and sensitivities in business operations
Due to the seasonal variation of the airline business, the Group's revenue and profit are generalty
very much at their lowest in the first quarter and at thewr hughest in the third quarter of the year The
growing proportional share of Asian traffic increases seasonal fluctuation due to destination-specaific
seasons 1n Asian leisure and business travel

In addition to operational activities, fuel price development has a key impact on Finnair's result,
as fucl costs arc the company’s most significant expense item  Finnair'’s foreign exchanpe risk arises
primartly from fuel and aircraft purchases, aircraft leasing payments and sales revenue denominated
in foreign currencies Significant dollar-denominated expense items are arrcraft leasing payments
and fuel costs as well as traffic charges The largest investments, namely the acquisition of aircraft
and therr spare parts, are also mainly denominated in US dollars ‘The most significant income
currencies after the euro are the Japanese yen, the Chinese yuan and the Swedish crown
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The company protects itself again
using different derivative instrumen

st the risks of currency, interest rate and jet fuel posiions by
ts, such as forward contracts, swaps and options, according

to the nsk management policy verified by the Board of Directors Fuel purchases are hedged for
24 months forward on a rolling basis, and the degree of hedging decreases towards the end of the
hedping period The higher and lower limuts of the degree of hedgung are 90 and 60 per cent for the

following six months

Senslitivities in business operatlons

(relling 12 months from date of financial statements) 1 percentage point change
Passenger load factor (PLF} EUR 21 mill
Average yield of passenger {rathic EUR 19 mufl
e + - %
Unit cosl in passenger tratfic (CASK ex tuel EUR 16 mul
Hedging ratio
10% change,
10% change taking
Fuel sensitivities (rolling 12 months from without hedging into
date of financial statements) hedging account H1 2016 H2 2016
Fuel EUR 32 mul EUR 14 mull 68% 53%
Hedging ratio
Currency sensitivities USD and JPY  {rofling 12 months
Currency distribution (rollmg 12 manths from date of trom date of hinangial
% 2015 2014 finanodl statements) statements)
10% change
Sales currencies &wﬂamwﬂﬁw_ 0g taking hadgng
nto account
—_— b —— P,
EUR % 58 - - .
usp* 3 3 seebelow  seebelow seebelow ,
Y 8 9 EUR 18 mul EUR o mulf 67%
e — il — N
CNY 7 7 -
C— - ey
KRW 3 3 - - . .
e’ s 5 ———
Other 15 15 -
2 e . _ .
purchase currencles ) )
EUR 5 st .
usp* 40 4 EURSEm#l  EUR10mil 8%
o»z_ﬁ 7 7

* The sensitaty analyss assumes that the Chinese yuan and the Hong Kong doflar continue to correlate strongty with the us deltar
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Events after the review period

Finnair secured financing for its third A350 afrcraft

In January, Finnair secured financing arranged by BNP Paribas for the full market value of ats thied
Arrbus A350-900 XWB aircraft, whiach was delivered on 30 December 2015 The transaction amounts
to approximately 135 milhon euros and i1t was implemented using a Japanese Operating Lease with a
Call Option (JOLCO) structure, where the transaction amount 1s treated in Finnair's IFRS financial
statements as a loan and the aircraft as owned

Outlook
Despite of the demand outlook for passenger and cargo traffic in Finnair’s mam markets involving
renewed uncerta:nty, Finnair estimates that, in 2016, its capacity and revenue will grow

The lower price of jet fuel supports Finnair's financial performance in 2016 In accordance with its
disclosure palicy, Finnair will 1ssue gumidance for its expected full-year operational result in connec-
tion with the January-June interim report

FINNAIR PLC
Board of Directors
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Financial indicators 2011-2015
INCOME STATEMENT . 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 CASH FLOW uo.ulm}r 2014 2013 2012 2011
Revenue EUR mill 2324 2284 2400 2449 2258 Qperational cash fiow EUR mill @ 24 142 155 51
change % 17 -48 20 85 116 n relatan to revenue % 74 11 56 63 22
Operational resuft EUR mill 24 36 12 a4 €1
__In relation to fevenue % 10 16 05 13 27 PERSONNEL 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Operating result EUR mill : 122 72 8 34 -88 Personnel an average 4906 5172 5859 6784 7467
in refation to revenue % 52 32 03 14 39 - T ) )
Net interest expenses EUR mll. 2 .9 10 13 14 * The dradend for year 2015 15 a proposal of the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meeting
n relation to E<.¢=_._m ..xu - 01 p—— 04 — ﬂl .lcmu - |.co.- ** Equity ratio has been restated to reflect the changed calculation formuta See more information in Note 5 4 Restatement of key ratios
Result before taxes EUR mill w' T e T o7 s a1 -
tn relation to revenue _ % 49 43 1t b 4% B Finnalr Is net debt free - adjusted gearing also declined to 45 8 percent
Finnairs interest beanng net debt -362 millen euras detreased to negatve when hguid funds icreased to 708 mdlion euros especially
BALANCE SHEET ) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 due to positve cash How from operating activities sale and leaseback transactions and rssue of hybrd bond
Evandwondigmees  mRed - vm_ w s mm 7w e e e ke was sty o
Equity and _l_mal___ul_mm|8$_ EUR mull 2050 1 885 2118 2231 2357 than the maximum level of [75 per cent set by the Board of Directors
Gross capital expenditure EUR mil 330 , _ 8 noo_ 4 m 45 a result ot positrve development of earnings, the feturn on capital employed (ROCE) increased almost 19 percentage peints from
n retation o revanue % 142 36 12 17 90 last year to 12 2 per cent
Average capilal employed " EUR mil 1008 1106 1205 1413 1550
Dwvidend for the hnanckal year* T fuRmll 0 S T
Interest-bearing labiities EUR mil 346 48 593 T sey 729
Uqud funds T EUR mal 708 az6 459 430 a03 Gearing
Interest-bearing net debt wRmd @ 1 134 138 3% € million %
l .w _.nm_mco_.. o revenue % |.Hm ] 0l 56 56 144 200
800
KEY FIGURES 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 700
Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) _ EUR i 057 ki) _ ‘o :- o noE i 075 600
Equity/share EUR 569 402 i 530 \o 05 B 589 500
Dwidend/share* EUR Qo0 000 000 010 000
Dridend/earnings* % [1]¢] 00 090 1212 00 400 1..1..1_
“Dividend yield* % 00 00 00 42 00 300
“Cash flow from operating actmites/share ER 134 019 112 121 040 w00
P/E ratio 945 347 7502 1789 307 100 ——
“Equity ratio™* % 355 273 320 347 319 0 12
Net debit-to-equity (Gearing) % 498 03 19 10 45
Adusted gearing % Cas8 ) wrs 792 778 1084 01 Ameraft tease payments, 12m roltmg x 7y 8 Interest-bearng habilities W Gearng
feturn on equity (ROE) % 144 138 Y Y 109 8 Cash funds I Equity B Adyusted geaning
Return on capital employed (ROCE) T % ' @ - m;m h 36 28 52

BY = Highlights
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Financial statements

How to read Finnair Financial Statements?
Finnair has made eftorts to fatilitate reading these hmancial statements
and 10 clandy the overall picture that can derved from them, The notes
of Finnaw's linanclaf stalements have been combmed (o Busmess relat
ed sections i order to give a more relevant and less complex picture of
thewhole Eachsechion sets out the accounting principles appled in pro-
ducing these notes together with any cnitrcal accounting estmates and
sources of uncertainty Secondly interestng figures have been highlight
ed by circhng them and these as well as other tughlights are explasned
In a text box marked with a star Thurdly, illustrating charts have been in-
seried w vanous sectlons of the finangial statements 5o as (o fanhitate
understanding the figures.

HINotes 1o the financial statement have been combired into sections based
ontheir context The aim is to give a more relevant mcture of the Finnair
Group and 1ts business The canternit of each secton 15 descnbed and ex
planed in the begnning of that seciion and marked wath

EX specific accounting prinoiples are attached to the relevant rote The
accounting pnnceples can be recognsed from character A

Hicnica! accounting estmates and sources of uncertatnty have been pre-
sented together with the relevant note and specified with character 1]

E vighlights related Lo the section are explaned 1n a separate text box
to underiine signihcant mattess,

(nteresting figures have been highirghed wath ewrcle and explainadt in
the tughhghts text box as described above

GOVERNANCE
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Consolidated income statement Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

EUR mill Note ) 2015 2014 EUR emill Note 2015 2014
Revenue 1112 . 2,324.0 } n.u.uh.m Inlnm..s for s__ula.._nann_ year 89.7 |25
Other operating income o . L . 157 183 Other comprehensive Income items

Operating expenses . . ‘Items that may be recassified to profit or loss In subsequent periods

Staff costs o 137 sz 3445 Change 1n fair value of hedging instruments T T T e 7 R )
Fuel costs B ‘ o B 5955 6604 Translation gifferences CTooTTm T 66 o4
Other rents ‘ 132 1594 1597 Tax eftect T o 28 = 4
"Awrcraft materias ang overhau! L 1194 ttams that will not be reclassified to profit of toms In subsequent pericds 7
Traffic charges _ 585 2309 “ctuanal gans and losses from defined heneht plans 1372 377 4}
Ground handlmg and catering expenses _ -2503 -2518 Ta effect 75 08
Expenses far tour operations 796 7 Other comprehensive Income items total 195 24
Sales and marketing expenses 7o 653 Comprehensive income for the financial year 109.2 1549
Othar expenses 133 -2193 2174

Operational EBITDAR 231.2 176.6 Attributable to T - .t T
Lease payments for aircraft _ . . _ 13z 993 __Teg owners of the parent campary T 0 - 1089 1551
Depreciation and impawment 2123 -1081 1343 Non-contralling interests - 03 T a .M
Operational result Car) 365 - e —
Fair value changes i dervatives and

changes 0 exchange rates of fleet overhauls 136 123 437

Non-recurring items 136 1102 77 Change In operational result 2015

operating result (1217 V 725 € million

Financial tacome 3L 13 35 woos w4

Fmancial expenses 31 <7 269 200 mill - llhl.wnﬂhu Ty ﬂh T B

Share of results n associates and joint ventures 45 N ol 32 160 — th JENE S L — _
Result before taxes 13 491 ﬁIJ_: as

Income taxes 51 -236 165 120 -des
Resuft for the fnancdat year 97 -82.5 0 088 %h B s
Attributable to o o B ' T a0 5
Owners of the parent company ’ T N -!‘ T . 894 .. T 27 o -
zcz.moa_d__sn interests o . 03 . 02

) . B . , N o .40 e -

Earnings per share attribotable to shareholders of the parent company . . ] s .,% & & ,%. .%. .«%« & ..%. @% & %% o.% a%, %.4 Aw,..... .,.% o%
Farings per share EUR (basic and diluted) e on ST ST FTESSS

Result for the financial year per share EUR 079 065 %_.a n-..% %% %.%.. %w.% f.mw.. s %.ma @% %/.w %ow %%« ¢ e -f@a

¢ %.m, %@%.%% %a,%, 4%% & ¢
8 operational result turned to profit +23.7 (-36.5) a%

The encouraging resuft was poskively affected by increased passenger licket and ancillary reveaue Load factor also ncreased shghtly
Dechne in fue! price decreased operational expenses
Opesating profit improved especiafy thanks to gams on arrcrafit sate and leaseback transactions.

B - Hightights
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Consolidated balance sheet
EUR mill Note 31 Dec 2015 11 Dec 2014 EUR mill Note 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABRLITIES
Non-current assets ‘ T T T T T “Equity attributabls to owners of the parent o o
tntangile assets h T - 23 R ; ‘omT TY Share Eu_mm_l o - 39 754 754
“Tangible assets - T T T T 816 8978 “Other equity T T T 39 4520 4383
Investments in assaciates and jomt venlures TTTTTTTT T Tas T T T T e 49 “Yotal T - - ) 7718 5127
Hp_._ and other recetvables o T T o a7 92 Non-controlling _:_Mmﬂz 0o 06
Deterred tax assets o T T TE BT ‘138 Eqitytotal - @ 514.3
Non-current assets total T o TTTTT TTaas T Tesaa T T T T T
o . T A T e Non-corrent llabllites T T - ) )
Comentassets T CTTTT,| T T T Tt T “Interest-bearing habiities T i 33" 70 3377
_ At - _ oL S o . e - .
Inventories 21 118 147 Penstan obhgations 1372 44 253
“Trade and other recevables - 123 2085 1940 “Provesions T - 135§ 557 521
Dervalve financial instruments T TS . 1637 Other labilitres ) T T 158 221
Other financial assets T T T .m|e!=.a\q..__u=- E.sﬂngn_ T - ) 3469 ’ 1373
Cash and cash mﬁ_zm_mﬂ:m- i - ) T T T T T | i ’
Current assets tofal o “current Habilities T ) )
“Bssets held for sale - T “Prowsions T T 135 383 442
i T - “Interest-bearing labilties T 33 752 899
“assets total ) Trade payables o T ) 675 562
’ - i T “Dervatve financial instruments S o ig 180 5 1985
‘Deferred ncome and advances recewed 124 3748 3279
Balance sheet Liabiltties related to emplovee benefits 1371 “o10 797
¢ milion ety ity and Babdbes %ﬂﬂmm__.._ﬂw o | - |.\. i H i |\| 134 1487 1371
Current Dabillties total 9760 9114
2,500
2,050 3 “Uabllitlestott 13229 1,370.7
2,000 T TT TTememr s s e - - N
1500 — . EuityandGabifestotsd - 20503 1ees1
1000 —-- 37 ) i
- B strong financlal position, strong equity
P Finnaw s equity and financial position strengthened mainly thanks to positive aperational results A350 operating sale and leaseback
500 —i — L transactions and issue of a new hybnd band
Equety ratio wicreased to 35.5 per cent (273}
0 14 15 Fleet transition proceeded as Finnair became the st European aidine to take delivery of three new A350 aircratt Two of those
were sold and leased back under operating lease arrangements nght after the acquisition and third one remained in Finnair ownership
1 arcraft mcluding advancespaid B Cash and cashequivalents [ Equity B untiown arr transport and was capitalised 1n the balance sheet
and currency hedging ot arcraft and other inancial assets W Interect bearng liabilities revenues
acquesHions 8 Other current assets B Other habilities

H Dervative financial
mstruments m aurrent
Irabdities

M Other non-Current assets

M Derrvative financeal nstruments
Incurrent assets

B Assets held for sale

0 « Highlights
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Notes to consolldated cash flow statement

* Non-cash transactions

EUR mifl. 2015 2014 EUR mik. 2015 2014
_Cash flow from gperating activittes =~~~ Employee benefits L ] 156 114
Result for the inancial year 897 825 Fair value changes in derivatives 21 349
Depreciation and impawment T - 7 TTuss 1357 Other adjustments - - T ) i - 1552 401
Other adjustments to result for the tnancialvear T Totd o ) 1375 62

Fmancid! income R L ) IL.. T T a ul T T3y o o - o

Financial expenses - T ) T 1Nq“|| 269 Other adjustments mainly include sales gaims and losses on mircraft and changes 1n mantenance and ather provisions

m_,&-m of results in mumon_mau m_a _o_a 5253 01 32 ** Liquid funds

Income taxes ] T D ST 165
£BITDA . o7 T w7 T sz EUR mifl 2015 2014
Non cash transactions® i o T T T/ T &umlll 62 Other hnancial assets o ) _ . 4277 3328
nsm:mmu n sa:::m Su_s__ - T/ TYY ! 332 _Cash and cash B:am_mam B . 2805 B 934
Interest expenses paid Tt T e T/ T Y T m.!..Za..BIBH and cash equivatents In balance sheet L . 7082 426.1
Other financial expenses pad - - T Y TTas Maturing after more than thiee months 2505 2360
Interest income received - T T o T T uorll T et _Total R 4577 190.1
income taxes Ba» - T, T/ T 02 ) Q2 o o
“Met cash flow from operating actvities C T Gy 2

Cash flow from investing activities
Irwestments In intangible assets T -
_iﬁ.ag_m n ﬂw_..mm_ua assets

Orvestments of ixed assels and group shares .
Net change (n financial interest bearing mmmz at far <m_=m through profit or loss.

maturing after more than three months 144 -1095
Change m non-turrent recevables e - T/ Y AT
Netcashflowtrominvestingactivitles 76 144
nuu_. Tow from _,_\aran_._n activitles .\' T 1|4I.i|.|..H
Loan repayments and changes T T T T T T T T T T s 1694
.:.ﬁ:a bond repayments -7

Praceeds trom hybrid bond i

Hybrd g_ﬁ \terests and expenses

czam_&m E_n_

Met cash flow from financing activitles - T mal 1203
Change tn cash flows C 2677 -1418
:ﬁzg-......ia&ﬁ w01 M5
Qm_._mm in ¢ash 393 ) B o e llwﬂm -1418
r_..n_n funds, n. ‘and* 4577 191

& - Highlights

B strong financing pesition enables development of operations and financing of fleet transition

Cash flow from. operations improved due 1o increased prohts and changes in working capita! such as increased prepayments refated 1o
unflawn tickets and increased trade and other short-term payablas in forergn currencies (USD}

Finnalr invested in the new wide-body fleet and received three new A3505 during 2015, Various operating sale and leaseback transac
teons (2 x A350, 3 x E1S0 and 6 x ATR72) turned the net cash flow from imvestments positive

Net increase in cash of 118.3 millron ewros resulted from the issue of a new hybrid bond and repayment of the ald hybrd bond

Cash flow 2015, +2672.7 € million
€ militon Net cash flow from operating
activities, +171.0
500 T3
400 iy
-5
300
200
100 —
¢ &
g o
%: & .w% & %%
W § & &
& E
& N §
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Hedging reserve Equity attributable Non-
Share Other and other Unrestricted Retained Hybrid to owners of controlling Equity
EUR mill capital restricted funds OCl items equity funds earnings bond the parent Interests total
Equity 1 fan 2015 754 168.1 ar 4 247 4 4.8 1189 5137 0é 5143
Result for the financial year T | T T T T et @ i - 894 03 897
Change i fair value of hedging instruments t T Ty T O T O ) 13 13
»m:_.wﬁ_ gams m:.a lasses from nmﬂ_a.mm amq_\m__m e_m__u ) - T 302 o o ,Jﬂq o o ) 01 01
Transiation differences ) T T e o T [+]] T - o 06 06
Comprehensive income for the fnancial year Tt T T 0.0 o 00 19.5 a0 803 Y 108.8 03 1091
Proceeds from hybrid bond T oot ’ T T T T T 1982 i 1982 198 2
Hybrid bond repayments 7 I o T o T T 817 i 817 817
Hybrid band iterests and experses -t T T ST T 130 07 122 122
Dwidend Tt T T i - o am\ - a0 02 02
Share based payments o T T T o |I.|?m|,. T T - 06 06
.ﬁ:mzmm.m n non H.ME.S___:m _qummlam» Tt T/ T o T rm e e e - T oo 07 Q7
Equity 31 Dec 2015 T T T T rsa mesx T ere T s ers " nea s 0.0 @
Hedging reserve Equity attributable Non-
Share Other and other Unrestricted Retained Hybrid to owners of contrelling Equity
EUR mil} capital restricted funds ocl items equity funds earnings bond the parent interests total
Equity 1 Jan 2014 75.4 168.1 -15.0 247.3 825 1189 &77.3 0.7 &78.0
“Result for the financial year T - T T | - 827 S 827 02 825
Change i fair value of hedging Instruments B T R o o T T 596 -6%6
Acluanal gans and losses from mmmm&.:m:i;\u_mmml T T 33 T . 33 33
Translation dilferances S T T T T 08 T 04 04
Comprehenstve income for the financial year o T T T4 Y T 0.0 4551 02 1589
pridend ’ T - - T T ST T o0 02 02
Share-based payments T T o o 01 ’ T ’ ot i 01
|1|_.&..a bond interests and mxcm_._wm.u h - T T T -86 T . 86 ) - 86
“Equity 31 Dec 2014 ’ T T ma 1081 TR 2474 T Tas BTTY 513.7 " os 5143

Finnar wssued a new 200 milfion euros kybnd bond which increased its equity after expenses by 198.2 milion eyros. At the same time Finasr amor Uiseg hybnd bond ssued at 2012 by 517 million euros Non-tonirolling interests” share ol equity was eliminated through sale of Fanair's

sulbsrdiary Estravel AS

Eimproved results and hybrid bond Issue resuited inincreased equity {Increase +213 1) - enables flexible financing of growth
Finnair's equity strengthened from 514.3 million euros to 7275 million ewros (increase 213.1 mullion euras) mainly due to improved sesults (894) other comprehensive income (19.5) and hybnid bond issue. Strong equity enables flexible financing of growth

0 - ighlights
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Accounting principles

How should the Finnatr's accounting principles be read?

Finnarr describes the accounting principtes in conjunction with each note in the aim of prowiding enhanced understanding of each ac-
counting area. Base of preparation is desciibed as part of this note (accounting principles) while the omes more directly related to a spe-
ohicnote are attached ta the correspanding note The Group foceses on descabing the accounting choices oade within the tramewark of
the prevailing IFRS policy and avoids repeating the actual text of the standard unless Finnair considers it particulacly important to tha
understanding of the note 5 cordent Refer 1o the table below to see which nates, accounting principles and IFRS standards are related.

Accounting principle Mote Nr 1FRS

Segment .muo:sn Segment sa.éﬂs: 11 (FRS 8

Revenue Emon:n_o: other ncome m_a.mma”. Aﬂmﬂz_am _:naam T 12 1AS 18 AS 39 [FRS 7
recenvables

Prowvisions and nma_:mma labiliies i - ﬂ_.ﬂ_ﬂoﬂ T T i35 1AS 37 B
Emnloyee bengts and share based payments Remuneraton 137 IS I9IRRS2
Penstans T T pensons 1372 IAS 19

Tangible assets - azmal_m asets 21 AS16 As3§
Operating and france _mwmm arrangements _.Bu_:m Eaammammml! T T T omsw T T
_Em:m_c_m assets o ||_2mzwl_ammmla 23 iAS38

Interest and dwidend income ~ Financial mcome and expenses 731 wms18ms3z
Finanoial assets and _sum_qama of tinancial  Finangial assets - umui ) 1S um._wmm 7
assets

Cash and cash Sczm_m_.__m T I.Im_zm._..nm_. assets - 32 1AS 35 FRS 7

Financial habilitces 7 Financial labdites "33 1A539 IFRS 7
Derwvative cantracts and :mnmm Mnm...E:::m Derwvatives 38 IAS 39 IFRS 7

Equity dividend and ._822 shares |m._==< related informatron 39 IAS 32 1AS 33
Conseldation principles of subsidiaries  Subsidiarres T T 42 PRSI0

Non Saa_::m Inferests and transactions Subsidianes 42 {FRS 10

with non-contrelling __;m:w.u

Assets held for sale - - Non-current assets and fiabiiities held for s um_n. a4 FRSS
Investments in associates and _a__.= ,a::__.mm _=<mm.am=m mn mmSn_mmmmma\_o_mz ventures 45 __“34 T
“Income and deferred taxes " " Income taxes T T 51 14512 -
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Description of the company

The Finnair Group engages in worldwide air transport operations and supparting services The Group s nperations are di-
vided into the Airline Business and Travel Services business areas The Group s parent company 1s Finnair Ple, which is
domiciled 1n Helsink at the regrstered address Tictotic 9, Vantaa The parent company 1s listed on the NASDAQ OMX
Helsinki Stock Exchange The Board of Directors of Finnair Ple has approved these financial statements for publication at
its meeting on 9 February 2016 Under Fintand's Limited Liabihty Companies Act, shareholders have the option to accept,
change or reject the financial staternents in the Annual General meeting of the shareholders, which will be held after the
publication of the financral statements

Basls of preparation
Fmnair Plc s consohdated financial statements for 2015 have been prepared according te the [nternational Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and 1FRIC interpretatrons in effect on 31 December 2015 and 2+ adopted by the Furopean Unvon The
notes to the consolidated financizl statements also comply with Finnish accounting and corporate law New and amended
standards applied in 2015 and future periods are described in the Note 4 7 Application of new and amended 1FRS stand-
ards and IFRIC interpretations

The 2015 consolidated hnancial statements have been prepared based un onginal acquisition costs, except for knancial
assets recogmised through profit and loss at fair value, financial assets available-for-sale, and denvative contracts, which have
been measured at farr value Financial statement data 15 presented in millions of euros, rounded to the nearest one hundred
thousand euro This means that the sum of the individual figures may differ from the total shown

Presentation of Consolldated lncome Statemaent and Balanoe Sheet
1A5 1 Presentation of Financiat Statements standard does not define ‘operating result ‘The Group has defined 1 as net
amount of operating income and expenses including revenue and other operating income, less operating expenses, such
as maintenance expenses and materials used, lease payments for arrcraft and other lease fees, employee benefits, depreci-
ation and possible impairment losses ansing as well as other operating expenses Fxchange rate differences and changes in
fair values of derivatives are meluded in operating profit if they anse from items related to business operations, otherwise
they are recognised in financial tems Operating result excludes financial items, share of results from associates and joint
ventures and income taxes

Consoldated income statement ncludes, m addibien to operating result, operational result and operational EBITDAR
which are presented to better reflect the Groups business performance when comparing results to previous pertods Op-
erational result doesn't include capatal gains and Josses, changes in the vatue of foreign currency denominated fleet mainte-
nance reserves, changes in the unrealised fair vatue of dernvatives or non-recurring items Operational EBITDAR 154 com-
mon measure in airline business which arms to reflect operational results excluding capital cost, ndependent of whether
aircraft are owned or leased “Therefore, operational FBITDAR s calculated by excluding depreciations and aperating lease
payments for aircraft from operational result.

In the consolrdated balance sheet, assets and hiabiliuies are classified as current when they are expected to realise within
12 months or when they are classified as liqud funds or financial assets or habiities classified at fair value through profitor
loss Other assets and labilitics are classified as non-current assets or habilities

Use of esthnates

The preparation of financial statements 1 accordance with IFRS standards requires Group management 1o make certain
estimates and judgements 1n applying the accounting principles Information about the judgement exercised by manage-
ment in appiying the Group’s accounting principles and the areas where estimates and judgements have biggest impact in
the financial statements are presented in the following paragraph Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty
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Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertalnty

The preparation of inancial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions relating to the futare, and the actual
outcume may differ from the estimates and assumptions made In addition, discretion has to be exercised 10 applying the
accounting principles of the financial statements Estimates are based on management’s best estimate at the balance sheet
date Changes in esttmates and assumptions effect the financial statements in the pened the changes occur, and in all the
subsequent financial pertods

[ the wentified main critreal estimates and sources of uncertainty ace presented :n connection to the tems considered to be affected,
attached to the corresponding note. The table below shows where to find more informabion about those presentations [1 ]

Critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty Note number Note

Finnair Plus Customer Loyally Program 12 QOperating tncome
“Pension abligations 1372 Pensions
ﬂ:muﬂ_m_: ﬁﬂ:.wl 21 Tangible assets
ucnmmmﬁzlmoq classifying lease arrangements 22 Leasing arrangements
ﬂ_m:mn taxes ) 51 Income taxes

H - Cntreal accaunting estimates
IR - Content of the section

[ - Accounting principles

B - Highhghts
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1 Segments and operating result

T segments and operating result include segment nformation and nates related to operating result both from mcome statement and bat
ance sheet perspectve. [

1 1Segment information

ElSegment reporting

Operating segments are reported i 2 manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief aperating decrsion maker
The chief operating decrsion maker, who 15 responsible for aflocating resources and assessing performance of {he aperating segments
has been identified as the Board of Directors Segments are defined based on Group s business areas A

Repurtable segments follow the Group s busimess area based internal organisational structure and financial reporting to man-
agement. The reportable segments in Finnair are Anfine Business and Travel Services ‘The entibies included in segments are
specified in Note 4 2 Subsidianes

Arrline Business 15 responstble for scheduled passenger and charter trafhe as well as cargo sales, customer service and service
concepts, flight operations and management, mamtenance and financmg of the fleet. In addition the segment 1s responsible for
managing reat estate owned by Finnarr. Finncatenng Oy, that was sold to LSG Lufthansa Service EuropafAfrika GmbH, 15 m-
cluded in the Asrline segment figures until 28 February 2014 and airport shops of Travel Retadl, that were sold to World Duty Free
Helsmk, are included as well unt! 1 October 2014

Travel Services consists of the Groups travel agency operations as well as tour operations and travel sector software business
operations. Estravel AS and its subsidtary Estrave] Vilnius UAB, which were sold at the end of 2015, are incladed m the segment
figures until 29 December 2015,

Transactions between segments are based on commeral terms {tems excluded from operauing profit are not allocated to seg-
ments Personnel working in group functions ts presented separately, but costs from greup functions are allocated to segments

Airfine Business (not audited) Travel Services (not andited)
€ midhion € milhan
700 100
80 B0 —p—-— - --—= --—- -
500 -
£00 60
300 40
00 0
100
[+
0
00 " -20 -
I O N A N - S R . e B
-
a:% &F & avea @.aa o n.....m onm az._m. & 0....? 0¢.% Oz..w %.% & ar.%

B External revenye W Operationa) result

E3 arrline Business revenue has increased and operalional result improved m every quarter during 2015, compared 1o the comespond-
ing quarter in the previous penod
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Business segment data 2015

Airline Travel Ehimi-
EUR mill Business  Services natiens  functions
External revenue 21171 2069
Internal revenue T T T Taee 12 898
Revenoe T T T ey T 8 T
Operational resuit T 1 a7 T
Operatingresuft T T 1a a3
Share of -mm.__m in mﬂaq\m.sm m:m _o?am__m_am Tt T - )
m__..m:n.m__mnaam o T Tttt/ T

i - e .,

Fmancial expenses
Income taxes - ST T T
zo_...noaa___:w mterests T T T
Result for the :aﬂ_..au:au_.-:zgﬂz:cqlamlas T T
the parent company L o e
Depreaiation and impawment T T T T T ey 12
Average number of employees - T I»wmmn - 567 -
Employees at the end Mﬂ <Mn,:n T 4083 397
Bosiness segment data 2014

Airline Travel Elleni-
EUR mill Business  Services natiens  functions
External revenue 20707 2138
Internal qm,.oa_m T - T T |ouo |ﬂl Laoél T
Revenve T e T asr ase
Operationadresut = 435 w0
Operatingresutt T T 784 59 )
Share of resblts n associates and joint veures -
"Fnancial income - - T T
Fnancal espenses o T
tncome Laxes o T - T ) |I.EE
zo?n.oazw__sm interests T |.| i i'u ) .1 || o | |||||.l B . Y
Resoit for the financial year attributable to owners of
the parent company o .
cmusn.mmom and imparment TOTT 7T Tkze T T 1 . 1
..,cmamnmc_.._._aﬁ of m..m_u_gﬂ.mmm - T T awwm - 645
mau_oﬁmlmmﬂl__..m end of year ST T .P.o.mo. - 600 -
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1.2 operating income

Bl operating ncome section ncludes both mcome statement and balance sheet notes that relate o revenue The aim 1 to provide more co

fereat picture of income elated tems effecting Finnair s result and fnancial position, Trade recevables, agvances recenved relating to fight
tickets and travel tour services as wedl as deferved mcome are presented in connection wath this section because those are an essential part
mnrevenue recogmition H

E\Revenue recognition
Revenue i§ recognised when goods of services are delrvered, Revenue 1s measured at faw value of the consideration recerved or recen-
able net of discounts and indirect taxes

Awrline Business sales are recognised as revenue when the flight s flown m accordance with the flight trafhe program Unused tckets
are recognised as revenue when the ticket expires and Finnasr has no obligation to return the consideration to customer

Fnarr loyalty customers can eam Finaair Plus Points trom tickets or services purchased and use the earmed pomts 1o buy servites
and products offered by Finnair o its partners in cocperation The points earned are fair valued according to IFRIC 13, and recognised
as adecrease of reveaue and debt at the time when the pownts-earning event (or example Hight 1s flown} is recognised as revenpe Fair
value s measured by taking into account the fair value of those awards that can be purchased with the points and the customer selec-
tion between different awarrs based on tustorical custorer behaviour In atdition, the faw valuation takes info account the expirnng of
the points, The debt 15 denecogmised when the points are used to buy a service or 3 good (awards)

Sale of goods n awcraft (Travel Retai) 1 recogrused as revenie when the goods are delivered 10 the customer Aircraft maintenance
services are after restructunng sold only in smali extent 1o external customers, The refated revenue s recognmsed when the sennce has
been completely performed

Revenue related to Travel Serces 1s recogrrsed when the service has been performed 1 e incase of tour operatron services at the date
of departure and in commission sales at the time of sale In commusston based sales only the part of comnussien 15 included m the revenue

Trade recelvables

Trade recesvables are recognesed at fair value When the Group has ohjectve evidence that it may aot be able to cotlect all trade re

cenables that are due a bad debt provision is recognised. Financial difficulties that ndicate that a customar 1 gomg Itd dankruptcy
financial restructuring or substantiat defays i payments are examples of objective evidence that might cause trade recetvables to be
imparred. Impairment of trade recenvables 15 recognised in other operating expenses. EY

H Finnalr Plus Customer Loyalty Program

Valuation and revenue recognition related to Finnair Plus debt requares judgement of management especially related to fair valuation
of pomts and timing of revenue recognition retated fo polnts expected ta expire The fair value of the point is defined by aliocating the
paunt to award selechion based on historical behaviour ot customers, after which fair value of each award i defined, The Fability s cal-
culated by taking the total amount of points earned by customers, decreased with the expected expiring of the points. These paints are
then fair valued as described above and the result 1s recognised as liabulity in the balance sheet Hl

1 = Content of the secticn
X = Accounting principles
H - Cnitical accounting estimates
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1.2.1 Revenae by product 1.2.3 Trade and other recelvables
EUR mill 2015 2014 EUR mill 201% 2014
Awhne Business 21871 20707 Trade recevables 1130 1686
vwmwm__mﬂ revenug T T T/ T T 17497 - HW#_’M Prepawd expenses accrued income and other recesvables S_m._ T ) - 955 i 854
Ancillary services a.._n:_._m. T T T T - i -Hmm.mlil - o .._B|~ Accrved _=mc3.m. T T T - i 516 330
" Cargo revenue T T T T T T mr . T Tan VAT recewables N 81 61
“other reverue T T T T T T - o1 1200 ||mﬁo_o|<mm benefit related recevables T ’ 76 28
Travel Services revenus ) ’ T T 7Y T T T |nqmuma Sma.»s.nﬂm.mmm T T ) 74 12
Tota? |! - - .| .. . “i T ) w.w~b.o.l 2,284.5 Interest and other ::wanﬂm_lslmzlal T i ’ 32 ’ ’ lw.c
T T T T T othertems - 177 1313
1,2.2 Revenpe by currency Yol T . 2085 194.0
EUR mil) 2015 2014 The Fair value of trade recervables does not materally differ from balance sheet value
EUR 13728 13132
w i T/ TTsie . s
ov - - - - — - - 1670 521 Aging analysis of trade receivables 2015 2014
SEK - T T/ = T T ThesT T T TTos: Noloverdue . . —_ . AN %2
KAW T - - ’ wa 7T @3 Overduetessthans0days R 35
w7 T -— - - 576 TYY Overdue more than60days o 127 89
,9:2 currencies T T T T o T wm.w m.TFlII |M.B|o Hu-il - —_— . 130 108.6
Total T - i T ozaan T 2l

Hedging policies of currency are described n the Note 3 5 Management of financtal nisks

Revenue by prodoct Revenue by currency
€ mithon %
2500 2,284 5 2,3240
2000 — — [ -
1500 — - e
1000 — — -
-
500 — — —
' ,
0
14 15
[ EUR 59% W KRW 3%
T Passenger revenue change +7% W w_a__gﬁﬁﬁ - B IPYE% B Ust 2%
evenue, change +
B Cargo revenue, change -21% & Other roveme W CHY 7% 8 Other currencies 15%
W Travel services revenue, thange-34% W SEX 5%

change -3%

The Group has recognised a total of 2 4 million euros (12.3) of credit losses from trade recervables during the financial year
At the end of 2014 Finnaur wrote down 11.3 million euros of recevables related to restructuning need of Flybe Finland Oy
{currently Nordic Regional Airlines Oy} More information related to the write down can be found tn the Note 4 5 Invest-
ments tn assoctates and joint ventures Trade recervables do not contain significant credit risk because of diversity in cus-
tomer basts The maxsmum cxposure te credit nisk at the reporung date 1s the carrying amount of trade receivables The
Group does not hold any collateral as security related to trade recervables

Trade recelvables by currency

EUR mill 2015 2014
EUR 699 721
w0 T T o ’ TS T32
an-.- T 0 T - ’ mn- - 58
wo T S ‘ 54 40
mxll - - ) ) 43 -wm
ﬂni'l T T . i nuH w.m
‘mm.mﬂn‘::m:m_mm T T 180 172
Total T T T - mo’ 108.6
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1 2.4 Deferred income and advances recetved

EUR mill 2015 2014
UnHown air transport revenyes 01?7 2523
|_.b<w=< program Finnair Plus ) ) -0 IR - i1 ot T "6
Advances recerved for tour Smacoﬂ_ml T T T 30 m.l B
Other items ) e T .EHIDI»IJ
Total T o T o o s e

Deferred income and advances recewved inctudes prepad, yet unflown flight tickets and package tours, whese departure
date 1s in the future Unflown ticket revenue has increased mainly due to increased sales compared to 2014

Finnair Plus Liabiity 15 related to Finnair's customer loyalty program, and equals Lo the fair value of the earned unused
Finnarr Plus points

1.3 Operating expenses

H the aperating expenses section includes the income statement and balance sheet notes related to the operatig expenses aiming Lo pro-
wvide better averview of the business operattons and related expenses. Mantenance provistons of leased aircraft that mherently relate to over-
hau! expenses are included o this operaling expenses section Accrued expenses. like liabilities related to jet fuel and trathc charges. are also
presented in this section AN the income statement and balance sheet tems related 1o employee benehis are also presented at the end of thrs
setlion as 3 separate note Employee benehrs include the difterent torms of benefits, ke share-based payments and pensmns as well as their
effect to balance sheet, and information on management remuneration

Operational expenses Operational expenses by currency
€ mithon %
2500 2319760

14 15
T EURS2%
™ staff costs change +3% W Expenses for tour operations B LSD 40%
B Fuelcosts change 10% change +8% B Other currencies 8%
M safes and markelting

M Other rents, change 0%

B Arrcraft matenials and overhaul,
change 0%

W Teafhic charges change +12% W Lease payments for aecraft,

B Ground handl d cat change +2d%
round handling and catening
expenses. change-19% B Depreciation and rmpament,

change -20%

expenses, change +13%
B Other expenses change *1%
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1 3.1 Operational expenses by currency

EUR mill 2015 2014
EUR 12113 12152
wso C B 9192 9547
Other Eﬂ.msn_mm T T ) 1854 1653
Total - T i T o230 zame
Currency hedging policies are described in the Note 3.5 Management of financial nisks
1 1.2 Leasing expenses

EUR mill 2015 2014
Leasing payments for cargo capacity 111 252
ivy._um:la ::ﬂ—n:lmmﬂ traffic and wet leases i i 1163 957
Offce and other rents T - - 320 378
Gther rents total Gincluded In operational ERITDAR) o i 1594 1507
Lease payments for aircrait T T 993 788
Total - T - a7 na4

Lease payments for atrcraft have increased mainly because of the sale and leasebacks of Embraer E190, ATR 72 and Awrbus
A350 airerafi Purchase traffic pay ments for Nordic Regional Airhines Oy are included in the payments for purchase traf-
fic and wet leases

1.1.3 Other expenses
EUR mill 2015 2014
IT expenses and boaking fees 932 821
Other items 1261 1353
Total 2193 unrs
Audit fees In other expenses
EUR mill 2015 2014
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Auditor's fees 02 02
- Tax adwising ot ol
Other fees [tF 02
Total 0s 0.4
I3 = Content of the section
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1.3.4 Other (labilities

EUR mill 2015 2014
Jet fuets and traffic charges 672 791
Expenses for lour operabions 98 66
Morcraft matenals and overhaul ~ 54 68
Interest and other finangial items 50 56
Other items 614 390
Total 148.7 T XY

Other items conststs of several items related to expenses, none of which are indmdually sigmificant

1 1.5 Previsions

EYprovisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructve oblgahion as the resufl of a past event, the fdfifment of
the payment obligation 1s probable and a reliable esurnate of the amount of the obligation can be made The amount to be recagrused
as prowisions cormesponds to the management’s best estimate of the expenses that will be necessary to meet the obligation at the end
ol the reposting period

Restructurmg provisions are recognised when the Group has prepared a detadled restructuring plan and has begun to implement
the ptan or has announced # A restructuring plan must Include at least the followng Information the operatsns affected the main op-
erating points affected, the warkplace locations working tasks 2nd estunated number of the peopte who will be paid compensation for
the ending of their employment, the kkely costs and the date of implementation of the plan,

The Group is obliged to return feased awcraft at the required redelivery condition To fuifil these maintenance obligations the Group
has recognised airtrame heavy maintenance engmne performance maintenance and engine lite iuted part provisians, The basis tor
the provision 1s fight hours flown during the maintenance period Y

Alroraft Alrraft
maintenance Other maintenance Other provi-

EUR mill provision provisions 2015 provisian siony 2014
Prowision at the begineung ot
period 825 138 963 924 174 109.8
Provision tor the pertod 306 44 315.0 255 203 45.8
Provision used 365 111 ~47.5 442 -239 -68.1
Exhange rate differences 101 m1 8.8 8.8
Total 868 71 94.0 82.5 118 96.3

- R N - e— - e T
‘ofwhich non-current 520 37 rTY) Tszr 7T s
QF which current 3a8 35 383 04 1338 4482
“Yotal 86.8 71 94.0 825 138 96.3

Non-current awrcraft maintenance provisions are expeeted to be used by 2027
Other provisions include items related to group s restructurings

EY = Accounting principles
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1.3.5 items exctuded from operational resutt

Operational result does not include non-recurring items and other items affecting comparablity Non-recurting items in-
clude sales gains and losses of fixed assets, businesses and subsidiaries and personnel related and other restructuring ex-
penses Fair value changes of derivatives are recagnised through income statement and fair value changes of foreign cur-
rency denorninated fleet maintenance reserves are considered as items affecting comparability 1n Finnair

EUR mill 2015 2014
Fair value changes of derivatives 21 349
Fair value changes of faresgn currency denominated fleet maintenance reserves 101 g8
Non recurring items N T o i 102" 77
u—ﬂg T s/ T/ : 930 -360

1.13.7 Employee benefits

1.3.7.1 Employee henefit expenses and share-based payments

E3Share-based payments
Finnatr provides a number of share-based compensalion plans for s employees, under winch the Group recerves services from em-
ployees as consideration for share-based payments Regarding share-based icentive plans for key personnel and pilots the awards are
paid onty if performance critera set by the Board of Directors are met Share based savings plan for employees (FlyShare) sequires the
employees to remain in Finnaw s service for the defined perod but payment does not depend on any performance criteria

The total expense tor share-based payments 15 recognised over the vesting period, which is the penod over which all of the spett
hied vesting contitions are to be sausfred. The portion of the earned reward that the participants receive i shares b accounted for as
an equity seitled transaction and the portion of the earned reward settled (n cash or covering the tax and other charges, i accounted
for as cash settled transaction The equity settled share awards are measured based on the market price of the Finnair share a3 of the
grant date and recognised as an emplovee beneht expense over the vesting penod with corresponding entry in the equaty The hatil
ity resultng from the cash-settled transactions s measured based on the market price of the Fwnair share at the balance sheet date
and arcrued as an employee benefit expense for service penod wih the corresponding entry in the habdities until (he settiement date

Terminatlon banefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminaled by the Group before the normal retirement date or whenever an em
ployee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits The Group recognises tereunation benefits when 1t is damonstrably
committed to a termination. The Group s demanstrably commutted when it has a detailed formal plan to termsnate the employment of
current employees without possibility of wathdrawal In the case of an offer made tc encourage voluntary redundancy the termination
beneits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer

For accountmg pringiples related to Pensions see Note t 372 Pensions for more information EY
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Staff costs
EUR mill T T I 2014
wages and satanes 2771 2753
Pension expenses ettt/ T/ .mﬂme||m.ﬂm.
Defined cantribution plans T T T FE Y
Defined benefit u_ma.mi T T T T - 194 03
Other sorial expenses o T T T T Immol.l T s
...Sm. T T T - 35312 u_.h.w
Stalf costs nctuded 1n :a:.anﬂ.::mn_aaw} - Tt T T Tt T -m.ouiul D
Total staff costs in income statement T T T T T T T amsn T 3sis

In Finnatr, the total salary of personnel consssts of fixed pay. allowances, short-and long-term incentives, fringe benefits
and other personnel benefits The total amount of short-torm incentives recogmsed for 2015 were 6.3 milhon curos (4 6)
In additton Lo staff costs, non-recurning items include personnel related restructuning costs of 29 million euros (7 0) as
agreed i the Groups statutory employcr employee negotiations Including non-recurnng items, total staff costs amount-
ed to 356 1 million euros (351 5)

Transfer to Personne] Fund

Finnant has a Petsonnel Fund that i1s owned and controlled by personnel A share of Fmnair’s profits ss allocated to the fund
“The share of profit altocated to the fund 1s determined based on the targets set by the Board of Directors The participants
of the performance share plan {1 T1) are not members of the Personnel Fund The Personnel Fund 15 obliged to invest part
of the bonus im Finnarr Plc s shares 1n 2015 and 2014 profits were not allocated to the fund, because the set performance
criteria were not met.

Liabifities related to employee benefits

€ur mill T2015 2014
Holiday payments 620 615
c.:m_.loan_q,.ymm a_u"mﬂ_»mﬂnq:mnm_mamm - T Nc|o 182
Employee benefit related accruals totat - T T e 707

Other employee related accrued expenses mainly iclude withholding tax and accrued expenses related to socral secun-
ty costs In addition, provisions in the balance sheet include employee related restructuring prowisions amounting te 5 5
mtllion euros (8 7)
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Management remuneration

The President and CEO and Executlve Board remuneration

President President

and CEQ and CED
Pexka  Executive Total Pekka  Executive Total
Thousand euros Yauramo Board 201% Vauramo Board 014
Fixed pay 649 1156 1,845 639 1614 2,253
Short term incentives* 235 352 588 194 260 454
Fringe benehts 3 61 63 4 66 70
Termination benefits 369 369 392 392
Share-based payments 115 182 297 46 120 166
Pensions (statutory)** 153 277 29 134 322 456
Pensians (voluntary defined contnbution) 69 69 122 122
Total 1,158 2,506 2,661 1,016 2,897 3013

»

Shart term incentrves for the financial vear 2015 are estimates as at the balance sheet date the final ncentves have not been
confirmed Short term incentives for 2014 reahsed circa 4 000 euros lower than expected in 2014 financial statements
Statutory pensions include Finnair s share of the payment to Finnvsh statutory “IyEL” pension plan

-

Management remuneration 1s presented on 2n accrual basis In 2615 share-based payments include accrued expenses refat-
ed to 2013-2015, 2014-2016 and 2015-2017 share-based payment plans and FlyShare share savings plan Share-based pay-
ments for the Executive Board in 2015 and 2014 include compensations related to Finnair Plc s share-based bonus scheme
2010-2012 The shares earned were delivered and cash-based share pad during 2013, but the income statement effect s
accrued to vesting period for 2010-2015 up to ending of lock-up pened, according to IFRS 2 Management has not been
provided any other jong-term incentrves in addition to share-based payments

The pension plans of the members of the Executrve Board have been arranged through Finmsh pension insurance com-
pany, and the retrrement age 15 63 All voluntary pension schemes previded for the Fxecutive Board members are defined
contribution plans, and executive service contracts concluded after 1 January 2013 do not include any voluntary pension
benefits Defined benefit plans for previous members of the Frecutive Board ceased during 2014

Moere infarmation on share-based payment schemes can be found later in this note and in a separate Remuneration state-
ment, which also mcludes information on remuneration poltciesand structures and compensation pard to sentor management.
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The Board of Directars remuneration
Compensation pald for board service, Tota) Fixed Meeting Fringe Yotal
EUR 018 k fon benefits 2014
Board of Directors total 383015 247200 118,200 17615 358 227
Friman Mava-Liisa o %.amof o 31,800 S 10 Mowc\{‘ ﬂuma -
Hemmemann Klaus T o 77 amo 61 Nom - _.m. 200 Q )
Itdvuget Juss! - i 63153 31800 20400 1953 -
“Kerminen Harn i T Taaaoo 32400 12000 0
Kronman Gunvar - Taae26 T 30000 8400 " a5
Tuominen Jaana - ST aaae T o000 9600 2709 -
Tusner Nigel - 62847 30000 31800 1047

The compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors include annual remuneration and meeting compensat:on
The members of the Board of Directors are entuitled to a daiy allowance and compensation for travel expenses in accordance
with Finnair s general travel rules In addition, the members of the Board of Directors and their spouses have a limited night
to use staff tickets in accordance with Fmnair's staff icket rules Under the rules, the Directors and their spouses are entitled
to four return or aght one-way tickets on Finnair fights per calendar year in Economy or Business Class The fare of these
teckets 1s zero, exclusive of any arrport taxes, fees and charges, which are payable by the Directors and their spouses These
tickeds constitute taxable sncome tn Finland and are reported as fringe bunchits i the table above

Share-based payments
The note below provides description and informatien on effects of the Group's share-based incentive plans Mare informa-
tion on share-based personnel bonus schemes can be found 1n the Kemuneration statement

Finnair share-based payment plans

—
2010 2011 2012 | 2013 2014 2015 2016 | 2017 | 2018 2019 NONOJ

LTI 2010-2012 [ -

L112013-2015 S = _ = , - St
LTI 2014-2016 p

LTI 2015-2017

Pilots share plan T T

e 5o

Fly Share 2013
Fly Share 2014 prhaiad
Fly Share 2015 = r$
. /

~ Earmings / savings penod

8 Lock-up penod

iZ Lock-up penod for
Executive Board

a Cash reward
a Share delivery
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Performance share plan fur key personnel (LTD) from 2013 oowards
Finnair's share based incentive plan 15 a performance-based, annually commencing long-term incentive (1 T1) arrangement
Each share based incentive arrangement 15 divided into four-six-year share plans, and the commencement of each new plan
15 subject to a separate decision made by Finnair's Board of Directors The first pfan commenced in 2013, and at the end
0f 2015 there are three plans onguing (2013-2015, 2014-2016, 2015-2017) The purpuse of the share pan 15 to encour-
age the management to work to mcrease lang-term shareholder value The share plan 15 in line with the statement by the
Finnish Cabinet Committee on Economic Policy regarding the remuneration of executive management and key indmiduals

Fach LTT plan contains a three-year performance period which is followed by a restriction period, dunng which the par-
ticzpant may not sell or transfer the shares receved as a reward The restrict:on period is three years for the members of
Finnair's Executive Board and one year for other participants In additon, the President and CEO, and members of Finnair s
Executive Board are required to accumulate and, once achieved, to maintain, a share vwnership in Finnair corresponding to
his or her annual base salary as long as he or she holds a position as a member of Finnair s Lxecutive Board

The potential reward will be delivered n Finnair shares The share delivery 1s split into three share tranches (50%, 30%
and 20%) that will be delivered to the Executive Board members during the three years following the performance period
For other participants the shares are delrvered at 50 per cent tranches duning the two following years after the performance
pertod As Finnair has adopted a program consisting of annually commencing mndividual plans, tn which the shares are patd
in three tranches, the program also includes a bndge element to supplement payments in 2016 and 2017 This takesinto con-
sideralion the fact that the LTI plan wall not be in full effect until 2018 The targets set to the bndge element were not met

If the performance critena set are met at the target level, the incentive paxd 1n Frnnair shares to the President and CFO
or other members of the Executrve Board will be 30 per cent of hus or her annual base salary and if critenia ore met at the
raximum level, the incentive paid 1n Finnair shares will be 60 per cent of the participants annual base salary The target
level for incentives for other key personnel 1s 20-25 per cent and maximum level 40-50 per cent of the person’s average
annual base szlary according to the job grade

According to the rules of the LT, the maximum value of shares delivered to an tndividual participant in any given year
may not exceed 60 per cent of the persons annual basc salary  The amounts of shares paid arc stated before tax The num-
ber of shares delivered will be deducted by the income tax and transfer tax payable for the incentrve at the time of payment

The performance criteria applied to the plan for 2013-2015 are the Group’s relative operating EBIT margin growth and
decrease 1n unit costs in Furopean traffic These two critena are assigned weights of 60% and 40%, respectively The per-
formance criterion for the share plan s bridge element 1s the operating FBIT margin The performance criteria applied 1n
2014-2016 and 2015-2017 plans are Finnair s return on capital employed (ROCE, weight 50 per cent) and total sharehold
er return (TSR) The target levels and maxtmum levels set for the eriteria are based on long term strategie. objectives set by
the company’s Board of Directors Performance against the critersa 1s monitored quarterty

‘The total expense for the share-based payments 1s recogmsed over the vesting period {4-6 years) The compensation is
measured dunng performance period in cash, and only after performance peniod al grant date transtated into shares There
fore the whole cost effect 1s recognised as debt untl the end of performance period (grant date), and the debt 1s drvided into
equity settled and cash settled part only at grant date At the same time, the equuty settled part 1s recognised in equity At
the end of 2015, at the grant date of the plan 2013-2015, a debt of ¢ 2 million euros was transferred to equity The expense
4 for 2015 ar ed to 1 0 million eures (0 4)

rec

&
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Share-based performance plan for pliots

‘The Fimnair Board of Directors approved 1n 2014 a long-term incentive plan for hinnair pilots as part of the savings agree
ment between Finnair and the Finnish Aur Line Pilots’ Association (SLL) The plan pertod 1s 20152018 and the prerequisite
for rewarding pilots based on this plan is the matenalisation of the agreed cost savings over this time pertod In addition,
the company share price must at least be four euros at the end of the incentive plan If these conditions are met, the pilots
are entitled to a cash payment based on the Finnair share price The total reward to pilots amounts to 12 mithon euros if the
share price 15 four euros or a maximum of 24 nullion euros, if the share price reaches at least eight euros Finnair has hedged
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2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017
plan plan plan Tetal

Maximum earning rillion euros 34 25 28 86
Maximum earning, mill:on shares (with 31 Dec T
2015 share price) 06 0s 05 16
Target earming, miflhon euras 17 12 14 43
Target earrung millon shares {with 31 Dec 2015
share price) 03 02 03 08
Expenses recognised for the financiat year LT1s
total (milkon euros) 0.1 06 G3 10

of which equity settled {recogmsed as debt until

grant date) oo 02 ol 04

of which cash settled oo 04 Q2 04
Liability related 1o LT s at the closing date
{mullion ewros) 04 a7 03 14
Shares granted (millson shares) 00 0o 00 0a

FlyShare employee share savings plan trom 2013 onwards
Finnair offers an annually commencing share savings plan for its employees Commencing of each plan 1s subject to the de-
asion of Finnair's Board of Directors First plan commenced in 2013, and for the iume being there are three plans ongong
The obpective of the plan 15 to encourage employees to become shareholders in the company, and to thereby strengthen the
employees’ interest in the development of Finnair's shareholder value and reward them in the long-term

Each plan consists of one year savings penod followed by two year lock-up period. Through the plan, each eligible Finnair
employee 1s offered the oppartunity to save part of his ar her salary to be invested in Finnair shares The maximum monthly
savings are 8 per cent and the rumimum 2 per cent of each participant s gross base salary per month, with the 2nnual max-
imum savings set at 8,000 euros per participant. Shares are purchased with the accumulated savings at the market price
quarterly, after the release of Finnaur's interitn reports

Finnaur awards 20 bonus shares to each emplayee that participates 1n the plan for the first ime, and continues savings
at least the first three months of the plan The bonus shares ase delivered in October each year, and the effect 1s recognised
as expense for the pericd The plan lasts for three years, and Finnair awards each participating employee with ene share for
each two shares purchased and held at the end of three-year period The awarded bonus and addittonal shares are taxable
mcome for the recipient. The cost refated to additional shares delsvered 15 recognised as expense duning vesting pertod

Eftect of FlyShare share savings plan on Group's results and financial positicn,

militon euros 2018 2014
Total income statement effect of FlyShare 16 04
0f which m:ma.mmz_mal Tt T oIm‘ 02
0f which cash setiled T I T T

—_— - f— e e e e ——— —

Liability relaied to share-based payments at the closing date 13 a2

i the additional cost effects 2bove the four euro share price with a market based call option
The plan 15 considered as a cash-settled share-based arrangement The cost effects are accrued over the vesting period
from grant date onwards {2014-2018), and the correspanding habiltty 15 farr valued at each reporting date The 2015 closing
rate of Finnair's share (5 42 euros) was above the minimum required level {four euros), and based on preliminary view of the
5avings targets bemng met a hatukty of 4 5 million eurcs was recogmised in 2015 Since Finnair has hedged aganst the cost
effects above four euro share price, the cost recognised i operational result in 2015 was imited to 3 2 madlion euras {0 0)

Finnair Pit’s share-based bonus scheme 2010-2012
The Board of Directors of Finnair Plc approved a share-based benus scheme for 2610-2012 on 4 Februarv 2010 In the share
bonus scheme, key indduals had the possibility of receving company shares 2nd cash for a three-year performance pe-
rrod according to how financial targets set for the performance pertod have been achieved

The Board of Directors decided annually the financial targets to be set for each performance period Achieving the tar-
gets set for the performance period determined how large proportion of the maximum bonus and of the incentive based
on the acquisitron of Finnair shares will be paid In a three-year period, the total of the share bonuses, however, could not
exceed three years’ gross earnings

If key individuals belonging to the share bonus scheme purchased Finnair Ple shares during 2010-2012 they were paid a
cash incentive bonus 1n the spring of the year following the acquisittons  The incentive bonus was paid on the correspond-
ing relabion to the value of the shares acquired by the key indwidual as he or she had fulfilled the set targets This bonus
was supplemented by a cash sum which in most cases corresponded to taxes znd tax-related payments ansing to key ind
viduals from the receipt of their bonus In any single vear of the performance period the number of acquired shares taken
into account that it could be at most half of the key individuals share bonus allocation, 1 e the number of shares that the
key mdrndual could at most recerve as a share banus for the year in question The size of the cash bonus was determined
as follows number of shares acquired by key tndmidual x the company s share price at the time of payment x the target e
alisabion percentage x 2.5

Shares were earned annually in the period 2010-2012 The long-term incentive for the three-year penod was achieved
at an average level of 43% 'This share based incentive for the full three-year period was paid in spring 2013 and 708,679
shares were granted At the same time, a cash bonus intended for payment of taxes was paid, amounting to 1 5 emes the
value of the shares at the time of payment After the payment of shares, there was an embarge en their sale and shares were
held in lock-up until end 0f 2015 A total amount of 5.3 mullion euros was paid related to the plan, of which 18 millon
euros was delivered as shares 2.7 million euros pard as cash to cover tax payments and G 8 euros paid as incentive bonus
based on the purchase of shares

The income statement effect related to the plan has been accrued to vesting period 2010-2015 based on the applied
IFRS 2 standard The effect un 2015 results totalled 0 2 milhon eurus {0 2)




STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION  FINANCE  GOVERNANCE

13 7 2 Pensions

Eoefined benefit and defined contribution plans
Penslon plans are tassthied as defined benehit and dehined contribution plans Payments made Into detined contribution pens:on plans
are recognrsed in the income statement in the pened to which the payment applies. Typcally defined benefit plans define an amount
of pension benefit that an employee wilt recenve on retirement. usually dependent on one or more factors such as age years of service
and compensation Curnent service cost is the present valua of the pest emplgyment benefit which is earned by the employees dunng
the vear and it is recognised as employee benedit expense Fhe liability recognised In the balance sheet in respect of defined penslon
plans Is the present value of the defined henefit obligation at the end of the reporling penod less the fair value of plan assets The de-
fined benehii obligatian 15 calculated annuyally by iIndependent actuanes using the projected unit credit method The present value of
Lhe defined benelit obligations 15 determuned by discounting the estimated future cash flows using Interest rates of gh-quality corpo-
rate bonds that are denominated i the currency in which the benefits will be paxd and that have tarms to maturity approximating to
the terms of the related pension obligation,

Actuarial gans and losses ansing from expenence adpustments and changes in aciuanial assumptions are charged or credited to eg-
Ity m other comprehenssve Income i the period i which they anse EY

H The present value of the pension obligatians depends on a number of factors that are determuned on an actuarat basis using a
number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension ebligations. The note befow in-
cludes a descnption of Exposbre to most significant nsks and a sensitvity analysts on mmpacts of changes in actuarial assumptions. H

Description of pension plans In Finnalr

The statutory penston cover of the employees of the Group’s Finmish companies has been arranged in 2 Finmish pension in-
surance company The statutory pension cover is a defined-contribution plan The Group's foreign sales offices and subsid-
1aries have vartous defined contnbution plans that comply with local rules and practices The voluntary pension schermes
of three members of the Executrve Board are arranged mn a pension insurance company and the retirement age under these
agreements is on average 63 years These pension schemes are defined-contribution schemes Other (voluntary) pension
cover of the Groups domestic cempanies has been arranged mainly in Finnair Plc s Pension Fund, i which the penston
schemes are defined-beneht plans These pension plans cover old age pensions, disability and survivors’ pensions The pen
ston fund s fully funded in accordance with the provisions of Finnish law 700 Finnair pilots have, in addition to voluntary
penstonarranged in Finnatr Pension Fund, special defined-benefit pension scheme This scheme applies only to pilots whe
wurk oldcr than 58 years of age Voluntary pensions of pilols recruited tn 2015 or later are defined contribution schemes

Exposure to most significant risks
Volat:hity of plan assets Some of the plan assets are invested in equities which causes volatility but s in the long run ex-
pected to provide higher returns than corporate bonds The discount rate of plan obligations 15 defined based on the in-
terest rates of corporate bonds

Changes in bond yield A decrease in corporate bond yields increases plan obligations due to the fact that the pension
obligatien 1s discounted to net present vatue with a rate that 1y based on corporate bond rates This increase in plan obliga-
nons ts partially mitigated by a corresponding increase in the value of corporate bonds in plan assets

Life expectancy The most significant part of the prowided pension benefits relate to old age pensions Therefore, an n-
crease in Itfe expectancy rate results in an increase of plan obligations

Inflation nisk Pension obligations are linked to mflation whuch 1s why hugher inflation leads to increased obligations Asonly
some of the plan assets increase with inflation, an tncrease in inflation will likely decrease the solvency of the pension plan
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Defined benefit pension plans

EUR mil 2015 2014

Items recognised in the Incoms statement

" Current service costs - ’ 92 88
pastservicecost ) 53 17
Settlements and curtaiments ) i 02

Service cost tutal - - T 7 162 103

Net ==mﬂmmmxﬂmﬂ_mmu - T T T 05 Q3

‘Included in personnel expenses total 167 07

Amaunts recognised through other comprehensive income

Expenence m&ﬁ:.:ma on cr__ obbgation 28 244
n__msmmm n :E_._n_m_ m.nEm:m_ assumphans T - -289 505
Qﬁ:mmm n nm:._anqwc:_nm_ mn.E:m_ mmmca_uﬂa_.a 106 00
et return on plan assets 222 -220
Transter of mn:a:m_ itemns related to termenated u_mz to retained mm:._smm 01

b...e..:? ._!Hg_u& through other Saua_ﬂ_ﬂ_ﬁ Income total 317 4.1
zcaem- cqwmﬂwlaa svolved Ra_oal_,cwa - - ) - 4797 4502
052 defined henefit plans persons _=<a_<ma 10 v}
Items recognised in the balance sheet

EUR mill 2015 2014
Present value of funded abligations 4263 8360
“Farr value of plan assels T ; -4220 -4107
“Net deftned Ei___m Tt Gability a4 %1

The net defined benefit liabiity m 2015 includes 2 6 mithon euros (25 3} related to defined benefit plans msured through
pension fund and 1 7 mallion curos (0 1) related to other dehned benetit plans The decrease o nct ability s mamnly relat-
ed to the change in inflabion rate ption Finnair changed the basis used for inflation assumption to market based in-
flation Due to the change, the inflation rate decreased from 2 U% to 1 2% and future pension increase rate decreased from
2 1% to 1 4%. The discount rate (2 0%) remained in the same level as in 2014 (2 1%) These effects are included in the chang-
es1n financial assumptions The posttive effect was partially mitigated by the change in mortafity rate, mcluded in chang-
es 1n demographical assumptions [n the Finnish national pensten svstem, the mortality rate used will be updated from 31
December 2016 onwards The redefined assumption 1s applied tn accounting of IFRS pension hability already i the finan-

cial statements of 2015

E¥- Accounting principles
M = Critical accounting estimates
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The Finnish employee pension reform

In November 2015, the Finnush Parlament passed an amendment to Finnish employee pension legisktion, which inter alia
increases the statutory retirement age of the employees  The Board of Directors of Finnair Pension Fund has made a decision
in principle that the amendment of the pension legislation 1s incorporated in the rules of the fund so that the pension obliga-
tions of the fund remarn unchanged despite the change Finnair pilots’ pension benchts, which are provided by the fund and
which exceed the existing statutory pension benefits in Finland, form part of their collective labour agreement. Finnair con-
sidens that these benehts are not affected by the amendment of pension legsstation Finnaar has obtaimed a legal opinwn on
the imatter Finnatr has not recogmsed a supplementary obligaion due to the amendment of the employee pension tegislation

Changes In pension obligations
EUR mil) 2015 2014
Net present value of pension obligations at 1 January 4360 4069
" “Current service cost T - T T T ez 88
Past service cost i T T T T T T T u[lﬂ
mms_mm.mam maa?ﬁ___._._m\am T T T .:;\’ \cﬂ
_amammuun_._w_u o T T T oo T T 90 129
Expenses reccgnised in Income statement R ki
Changes In actuarial assumplions ’ 183 505
Experience adjustment on plan oa_ﬂmmﬂ_._. -0 /0 T/ - o \N m.11\ B Ma\_a
unaggéggaﬁu& T T T T Tt T lﬂu.m,. T a
Benefits pad T T T - lmo u.|| 07
Net present value of vnau_em. ea:uum_ﬂ..u T t]” - ) - lhwn.mk..“” 360
Chanyes in pfan assets
EUR mill T T TS 2014
Fair vzlue of plan assets at 1 January 4107 3963
Interest income i T i i o - I'Imwf 126
- . _ I —
Settlements and curtailments 00 05
ftems recognised through profit and loss - Y 131
.pn:,m:m_ gain {loss) on plan assets . - 00 T/ !.IININ NII - |~|N|o|
ﬁswgawa.g_.mc.m_._mn_nl - T - - T a2 220
Contributrens Ean - T T e L T
Benefits paxd o o o o Tt/ T -p.ou’|. 07
Falr value of plan assets at 31 December T T T aaa 4107
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Plan assets are comprised as follows

™ 2015 2014
Listed shares 2t 4 195
Debt instruments - - 7 ’ 536 " 534

“praperty - . 175 18.8

.M:w:\m«ii\\i\ - 0T o ) 75 83

Yot N ’ 100.0 100.0

Plan assets of the pension fund mclude Finnair Plc shares wath a fair value of 0 6 million euros (0 3) and buildings used by
the Group with a fair value of 2 0 mitlion euros (3 3)

Defined benefit plans: principal actvarial assumptions

2015 2014

Oiscount rate 20% 2 1%

eflaen - ’ 12% 20%
Annual rate of future salary Increases ) B - 2% 21%
Future on:mam_ 5n_.m3|mm 0 T i - 14% 2 1%
Estimated remawung <mmgmm|:=nm| - ’ B o ’ n i ) 1

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis describes the effect of change in actuanial assumptions to net defined benefit obhigatton  The analyasis
based una chanpe 1n an assumption while holding all uther assumptions constant The method used 1s the same as the gne
applied when measuring the defined benefit obligation recognised 1n the balance sheet

Sensitivity analysis on principal actuarial assumptions

impact when lcrease tpact when decrease

Change In in assumption, in assumption,
Actuarial assumption assumption EUR mill % EUR mill. “
Discount rate 03% 149 35% 158 I
Annual rate af future salary increases G 3% 46 11% 45 1 1%
Future pension increases 0.3% 111 26% 108 2 5%
Life expectancy at birth 1 year 121 29% 118 28%

According to Finnish legislation, the pension fund needs to be fully funded Expected contnbution payments for the next
five years are approximately 45 millien curos The amount of payments depends on future returns on plan assets

The duration of dehned benefit obhigation 1 14 93 years The duratipn 1s caleulated with a discount rate of 2 0%.
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2 Afrcraft and other Intangible and tangible assets and leasing arrangements

1 aircraft and other intangihte and tangible assets. and leasing arrangements nclude parbculary notes related to acraft Heet Notes re-
lated to the aircraft operated by the Group both owned and leased aircratt under different ¥ind of lease arrangements, are combined i this
section so that the general view of the fleet would be easier to percewve Il

The assets owned and leased by Finnair consist mostly of aircrafts operated by Finnair and Norma Approximately half of
the fleet operated 1s owned by Finnair More detailed mformation regarding owned airerafts s found 1in Note 2 | and re-
garding leased mircrafts in Note 2.2

Fleet

[ 2 Owned 36 “u_:w:n% Operating lease 33 )
m A AAAAAAAXX AAAXAXAXAXAXX
Bl AAAXAXAXXX AAAAXAXAXAXX
3 AAAAAXNAXAXA AAAXNXX
T IAAAAXX AN | AAAXXXX
: :

B Finnairoperated 46 W Norra operated 26

Investment commitments

At the end of financial year investment commutments totalled 1,818 rullion euros (1,950) including firm aircraft orders
and orders related to the building project of new cargo teerminal The total comnutment fluctuates between the order and
the delivery of the 2ircraft mainly due to exchange rate EUR/UUSD and the escatation clauses included in airline purchase
agreements The final amount of the commitment in refatson to cach amrcraft s only known at the bme of the delvery

Investment commitments
€ million

800

00—

OAG W Other
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2.1 Tangible assets

EXTangible assets are stated a1 historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss If appligable Tangibie assats
inchude manty aircraft The acquisition cost of arcraft 15 allocated to the aircraft frame engines and maintenace components as
separate assets Maintenance components include heavy mainienance of aircraft frames and performance restoration and mainte-
nance of bfe-imited parts of aircraft engines, and they are depraciatied during the maintenance cycle Arcraft frames and engines
are depreciated over the usefu! bie of the awcraft Syznhicant modifications of own or leased aircralt are capitalsed as separate lfems
and depreciated over the expected useful life which in the case of leased aircratt cannot exceed the lease penad Replaced com-
panents are derecogmnsed from the balance sheet Rotable items are capitalised and depreciated during their expected useful ife
Advance payments for aircraft are recorded as tangible assets. Interest costs retated to advance payments are capitained as
atquisition cost for the penod at which Finnarr is ftmancing the manutacturing of the aircraft Fals value changes of derivatives used
m hedging of cusrenty exchange rate risk related to firm commitments of alrcraft purchases are recognised in advane payments
Advante payments, realized fx hedges and capitalised interests are recogmised as a part of the awcralt acquisibon cost once the
awcraft is delivered and put to commercial use
Depreciation of tangible assets 15 based on the following expected economic {ifatimes
Aurcraft znd engines (awcraft) as well as fhght simulators (other equipment) on a straight Ime basrs as follows
= Airbus A350 fleet. over 20 years to a residual value of 109
~ Airbus A320 and Embraer fleet, over 20 years Lo a residual value of 10%
- Arbus A330 fleet over 18 years to a residual value of 10%
= Airbus A340 fleet, over 15 years to a residualvatue of 109%
- Turboprop aircraft (ATR Heet) over 12 years 0 a residual value of 10%
Heavy maintenance of aiwreraft frames 2nd performance maintenance and Lie imited parts of the engaes. on a stcaight kine basis
during the matntenance period
Rotable dems over 15-20 years to aresidual value of 10%
Bwidings over 50 years from ime of acquisition to A residual value of 109 or 3-79 of the dimimshing balances
Other tangible assets, over 3-15 years or 23% of the diminishing balances
The residual values and estimated useful fves of assets are assessed at each closing date and if they differ signihcantly fram prewi
ous estimates, the deprecation penods and residual values are changed accordingly
Gans and losses on disposal of tangible assets 15 ncluded i the non-recurring items,

Impalrment
On every closing date the Group reviews indmdual tangible asset items for any indtcatron of impairment losses An asset s carmying
amaount 15 wrtten down immediately to its recoverable amount of 1t s greater than the recoverable amount

The recoverable amount 1s defined for cash generatingunit ang need forimpairment is evaluated on the cash generating unit level.
The recoverable amount 15 the higher of the asset’s fair value bess costs to sell or 15 value in use The value m use 5 based on the ex-
pected discounted future net cash flows abtainable from the asset or cash-generating unit &Y

Himpairment testing

The recoverable ameunts of cash generating units have been determined in calculations based either on the value in use or on the sale
price less the expenses of the sale The preparation of these calculations requires the use of estimates £stimates are based on budgets
and forecasts, which inherently contain some degree of uncertainty The main uncertainty factors in calculatons are the USD/EUR and
1PY/EUR exchange rates unit revenue estamated sales volumes and jet fuel price

I - Content of the section
EN = Accounting principles
H - tritical accounting estimates
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Tangible assets 2015 - -
buildings  Other equlp-
EUR mill, Aboraft  and land ment Advances Total
Acquesitton cost 1 Jan 2015 16202 1385 724 664 18975
Additions T T T TTuer T 1a 17 w3 sl
osposals TOUUTTTTT T T Taeey aMas 155 TR
Currency hedgng of arcraft acqumsitigns ) T T T gy T 47 '
Reclasstications ) T T s T T T T T e z.
Transfer to assets held for sale o - 3113 167 YY)
Acqoisitioncost33Dec2015 13503 259 504 T .rmﬂ:,.
“Accumtated depreclation and imparrment 1 Jan 2015 8426 1084 438 " 5997
Disposals T o mE #;i| _.cmlwr Iwmn. - * -imahbm.
Depreciation fos the ::mam_m_ year T T 942 36 25 -31 ﬁw
cmu—mn_m:o:\sl:o: anm:_:n items T T o |u|_ ~| 92 01 - Mcm.
Reclassthcations B o T | T3 LY
Transfer 10 assets beld for sale 1903 152 " aoss
Actumulated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2015~ 667§ 33 a7 Mri.mmm..a“
- . - - e e e e —— '
Book value 31 Dec 2015 682.8 22.6 287 775 B11.6

The carrying value of rotable parts included 1n arrcraft 1s 15 1 millon euros {13 2} [n addition, inventories include non-ro-
table arrcraft parts of 10 1 million euros (13 1)
The value of arrcraft that have been pledged as a security for external loans amount to 250 0 mullron euros (314 8)
Currency hedging of arrcraft acquisitons are described wn Notes 3 5 Management of financial nsks and 3 8 Denvatives

Tangihle assets 2014 i}
Bulldings Other
EUR mif} Alrcratt and land equipment Advances Totad
Acquisibion cost 1 Jan 2014 2,052 2 1488 797 660 23427
>E.H_ma_d ) - ) T -|I.|Iamm~| i ||_c|ﬂ. .Mau,a.
osposats S T T Ty 55 3668
Q:m:c_, :mxaﬂwm of m:mnqm_maﬁ_m_:loa - 641 i .Na ~¢
Reclassifications ’ T T 1z 2 mL L)
Transter to assets m.o_n for sale T - H:mlallnt muiw!r.. T ip.mwm ol.
Acquisltion cost 31 Dec 2018 1602 1385 724 .Wuil».ﬂmq.m._
. . . . —_—
Accumurated depreciation and impairment 1 Jan 2014 -8880 -1123 -498 -10501
Disposals - T T T T - 54 EETED
Depregiation for the financial year o T T |.~|~u M 12 41 mm m )
Depreciation in non-recur{ing (tems ) -l m- - 02 — }I |~ 4
Transfer to assets held for sale T T Y Y a1
‘Actumttated depreciation and impairment 31 Dec 2014 -B426  -108.4 “8.8 R u”
T T T T Tms 30.1 54 564 8028’

Book value 31 Dec 2014
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Capitalised hormowing costs
Alrcraft Advances Total

EUR mill 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Book vale 1 lan 19 19

adons T T 50 19” 71 19
Disposals - ) 19° 19
mmn_mmw_:nma_mn T T 08 08 i : ]

Book value 31 Dec o T : 6.1 19 71 19

Tn 2015, borrowang costs of 7 1 mill:on euros (1 '9) were capitalised in tangtble assets related to the Airbus A350 investment
program The interest rate used was 50 per cent, which represents the costs of the lan wsed to hnance the investment

Capitalised borrowing costs on aircraft 1s not yet depreciated, because the A350 arrcraft and spare engine wete recerved at
the end of financial year Disposals are related to the sale and leasebacks of two A350 arrcraft

Impairment test

The impairment test of the aircraft based on the fatr value has been dane on the closing date It did not cause any need for
imparrment The test based an the farr value 1< sensitrve to exchange rate FUR/USD and the weakenming of the USD de-
creases the fair value of aircraft The farr value of aircraft would stll be higher than the carrying value, if the USD would
weaken by 10 per cent.

2,2 Leasing arrangements

ElThe Group as the lessee
Lease agreements of tangible assets where a substantial part of the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group are
classthed as fwnance feases Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease term at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the mimmum lease payments A correspanding sum s recognised as a hinance lease liability
The lease payments are aflocated between finance expenses and the reduction of the cutstanding labifity The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in the fong term or short term interest bearing hlabihities. Asset items acquired under
finance leases are deprecsated over the shorter of the useful hife of the asset or the lease term.

Lease agreements, where the Iessor retans a substantial part of the risks and rewards. are classfied as operating leases. Payments
under pperating leases are charged o the income statement gver the lease term to lease payments for aircrat ¢not Included in opera-
tional EBITDAR) of Lo other rents for Jacdities, purchased traffic and temporary arcraft leases

The Group as the lessor
The agreements, where the Group 1s the lessor are accounted for as operating leases, when a substantsal part of the nisks and rewards
of ownership are not transferred to the lessee The assets are included m the tangible assats and they are depreciated during their use-
ful kife Depreciation 15 caleulated usmg the same principles as the tangible assets for own use Under the provisions of certamn awcraft
lease agreements the lessee 15 required to pay a penodic maintenance reserve which accumutate funds for aircralt mantenance Ad
vaces recerved for marntenance are recogrised as fiability which s charged when matntenance s done

The rents for premises are recognised in the income statement as other operating mcome over the lease term and the rents for air-
craft as revenue

Sale and leaseback transactions

If the salle and leaseback transaction 1s resulting in a finance lease agreement, the difference between the selling pnce and the garrying
amotnt of the asset sold Is deferred and amortised ever the lease penad 1f the sale and leaseback transactton s resulting in an operating
lease agreement, the difference between the sefling price and the carrying amount of the asset sold s recogmised i the income state-
ment when the selling price 15 based on fair value Otherwise the sales gain or less is deferred and amortised over the trase perigd Y

BN = Accounting prnciples
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H critical accounting estimates and sources of uncertainty

The classtfication of kease arrangements in the Group s Airline Business to financia! and other leases requires management discretion
mierpretation and apphication of accounting standards Where the management has made a judgement that risks and rewards of gwn
ersup belong 1o the Group, the lease is treated as a finane1at lease, otherwrse as other lease.

Finance lease arrangements

£uRr mill Bulldings Alreraft  Other equipment Tatat

Acquisttion cost 42 1972 84 2098

,P_.._n_n"—o:m T T T T |m:.l| - ||m‘
Ursposals - T 3. 06 a7
Accumulated depreciation ’ 05 680 47 ﬂw.
Bookvaloe31Dec20L5 T ee T T ez 38 T T
>E=_m_‘=o= cost i - ll.nm ) Gu'm._n o .m 4 ! i ..Nlao|m_
>|R=_.==_m~mn_ deprectation -7 S ..owf o }.m...o %.a 1 T -:Immlm-
Book value 31 Der 2014 T T Y 33 a3 T TY

Facilities tn Kunteistd Oy) Lentijintie 1 under finance lease arrangement were rectassified as operating lease arrange-
ment tn 2015

Finance lease llabilitles
Present value of
Minimum lease payments Fotore financlal expenses rinimum lease payments

EUR mill 2015 014 2015 2014 2015 2014
less than a year 175 175 13 21 162 154
15 years ’ 688 3 T T T e 657 641
q_aa?m:\mﬁua i ) 241 o S‘m$\‘ \lmwv B 83 Muﬂfl ul'tm;
Total T T T e’ pras T T as’ T wa sy 1210

Finance lease habilites mamnly include three Airbus A330 atrcraft, whose mimimum lease payments are 106 2 million eu-
ros (1195} future financial expenses 4 5 milion eeros (7 1) and present value of minumum lease payments 101 7 million
euros (112 5) [n addition, hability includes finance lease agreements of ground transportation equipment, and at the end
of 2014 also in Kanitetstd Oy) Lentajante 1

H - Critcal accounting estimates
Y = Accounting principles
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Gther lease arTangements

Mintmum lease payments for Irrevocable leass agreements, the Group as lessee

Alrcraft Premises and lang Gther equipment
EUR mill 2015 014 2015 2014 2015 2014
less than a year 12846 895 245 202 55 63
TSyears B a5 2536 803" 754 11 26
“more than 5 years ags2 w7’ 1837 ~ 1818
Tatal T iLos3z” e3sa’ w86 237 166" 89

‘The Group has leased premuses as well as arrcraft and other fixed assets with irrevocable lease agreements These agree-
ments have different levels of renewal and other index-linked terms and conditions The Group has leased 37 arrcraft on
leases of different lengths Rental payments of aircraft have increased mainly because of the sale and leaseback of Fmbraer
E190, ATR 72 and Awbus A350 aircraft

Minimum lease payments for Irrevocable lease agresments, the Group as lessor

Aircraft Premises
EUR milt 2015 014 2015 2014
less than a year B9 525 52 52
1-5 years D1 Tar3” 09 T 20
more than 5 years TOT T Ter T a3e i
oot 728 1400 a2 70.8

The Group has leased premuses as well as aircraft with irrevocable lease agreements These agreements have different levels of
renewal and otherindex-linked terms and condibons The Group has leased 30 arcraft on leases of differunt lengths Terevo-
cable aircraft lease agreements have decreased due to terminating lease agr of E170 awrcraft at the beginning of 2016

2.3 Intangible assets

EXintangible assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and imparrment loss it apphicable EY

Intangible assets tn Finnatr at the end ¢f 2015 amounted to 9 5 million euros (18 4} and the depreciations and impairments
recogmised 10 2015 amounted to 4 6 milhon euros (5 7) Intangible assets mainly include computer software amounting to
62 mulhon euros (8 9), and they are depreciated over useful hife of 3-8 years Other intangible assets mainly include con-
nection fees which are not depreciated The goodwill inctuded in intangible assets amounts to |2 mifhon cures (1 2)and
based on umpairment testing there was no indication of impairment at the end of 2015
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3 capital strueture and financing costs

3.1 Financial income and expenses

I The notes related to fnancral assets liahhities and equnty have been gathered inlo the capital structure and financing Costs-section in order
to gve a better overview of the Groups hinzreia! position, Mote Earmings per share has been added to the equity sectron, [l

Einterest income and expenses

inferest Income and expenses are retogmised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method Interest expense srelated to

financing of sigrificant investments are capitalised as part of the asset acquisition cost and depreciated over the useful hfe of the asset
More detailed information about fmancial assets can be found in Note 3.2 and about nterest bearing katulities in Note 3 3.

EUR mill 2015 2014
Interest income from hnancial assets classihed as feld for trading 12 25
Othertnancalingome T T T T T T e T 0w
Fnmciaticometstal i ay
Interest m.numam:'oa financial __Maﬂ_m_% Mmﬁ_._._iam_wma mnnc_mm_%....oﬂ -13 9Q
Interest on finance leases o T T T T e 2%
Exchange gams and losses Tt T B Y R 06
Other _swsn_m__qumamm T T T - T -148
Interest rate swaps fair value Z&mmul -7 o " T WW. T mmu
Fair vatue adjustment to bond _Enr‘_\m_ﬂﬂm::mmmww_m to nterest rate risk T .mnN T 58
Financlal expenses total T - “||- I-|.|r.|I|Mat.|.|-!.rf..;a.u._”' L rE.urn.o
Financial expenses, net T T T T T T TaaT 234

In the etfectivencss testing of the Group's hedge accounting, both cash flow and fair value hedging were found to be efficient
Thus, as 1n the companson year 2014, no inefhciency 15 included in the financial items for 2015 Finanoal income includes an
identical amount of proht and loss for fatr value hedging instruma nts and for hedging ttems resultmg from the hedged nsk

1n 2015, the exchange gains and losses recognised in Ainancial expenses consist of net realised exchange losses of 3 2 mil-
lion euro and unrealised net exchange losses of 1 9 mullion euros During the year 2015, 7 1 million euros of interest was
capitalised regarding the A350 irivestment program {19) Other financial expenses in 2014 include a write down of 108
million euros subordinated loan (incheding interest) given to the Nordic Regional Airlines group More mformatien about
Nordic Regional Aurhines can be found in Notes 4 5 [nvestments in associates and joint ventures and 4 6 Related party trans-
actions, and about capitalised mterest in Note 2.1 Tangible assets

I = Content of the section
X « Accounting principbes
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3 2 Financial assets

EVFinancial assets
Inthe Group. financlal assets have been classified into the following categories according to the 1AS 39 standard “Financial Instruments
Recogmiwn and Measurement” financial assets at kair value through prohit and loss tassets held for trading) held-to-matunty invest-
ments, [oans and other recenvables as well as available-for sale financial assers The classification rs made on the basis of the purpose
of the acquisition of the ranciat assets in connection with the oniginal acquisition All purchases and sales of financial assets are rec-
ognised on the trade date

The financiat asset category recogmsed at far value through profit and loss includes assets held for trading purposes and assets
measured al far valoe through profit and loss on iilial recognition, Financlal assets af fair value through profit and 1055 have mainly
been acquired to obtain a gaw from shori term changes n markel prices. All those dertvatives that do not fulfil the conditions for the
apphcatron of hedge accounting are dassified as hnanoial assets at furvalue through prohit and loss and are valted at fair vatiue in each
financial statement Realised and unreaksed gains and losses ansing trom changes in fair value are recognised io the income state-
ment in the period mwhich they arse Financial assets at fair value through proht 2nd loss as well as those matunng within 12 months
are included in current assets

In Finnair Group, unquoted shares are valued at therr acquisiien price in the absence of a reliable fair value

Loan rececvables and other receivables are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Loans and other recervables
nclude trade recenvables, deferred charges, other long-term recenvables and securly deposits for aircraft operational lease agreements.

Derecogrtion of inancial assets takes place when the Group has lost its contractual mght to recene cash Hlows 6r when it has sub-
stantally transferved the risks and rewards outstde the Group

Impairment of financial assets
Al the end of each reporting penod, the Group assesses whether there 15 obyective evidence that a financial asset or a group of finangial
assets 1s impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assers 1S impared and emparrment losses are ncurred anly if there 15 abjective
evidence of iImpairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recogrinion of the asset {a foss event”) and that
loss event (or events}has a reliably estimated impact on the estimated future cash fows of the financial asset or groun of financial assets
When 3 recelvable 1s impaired the Group reduces the carrying amount o #ts recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 15 the
estrmated future cash flow discounted at the orginal effectve interest of the mstrument. From there on the reversal of the discount
effect 1s booked as interest income. The loss 15 recogrised in profit and loss. interest incame on impaired loans s recognrsed using the
onginal effective mierest rate

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash reserves and shor t<term bank deposits with a matunty of less than three months. Foregn ex-
change-denominated items have been converted to euros wsing the cosing date rmid-market exchange rates EY
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3 Z 1 Other current financial assets

EUR mill } 2015 2014
Commercial papers certificates and bonds 3826 2879
Lc:@ market funds - 357 355
.cm_urom_m amamq_z.m_z more than 3 menths 94 94
Total S i_,_wsmf T s
Ratings of counterparties - | T T lml

Better thanh T Y 66
T T T T s 1340
w8 T T N 1295 0
BB T T T/ Il T w00
T T T N Tt E)
Total T T o T T T ey T T

The Group's fnancial asset investments and risk management pohicy are described 1n more detail in Note 3 5 Manage-
ment of financial risks The IFRS classifications and fatr values of financial assets are presented in Note 3 6 Classification of
financial assets and liabiliies

3 2.2 Cash and cash equivatents

EUR mill T 015 2014
Cash and bank deposits 2705 631
Deposits maturing in less than 3 menths 101 302

qonu._ E.h cu.a
The items include cash and bank deposits realised on demand Foreign currency cash and bank deposits have been valued
using the closing date mid-market exchange rates The reconcihation of cash and cash equivalents is altustrated in the notes
of the consolidated cash flow statement

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015 57

3.3 Financial llabllities

ENFinancial liabilities
Financial habiities are mitially recogrised at fair value on the basis of the onginal corsideration recerved Transaction costs have been
inciuded i the ongmal book value of the financial iabilities, Thereafter alf non-derivative hinancial kabilthies are valued at amortised cost
using the effective interest method Friancial habdities are ircluded in long- and short tarm habilities and they can he interest hearing
or non interest-bearing Loans that are due for payment within 12 menths are presented in the short-term fiabilities
Faresgn currency foans are valued at the mid market exthange rate on the closing date ang translation differences are recogmsed in
the fimancal tems
Actounts payable are initially recognsed at fair value and sihsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective mterest method
Derecogrition of financial labikities takes place when the Group has tulfilled the contractual obligations EY

Non-current liabilities

EUR mill 2015 2014
Bank loans 263 768
Bonds - o 7 1552 1553
Finance lease labiities - T |moa| nEmo
Interest-bearing liabilities total T i 2710 377
Non-interest-bearing habiities T ) 158 221
Total - 868 3598

Non-interest-bearmg habilittes mainly include leases and matntenance reserves related to the aircraft leased to other airlines

Current Interest-hearing liabillties

EUR mill 2015 2014
Bank laans 519 397
Commercial papers T N 280
Tinance lease hiabilities T o 162 T 154
Other loans - T 77 ’ 71 T mlm.
o 7 T o Tome

1KY = Accounting prngiples
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Matunty dates of interest-bearing financial ' Maturity dates of interest-bearing finandlal
{labilities 31 Dac 2015 EUR mil) 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Later Total [tabilitles 3t Dec 2014 EUR mill 2015 2016 2017 2018 019 Later Total
Bank lpans fixed interest 238 00 [1]¢} oo 00 00 2318 Bank Joans fixed (nterest 235 238 00 00 oo oo 473
Bank loans variable interest - T TY 172 12 83 00 00 se9 Bankloans varable nterest 162 152 127 103 148 00 692
Bonds " go  op 1500 00 oo 00 1500 Bonds T T T ag 00’ 00 1500 0o 00 1500
Commercial papers [ 1 00 o0 00 00 00 oo “Commercil papers 280 00 00 0o 00 00 0
Finance lease habites 162 161 61 166 170 738 1057 Finance lease habilifes T 153 158 164 167 arz 110
Other loans I T T L) 00 00 YRIY Otherloars &8 00 00 0o 00 90 68
Interest-bearing financial Habillties total 72 333 1673 49 176 238 34Ls “Interest-bearing financial labllties total 899 583 |6 1787 .5 12 a2
Paymenis from currency dervatves 10220 4313 00 00 0o 00 14533 Payments from currency dernatves 9149 2915 2144 00 oo o0 14208
“tncome from currency derwvatives T s 5 5015 o ,Imc ) o0 o¢ o0 .i._ ocmc. Income w_.oﬂn__:.m.:ﬁ dervatves 10104 -3232 -2471 00 00 00 -15807
Commacity dervatves 1476 234 01 060 00 oo 11 Commodity dervatves. T T sz sz 00 00 00 0o 1904
Interest rate dervatves o0 02 52 00 00 00 50 CInterest rate derwatves 25 00 06 58 00 00 27
Equity derrvalives T 00 oo 00 41 o0 so A1 ‘Equity dervatives ’ o 00 00 00 6o 06 a0 o6
Trade payables and other labiwes 8728 00 00 00 a0 o0 8728 Trade payables and other labiities ~~ 60D8 00 00 60 00 ac” 5008
“interest payments T T 62 51 Tss o 00 00 s ‘Interest payments 7T s 68 61 61 01 00 85
Total T 7T T T a0, s 1678 208 17.0 08 L2400 ol T 750.4 675 21 1769 e 42 10787
Part of the Joans are secured by bank guarantees Bank loan repayments include 23 8 mmilion euros secured debt payments
in the year 2016. Bank loans include a long-term currency and interest rate swap that hedges one loan The interest rate
Maturity dates of interest-bearing financlat liabilities re-fixing period for varable interest loans es three or six months The fixed mterest bond maturing in 2018 does not inclizde
€ miflion the 5 Z million euros market value of the interest rate swap Additionally, the bond does not include the amortised cost of
04 million cure which was pad 1n 2013 Therefore, the total amount of interest-boaning financial liabilitic s ditfees from the
200 book value by the amount equal to the market value of the interest rate swap and the amortised cost  The mimimum lease
1673 payments, discount values and present values of finance lease labilities are presented in Note 2 2 Leasing arrangements
150 The currency mux of mterest-hearing habilities (ncluding cross currency interest rate swaps) 15 as follows
100 EUR mill. 2015 2014
B2 EUR 3282 4073
uso S T T T 0 181 202
50 33 ot 77T ) u63 @276
. o 8 - N T T - -
[V} I I ‘The weighted average effective interest rate on interest-bearing long-term liabibittes was 3 4 % (3 3)
16 7 18 F.H Later
[ Bank lpans, fixed Interest B Bonds fixed m{erest M Other loans tnterest rate re-fixing period of interest-bearing liabifities
3 Bank loans variable interest B Fmance lease liabilitres 2015 2014
Up to 6 months 93 1% 877%
t2zmonths 7 00% 00%
-5yeas 69% 113%
More than § years T - ) 00% 10%
- - T T i 100.0% 100 0%

Total
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3.4 Contingent Habilitles
EUR mill 2015 2014
0ther pledges given on own behalf 1601 1811
Guarantees on hehalf of group companies 670 728
Guarantees on behall of others 01 22

Total 2272 256.1

3 5 Management of financial risks

Principtes of financial risk management
The nature of Finnair Group’s business operations exposes the company to a variety of financial nisks foreign exchange,
interest rate, credit and liqredity, and commodity price risks ‘The Groups policy ts to imit the uncertainty caused by such
risks on cash flow, financial performance and equity

The management of financial risks 15 based on the risk management policy approved by the Board of Directors The
policy specifies the mimimum and maximum levels permatted for each type of risk Financial risk management 1s directed
and supervised by the Financial Risk Steering Group Practical impler of sk t policy and risk man-
agement have been centralised to the parent company’s finance department

In the risk management of foreign exchange, mterest rate, jet fuel positions, and electnicity price nsk, the company uses
different derwative instruments, such as forward contracts, swaps and options At inception, dervatives are designated
as hedges for future cash fluws {cash flow hedges), hedges fur firm orders (hedges of the fair value of firm commitments)
or as financral denvatives not qualifying for hedge accounting {economic hedges} 1n terms of the hedging of future cash
flows (cash flow hedging), Finnair Group implements foresgn exchange hedging of lease payments, interest rate hedging
of the issued bond (fair value hedging), hedging of the jet fuel price and foreign exchange risks and hedging of the elec-
trcity price risk and as hedges of the fair value of firm commitment aircraft purchases, in accordance with the hedge ac-
counting principles of IAS 39

o

Fuel price risk in Hight operations
Fuel price risk means the cash flow and financial performance uncertainty arising from fuel price fluctuations

Finnair hedges against jet fuel price fluctuations using jet fuel forward contracts and options As the underlying asset
of jet fuel derivatives, the Jet Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE index 15 used. as over 60 per cent of Finnair's fuet purchase contracts
are based on the benchmark price index for North and West Europe jet fuel deliveries

Finnatr applies the pninciple of ime-diversification n its fuel hedging According to the nsk management policy, the
hedging horizon ts two years The risk management policy states that hedging must be increased during each quarter of
the year so that the hedge ratio for Finnair s Scheduled Passenger Traffic 15 more than 60 per cent for the first six months
and thercafter, a lower hedge ratic applies for each penod By allocating the hedging, the fuel cost per period 1s not as low
as the spot-based price when prices fall, but when spot prices rise the fuel cost nses more slowly

In terms of accounting, Hmnair recognises jet fuel hedges in two different ways The hedges of the first approximately 40
percentage points of consumption per peried are treated as cash-flow hedges in accounting, in accordance with the hedge
accounting principles of [AS 39 Changes in the fair value of derivatives defined as cash-flow hedges, in accardance with
1A5 39, are posted directly in the fair value reserve in equity ‘The change in fair value recognised tn the hedging reserve
n equity 1s reversed into the income statement at the same time as the hedged transaction 1s realised Changes in the far
value of hedges excluded from hedge accounting — which do not fulfil the hedge accounting critena of LAS 39 - are recog-
mised 1n the fair value changes in derivatives over the tenor ime of the dervative

At the end of the financial year, Finnair had hedged 67 per cent of 1ts fuel purchases for the first six months of 2016 and
53 per cent of the purchases for the second half of the year [n the financial year 2015, fuel used in flight operations account-
ed for approximately one fourth compared to the Groups revenue At the end of the financial year, the forecast for 201615
approximately one fifth compared to the Group's revenue On the closing date, a 10 per cent rise in the market price of jet
fuel - excluding hedging actvity calculated using Scheduled Passenger Traffic’s forecasted Aights — increases annual fuel
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costs by an estimated 32 million euros On the closing date - taking hedging into account — a 10 per cent rise 1n fuet lowers
operating profit by around 14 mullion earos The situation as of 31 December 2015 represents the mean of a calendar year

Forelgn exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk means the uncertainty in cash flows and financial performance arising from exchange rate fluctuations

Finnair Group's foreign exchange risk mainly arises from fuel and aircraft purchases, aircraft lease pavments and foreign
currency sales revenue Somewhat less than 60 per cent of the Group's rey enue 15 denomunated 1in curos The most impor-
tant foreign sales currencies are Japanese yen (8 per cent, percentage of revenue), Chinese yuan (7 per cent, Swedish krona
{5 per cent) and US dollar {3 per cent) Approximately half of the Group s operating custs are denominated in foreign cur-
rencies The mostL important purchasing currency 15 US dollar, which accounts for somewhat over 40 per cent of all oper-
ating costs Signihicant dollar-denominated expenses are fuel custs and arrcraft lease payments  The largest investments —
arrcraft and their spare parts — also mainly take place in US dollars

The nsk management policy divides the foreign exchange pasition inte two parts, a prefit and loss position and an in-
vestment position

The profit and loss posiien mainly consists of dollar-denominated expenses and revenue 1n a number of different curren-
cies The purpose of currency nsk hedging ~ for P&L expnsure ~ 15 to cut the volatility of eash flows and operating income
due to fluctuating currency prices This i1s done using a layered hedging strategy for the twe biggest currencies and utihis-
ng diverstfication benefits of the portfolin of various currencies The hedging limits are set only for the mam contnibutors
of currency nisk the US dollar and the Japanese yen For these two currencies, the hedging honizon 15 two years, which 15
divided inte four six-month perieds In order to achieve time diverseheation, the mimmum hedge ratio for the dosest six-
month period is 60 per cent with a decreasing slope ending at zero per cent for the fourth six-month period Even though
the pohuy dues not require hedging of smaller currency flows, it 15 allowed, in which case the layered hedgmg strategy s
partially applied although no mimmum hedging ratio 1s required

‘The wnvestment position includes all foreign exchange denominated aircraft investments for which a binding procure-
ment contract has been signed According to the nsk management policy, at least half of the investments recognised in the
balance sheet must be hedged after the signing of a firm order New hedges i the investment position will be made as an
TAS 39 fair value hedge of a firm commitment

At the end of the financial year, Finnair had a hedge ratie of 81 per cent in the USD-basket and 67 per cent in PY for
the coming 12 months On the closing date — excluding hedges ~ a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the
euro has a negative impact on the annual result of around 56 million euros and a 10 per cent weakening of the Japanese yen
agawnst the euro has a negative impact on the annual result of around 18 million euros On the closing date — taking hedg-
ing into account — a 10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar weakens the result by around 10 milhion euros and a 10 per
cent weakening of the Japanese yen weakens the resnlt by around 9 million eures In the above numbers, the USD-basket
nisk also includes the Chunese yuan and the Hong Kong dollar, whose historical correlation with the doflar 1s high The sit-
uation as of 31 December 2015 well represents the mean of a calendar yeat

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk means the cash flow and financial performance uncertainty ansing from interest rate fluctuations

In Finnair Group the interest rate risk 1s measured using the interest rate re-fixing period 1f necessary, interest rate de
nivatives are used to adjust the interest rate re-fiang pertod  According to the nsk management policy, the mandate for the
vestment portfolio’s interest rate re-fixing period 1s 0—12 months and for interest bearing habilittes 0-24 months On
the closing date the investment portfolio’s interest rate re-fixing period was approximately 4 months and approximately
3 months for interest-bearing Labthities On the closing date, a one percentage point rise in interest rates increases the an-
nual mterest mncome of the investment porifohio by approximately 2 9 mithon euros and the interest expenses of the loan
portiolio by approximately 2 6 million euros The situation as of December 31 well represents the mean of a calendar year

Barrowings 1ssued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value nterest rate risk The group s applying hedge account-
mg (farr value hedge) in order to hedge the fair value interest rate risk of its 150 million euro fixed rate unsecured bond 1s-
sued m August 2013

Future Jease agreements expose the group to interest rate nisk, as the interest rate 15 one component of the lease price The
mterest rate 1s fixed when the lease payments start 1f necessary, the group can hedge this exposure with cash flow hedges
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Credit risk

The Group 15 exposed to counterparty risk when investing its cash reserves and when using derrvative instruments The
credit nisk 15 managed by only making contracts with financially sound domestic and foreign banks, financial institutions
and brokers, within the framework of nsk management policy of counterparty nsk hmits Liquid assets are also invested
in bonds and commercial papers issued by conservatively selected companies, according to company-specific lirnits Thas
way, the nisks towards single counterparties are not significant Change in the farr value of Group loans rise from chang-
es1n FX and interest rates, not from credit risk The Groups' maximum exposure to credit risk 1s other financial asscts are
presented in Note 3 2 1 Other current financial assets, cash and cash equivalents presented in Note 3 2 2 and trade receiv-
ables presented in Note 1 2.3

Uquidity risk
The goal of Finnair Group 15 to maintamn good hquidity Liquidity 15 ensured by cash reserves, bank account limmts, hquid
money market investments and committed credit facilihes With respect to aircraft acquisitions, the company pohcy 15 to
secure financing, for example through commutted loans, at a mmimum of four months poor to delivery Counterparties of
Groups' long term loans arc solid financial institutions with good reputation

The Group s hquid assets wete 708 2 million euros at the end of financial year 2015 Finnair Ple has a domestic commer-
cral paper program of 200 muthon eures, which was not in use on the closing date In addition, Finnar has a 180 milhon
euros cominitted credit facility unused  The credit facility includes a finance covenant based on adjusted geartng The cov-
enant level of adjusted geaning 15 175 per cent., while at the closing date the figure was 45 8 per cent The maximum level set
by the Board of Directors 15 175 per cent.

Capital management
The aim of the Group's capital management is, with the aid of an opimum capital structure, to support business operations
by ensuring normal operating conditions and to increase shareholder value with the best possible return being the gosl
An opumal capital structure also ensures lower capital costs The capital structure 1s mfluenced via, for example, dividend
distribution, share 1ssues, and other equity-like capital transactions The Group can vary and adjust the level of dnadends
paid to shareholders, the amount of capital returned to them or the number of new shares issued The Group can also de-
cide on sales of asset items 1n order to reduce debt Respectively, Finnair can decide on payments of interest and capital
of the hybrid bond The aim of Finnair s dividend policy 15 to pay on average at least one third of the earnings per share as
dividend duning an economic cycle

The development of the Group s capital structure 1s continuousty monitored using the adjusted gearing When calculat-
ing adjusted gearing, adjusted interest-bearing net debt 15 divided by the amount of sharcholders’ equity The Group's ad-
justed gearing at the end of 2015 was 45 § per cent (107 5)

Sensitivity analysis of the falr vahie reserve

If the price of Jet fuel CIF NWE had been 10 per cent hugher, the balance of the reserve would have been 21 2 million euros
(26 7) mgher Correspondingly, a 10 per cent weaker Jet fuel CTF NWE price would have reduced the reserve by 21 2 million
euros (26 7} In terms of the US dollar. a 10 per cent weaker level would have lowered the balance of the fair value reserve
by 50 3 malhon euros (53 2) and a 10 per cent stronger dollar would have had a positive impact of 50 3 million euros (53 2)
Electricity price hedging was ineffective at the end of the year 2015, thus their valuation would have had no impact to the
balance of the fair value reserve (0 0) The effect of change in interests to the fair value reserve 1n own equity 1s not essential
The enclosed sensitivity figures do not take into account any change in deferred tax hability {tax assets)

3 6 Classification of financial assets and liabitities
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Hedge  Financlal assets at  Availabte for
accounting  fairvalue through sale financlal  Leoans and Valued at Book

EUR mill tems profit and toss assets receivables  amortised cost vatue
31 Dec 2015

Financial assets T ) o )
Recervables - . ) - 04 o .m 3 a .__-
gmq financial assets ST T - .ﬁm 3 T ) YR amww..
Trade recewables and other recevables T ) ) C 208 5 2085
Dermatwes T ez 25 i T1s57
Cash and cash equivalents -0 o - i 2805 i 280 m-
Eook value total 7T Taz T Twmes ‘o2 s0e7 i 1,0811
Falr value total 'ilL T o13a2 308 " o4 5067 10811
Financial Nabilitles T ) -
Interest cmmlz_..m habiliies o T ) -Nhﬁ._ 5 2405
“Finance lease labibtes T . 1057 1057
Dervatives N - lmwm - 372 . - - 1806
Trade pavables and other labilties T 158 6820 6978
Book valve total T T s 12 158 10283 1,246
Fair value total TTTwa 0 w2 T T 158 10283 1,2247

In this note interest rate dersvatives {currency and interest-rate swaps) are included in denvatives [n other notes they are
wncluded in bank loans The 1tem other financial assets mainly includes USD denominated secunity deposits for leased air-
craft. Trade payables and other babulities include trade pavables, deferred expenses, pension obligations as well nen-inter-
est-bearing habilittes

Dervatives are valued at fair value, with further details i the fair value hierarchy Financial assets valued at fair value
are money market funds (fair value hierarchy level 1) and bonds, or commercial papers (fair value hierarchy level 2) Loans
and recervables are mainly current and the book value 15 equivalent to the fair value, because the discount effect 1s not sig-
mificant. The current portions of loans valued at amortised cost s 75 milhion euro and the book value 15 equivalent to the
fair value, because the discount effect 15 not significant  The issued bond makes the most significant part of the non-cur-
rent loans valued at amortised cost The bond was quoted at 103 5 per cent as per 31 December 2015, which explains the
difference between book value and fair value The valuation principles of financial assets and habihities are outlined 1n the

accountmg principles
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Hedge Financhlassetsat  Available for
accoumting  falr value through  sale finanetal Loans and Vahsed at Book

EUR mill Items profit and loss assets  receivables  amorthed cost value
31 Dec 2014

Financlalassets

“Recewvables - Tt - Y B7 92
“Other finanoial assels T 3234 o4 3328
“Trade recewables and other recenvables 1940 1940
Dervatves T T Twer T we 1637
Cash and cash Ec_.a_mam T T T 934 234
‘Bookvalwetotal 1261 3610 305.6 793.0
Fairvalwetotal 181 3610 04 3056 793.0
“financial flabiitles

‘nterest bearmg liabiities 066 3066
mm:._n‘m lease __mm_ ities Tt T/ ¢ 1210 1210
Dervatves 1412 sl9 1991
Trade payables and other habites T 221 6008 6230
Book value total ) 7z s z;a 10284 12497
Fairvaletotat | 14%2 519 221 10288 1,250.1
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Fair value hierarchy of inancial assets and Jiabilities valued at fair value

Falr values at the end of the reporting period

EUR mill. 31 Det 2015 Level 1 Level 2
Assets
Financial mmmm»mlmm;.m: value nﬁecwrz‘uamm and _mwm| T i ]
Securities held for trading - n:._ 3 - Ium 7 B Mmu.m
Derwatwes held for tradong i o 0T
Interest rate swaps T T ) ) w.w B 52
T o which n far value hedge accounting 7 52 52
Currency dervatives T ) T 442 -7 1442
« of which n farr value smamm|.mnno_._===m - R g3 I )
“ofwhich in cash flow hedge accountng T 420 420
Commodity derivatives h 06 06
Equity dervatives 56 56
af which i far value hedge accounting ) 56 - - B 56
Total 514.0 7 5383
Liabilltles T
Financial habilities recognised at fair value through profit and loss - T T
Dervatives held S_‘mw.u_n..mll T - Tt T T )
Interest rate swaps oo - 03 i !
- of which in fair value hedge mnmoﬁz_am T 01 i 01
Currency dervaltives otttz 73 ) 73
- of which i fair value hedge mnﬂoﬁa_:m T, T oTTm oo o 0a 04
- af which 1 cash flaw hedge mnle.nzsml o T ’ o)} . 08
Commadity derwvatives T T ) me 1716
of which m cash flow hedge sccounting o 1o~ 1498
Equity dervateves B Tt - . - 14 . 14
of which m fair value hedge accounting - 1 a» T 14
Total - oo 106 1806

Durmg the financial year, no sigmificant transfers tonk place between fair value hierarchy Levels 1 and 2

The fair values of hterarchy Level 1 are fully based on quoted (una
and habilihes

djusted) prices i active markets of the same assets

The fair values of Level 2 instruments are, to a significant extent, based on input data other than the quoted prices in-

cluded in Level 1, but shll mainly based on directly observable data {pru
for the particular asset or Jiabihty

ce} or indirectly observable data (dere ed from price}

The fair value hierarchy level, to which a certain itern valued at fair value is classified 1n its entirety, 15 determined n ac-
cordance with the requirements of IFRS 7, based on the lowest level of input signiicant to the overall fair value of the par-
ticular stem The significance of the input data has been assessed in its entirety 1n relation to the particular item valued at

farr value
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3.7 Offsetting financlal assets and liabilitles

EUR mill ) " 1S 2014
Dermative assets Bross amounts 1558 1637
G055 amounts of anomawma tmancial ILanilities set off in the balance m:|mm"|||r I Il.c 0 Y
Wet amounts of financial assets presented in the balance sheet T mssst T 1w
Enforceable master netting agreement T o -mwio. - mw! H
“Dertvative assets net amount T az 100.2
cm:ﬁ:_,a _aa___:mm n&mm mau_sa T T - Jmo u.; |_od HI
Lo SV il
“Gross maocam of _.mnoms_umu __E:n_m_ assefs set off n the E_mznm m_,_nﬁ 0g 00
Met amounts of financial llabifities presented In the balance sheet 107 1990
Enforceable master _._mz_am mmamam_.z Tt T T/ o .EM..I |om
Derivative Babillties et amownt T - 119.1 1356

For the above financral assets and labilites, subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or simlar arangements,
each agreement between the Group and the counterparty allows net settlement of the relevant financral assets and hiabiles
when both parties choose to settle on anet basis En the absence of such mutual deciston, financial assets and habilities wall be
settled on a gross basis However, each party of the master netting agreement, or similar agreement, will have the eption to
settle on a net basis in the event of default of the other party Depending on the terms of each agreement, an event of default
mcludes farlure by 2 party to make pavment when due, failure by a party to perform any obligation required by the agreement
{other than payment), if such failure 1 not remedied within penods of 30 to 60 days after notice of such fatlure 15 given to the

party, or bankruptcy
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3.8 Derlvatives

EYDerivative contracts and hedge accounting

Acrording to #ts msk management policy Ftanaw Group uses forergn exchange interest rate and commodity derwvatives to reduce the
exchange rate, mlerest rate and commodity nsks which arse from the Group s balance sheet ilems, currency denomunated purchase
agreements, anticipated currency denominated purchases and sales as well as future jet fuel purchases

The dermvatrves are imiiafly recogrused at onginal acquesition cost (fair value) n the balance sheet and therealter subsequently vahed af farr
value m each financial shatement and mtesm report. The fair values of the dervatives are hased on the value, at wiich the mstrment could be
exctanged between knowledgeable, withng and mdependent parties, with no compulsion to self or buy m the sales situation. The Fair values of de-
rivalives are determined as folows.

The far vahues of all denvalives are cakutated using the exchang rates, interest rates, volatiliies and commodty pce quotabions on the closing
date The fir vahues of cumency forward contracts are cakulated as the presant value of futuce cash Sows. The far values of CUrrenCy ophions ane
cakutated using generally accepted ophion valuation modeks, The fair vahues of interest rate swap contracts are calculated a5 the present vahe of
future cash Fiows. The fair vaues of mterest rate and CUTTenCy swap (DALTACES are caktydited as the present value af future cash Hows. The fay values
o nterest rate options are cakoutated using generally accepted opbon valkuabon models. The fair vahves.of commedity torward contracts 2re calaat:
ed asthe present vale of fusture cash fiows. The fairvalues of commodity options are cakulated using generally acepted aption vakuation models,

Gains and losses ansing from changs In the fair value are presented in the financal statements according to the orgnal dassifeation of the
demvative. Gas and losses on desvatives qualifing for hedge accounting are recognised m accordance with the underhyng asset bemg hedged.
At ingeption, dervative contracts are designated as future cash flows hedges. hedges of binding purchase contracts (cash fiow hedges or fair vakwe
hedges) or as dervatives ot meeting the hedge accounting cntena of o which hedge accounting 15 not applied feconomic hadges). Hedgmg of the
farr value of net mvestments of foretgn urts or embedded dervatves have not been used.

Al the meepion of hedpe acountmg. Finnair Group documents the relationshin between the hediged item and the hedging mstrument, a5 well
s the Group's nsk management objectives and the strategy for the inception of hedging. At the ncepbion of hedging, and at least at the tme of
each fnancial statement, the Group documents and assesses the effectiveness of hedge relationships by examuning the Capactty of ihe hedging
wstrument to offset changes in the fairvalie of the hedged itam or changes in Cash flows. The values of dervatves in a hedging relatonship are
presented m the balane sheet dem short-term financial asset and Rabiilies,

Finnair Group implements the IFRS hedge atounting prnciples in the hedging of future cash flows (cash figw hedging) The pringiples are ap-
phed to the price and foresgn currency sk of jet fued, the prce sk of electncity the foreign currency and imterest rate rsk of airceaft lease pay-
ments and arcraft punchases,

The change in the fakr value of ihe effectwe portion of derivative instraments that fulfil the terms of cash flow hedging are directly recognised
i the fax value reserve of other comprehensive mcome. to the extent that the requirements for the apphication of hedge accouniing have been
fuififled. The gams and losses, recogresed m fair value reserve, are transferred to the income statement in the penod 1n whuch the hedged tem s
recognied in the mcome statement When an instrument acquired for the hecging of cash flow matures or 1s sold, or when the cntena for hecge
accounting are no longer futfiied, the gain or toss accrued from hedging Instruments remasns in equity unal the forecast transaction takes place.
The gam or lorss regarding lease payment mierest rate hedges will be accrued from fair value reserve [n the income statement theough the whole
lease penod. Howeves if the forecasted hedged transachon s no longer expected to otour the gain of loss acerued i equity s immediately recogs
fused m the ncome statement.

EX = Accounting principles
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The effectveness of heoging e tested on a guarterty basis The effectve portion of hedges 15 recognsed i the fair value reserve of other
comprehensive ncome, from which it 15 transferred to the income statement when the hedged item s realrsed or i terms of Investments,
5 AN ACQUISIION COSt adjustment.

Faur value hedgng is implemented on firm arders of new aincraft i order to hedge the fixed interest rate bond, and to hedge the incen-
{rve plan negotsated wath pilts. The binding purchase agreements for new awcraft are trealed as firm commitments under IFRS, and there-
fore, the fair value changes of the hedged part armsing from forewgn currency movements are recogrised m the bakance sheet as an asset
iem ang cortespanding gains of fosses recogmsed ihrough profit and loss Similardy the fair vatue of instruments hedging these purchases
1s presented in the balance sheet as a liability of recervable and the change in fair value is recognised through profit and loss

In refation to the incentive plan negotiated with the miets in October 2614 Finnaw entered into an agreement where the market price
of Finnaw share has an eftect at the end of the plan Finnair group has hedged, the amount exceading 12 mihon euros of the possible cost
effect of this plan, with stock ophions Fair value hedging is appled on the hedges. The unrealised fair value changes of the optipns are rec
ognised as hability or recenvable in the balance sheet, and in the scome statement, the realised and unrealised hedging results are recog-
rsed w the staff costs. Similarty the incentive plan 1s treated as a firm commitment under IFRS. The unrealised and the seafised Eair value
change of the incentive plan is recognised in the staff costs in the income statermnent and the corresponding unrealised faur value a5 a labil-
Ity or recesvable in the balance sheet.

The gain of koss related to the effectve partion Of the mterest rate swap which hedges the foed interest fate bond. s retognised as fi-
nancial mcome o expenses in the income siatement The gain or loss refated to the meffectve partion s recognised within other operating
income and expenses in the inceme statement. The changes m fair value  attributable to the interest rate nsik, of the fixed interest rate
Inans. s recogrused in the financial expenses in the mcome statement.

I the hedge no longer meets the cntena for hedge accounting, the adjustment 1o the carrving amount of a hedged item, for which the
effective interest method 15 sed 1s amortised to profit or loss over the perigd to matursty

Finnair Group uses foreren exchange and interest rate swap contracts in the hedging of the interest rate and fareign exchange resks of
foresgn currency Cenominated loans The lranslation difference arsing from foresgn exchange and interest-rate swap contracts that futfil
the conditions of hiedge accounting ss recogrised conayrrently agarst the translatan difference arising from the loan Other changes in fair
value are recopnsed 1n terms of the etfectve portion in the fair value reserve of other comprehensive income. interest ncome and expens-
e are recognised 1 finanoalincome arkd axpenses,

Finnatr Group rses ek fuel swaps (forward contracts) and options n the hedging of jet fuel pnce nsk Changes in the fair value of jet fuel
hedgng derhaties which are detined as cash-flow hedges and Rl the requinements of IFRS hedge accounting, are recogrised directly
n the fair value reserve of other comprehensive income  Accrued dervative gains and losses recognised in shareholders equity are rec-
ognised as income or expense in the income statement in the same financial penod as the hedged item s recogmised in the income state-
ment If aforecasted cash fiow s ng longer expected to occur and the IFRS hedpe accouniing cnitena are not fulhilled the fair value changes
and the accrued gains and losses, reported in sharehokders equity are presented in the non reaurring rtems for the financial penod i the
mncome statement, dunng the tenor time

Finnarr Group uses electnaty dervative cantracts in the hedging of electnaity pnice rsk The electrioty price nsk hedges are recognised
as cash flow hedges. Changes in the far value of dervatrves defined as cash-flow hedges i actordance with IFRS, are recognised in the
tair value reserve of other comprehensive income The recognised change in fair value 15 reversed into the income statement in the same
penod a5 the hedged transartion Changes n the fair value of hedges excluded from hedge accountmg (which de not fulhl the IFRS hedge
accounting criteria) are recognised 1 ather operating expensas over the tenar tme of the derwative

The change in the fair value of derivaleves, not qualitying for hedge accounting aed which are hedges of operabional cash Tlows, are rec-
ognised i Fir value changes 1n dervatives In the income statement Changes in the fair value of interest rate denvatives, not qualifying for
hedge accouniing, are recognised in the Income statement s knancial income and expenses EY

I = Accounting principles
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2015 2014
Positive  Negative Falr Positive  Negative
Nominal fatr fair net  Nominal fair fair  Fair net
EUR mill value  values  values  value vatue  values  values  value
“Currency derfvatives ] .
_mpanc:m:ﬂ.. hedging T T “ _ 3316 |M 238 _ 07 231 3854 359 ao 359
Farr value hedging of aircraft acquisitions __ Te24 BI3 04 810 6576 663 00 663
:mn_m__._wo.._mmummmﬁaham . Inmz2 182 01 181 .Em:mJ - 159 Q0 150
Hedge uﬂe'::n_..n items total . 1,2853 1234 12 1222 11896 1171 0.0 1171
Operattonal cash flow hedging forward contracts) R ..|w3m 16 m. 20 148 ’ 3704 295 ot 295
Operational cash-flow hedging (bought ontions) 1804 37 G0 37 1102 71 o6 7
Operational cash flow hedging (sold options) s 00 41 41 _ 1780 oo 30 30
Balance sheet hedging (Farward contracts) _ L5 04 00 04 137 09 00 09
.m__.mmw W:R_nn _.nm_—hn nmw.__.u-m:m 85_| e 517.8 209 _ 41 147 872.2 375 3.0 uh.w
Currency derivatives total _32031 1442 73 1369 L86LE 1546 30 1516
Commodity derivatives 1r - i»w }.11\ ) : ) .; ’ T o
tet fuel forward contracts, tonnes o mmogo ~ oo4 .mamm.:.:w 7 wwﬂuoo! oal ’ .w-m 3 I:N 3
Electrioty dervatves MWh 13140 00 _ 00 00 30220 00 01 00
Hedge accounting tems total T 00 s aws’ 00 1423 1423
tet fuel forward contracts tonnes ! 000 00 42 42 33500 00 86 86
Bought options, et fuel, tonnes 178000 06 00 06 162500 01 00 01
Sold optians jet fuel tonnes 329000 00_ 262 %62 17100 00 393 393
Electrnicity E_@mgzl o .mm Wmm . mo -03 03 46904 QG 03 03
ftems outside hedgeaccountingtotal 06 -308 302 0L 482 8.1
Commodity dervatives total a6 a7Le aree 02 -1905 -190.4
Interest rate derivatives - ! ) )
Interestrateswaps 1500 __ 52 01 52 1500 59 01 58
Bought optrons ) _60 00 00 00 1235 23 00 23
Sold eptions o0 a0 a0 040 1235 00 -48 48
Hedge accounting ltems total 100 52 41 82 3971 82 48 34
Cross currency interest rate swaps 71 oo 02 @2 _116 00 06 06
inferest rate swaps _00_ 00__ 00 00 250 00 0L 01
items outside hedge accounting total o M.u. no.alz ..o.n. 0.2 . mo 6 00 .a.w 0.7
tisterest rate derivatives total 15724 52 03 50 4337 82 55 27
Equity derivatives B .r.|i } -v. o . ) )
_ Boughtoptions millens 30 56 00 56 30 07 a0 Q7
Sold options millions 30 _ |oo| __1a 14 m or @o ol 0 1
Hedge accounting items total &0 §¢ .14 41 60 0.7 -0.1 0.6
Equity dertvatives total 60 56 _ 14 41 60 07 01 06
Dervativestotalé 1557 1806 289 1637 1991 354

* The positive/negative fairvalue of derrvatives 31 Decemher 2015 are shown as halance sheet recevahles and habilities
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Ratings of dertvative counterparties

EUR mill 015 2014
Better than A 310 344
A -473 531
BBB 95 . <167
mm - -
Unrated - -
Total . 28 5.4
Reafised derivatives In operational expenses

EUR mill ) 2015 2014
Jat fuel =mqm=.m Fuel costs 776 150
Hedging of _33 Bﬁsmaa Lease uuﬁsnsa Eq m:ﬂ_.w: -157 12
Eﬁgaggg ..Bu..nBﬂ_ 619 11.8
_2 fuel _.Smsm Fuel SE 594 38
Operational cash =9= zmam:.m Other mxuaam 334 154
Etectncity %3323 Other expenses 07 04
Expenses of _ﬂnl outside _.nnnu uBuEEun BE %7 113
._.BH_ 385 2.5
3 9 Equity-related information
Eshareholders’ equity

The nominal valve of shares has been recognised in the share capital before an amendment (o the Artrcles of Association regestered
on 22 March 2007 Share issue profit and gains related to sale of own shares have been recognised in other restricted funds before the
change int the Limited Liability Comparry Act m 2006

The subscription proceeds from the 2007 share issue less transaction costs after taxes as well as share-based payments actording
1o [FRS 2 have been recognised o the unrestncted equty funds.

Hedging reserve and other 00 items nclude changes (n the fair value of derivatwe instruments used in cash-tiow hedging in addi
tion to actuanal gains and lesses redated to defined benefit penslon plans, and transtation differences

The acquisihon cost of repurchased owned shares less transaction costs after taxes 1s charged to equety until the shares are cancelled
or ressued The consideration received for sale or issue of own shares is included in equity

The dnvdend proposed by the Board of Directors 15 not deducted from distnbutable equity untd decided at the Annual General Meeting.

The hybind bond 5 recognsed i equity 1t 1s unsecured and subordinated to all serior debt. The hybind bond does not confer share-
holders’ nghts nor does it dilute the holdings of sharehoiders, Interest expenses are debited from retained earnings on cash basss net of
tax.in the calculation of earmings per share, interest expenses of the bybrg bond are included 1 the earnings for the finanoial year B

X = Accounting principles
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Number of shares 2015 2014
Number of outstanding shares in the __mms:sm of the financial year 127824023 127856947
Shares Eﬂm:mawnﬂs.”:m,m?ﬂml aascm scheme 2010-2012 T 14 893 -13 864
m:msmm:m.n.:”om: FlyShare employee share savings plans ) 1780 940
Number of outstanding shares at' the end of the finanial year 127,810,910 127,824,023
“Own shares held by the Eaa 3383 325 205 312092
Total number of shares u.,.n.m end of the financial year - 128,136,115 " 128,136,115

Finnair Pic s share capital, pard in its entirety and registered in the trade register, was 75,442,904 30 euros at the end of 2014
and 2015 The shares have no nommal value During the year 2015, Finnair recovered 14,893 shares from share-based bo
nus scheme (in the years 2010-2012) participants having terminated their employment

The Group's hedging reserve and other 0Cl items

EUR mill 2015 2014
et kel price hedgmg -1407 1423
Jet fuel currency hedging T i 231 359
Hedging m_w_miwmﬂmﬁmuymui T i 181 150
Interest Snm\c?‘_m:m‘ I T T -84 2%
The mnEmS_ um_:m and _omwm«. of %_sma am_i__ plan ) 222 -155
Translation differences i ’ 07 01
Deferred tax tax. mmmm_ A__mc__:_... T T i 172 . 219
“Total o } ) 479 874

Maturity dates of falr valoes recognised in the hedying reserve

EUR mill 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Later Total
Iet fuel price hedging 1193 -214 ot 1407
“let fuel currency hedging T al 10 n1
“Hedging of fease payments 155 26 181
Hedging of interest related to future T o T

lease payments -07 07 -07 07 07 49 84
The actuanal wm_aw:.a lossesof - -

defined _.m_._mq__ u_m: 222 222
Translation ﬁ_—:mqm:n@u o7 B o7 i 07
Tax effect T 37 T o2 01 o1 1 172
Total ST T T s 148 0.6 06 o6 22 619
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Hybrid bond

Shareholders equity (after equity belonging to owners) includes a 38 3 rmillion euro hybrid bond issued 1n 2012 The hybnd
bond coupon is fixed, 8.875 per cent per year for the first four years, and thereafter at least 11.875 per cent per year Finnair
can postpone interest payment if it does not distribute dividends or any other equuty to its shareholders The bond has
no maturity date, but the company has the right to redeem 1t four years after the issue date Duning the year 2015, Finnair
redeemed 81 7 million euros of the 120 milhon eurc hybnd bond ssued in 2012, at the redemption price of 87 2 milkon
euros The redemption price includes a premium of 5 5 mithen eures In the year 2015, Finnarr also issued a new hybnid
band of 200 million cure The loan has no matunty date, but the company has the nght to redeem 1t after five years The
hybnd bond coupon s fixed, 7 875 per cent per year for the first five years, and thereafter floating, at least 12 875 per cent
per year The overall hybrid bond net position recognised 1n equity 15 236 2 million euros, due to 1ssuing expenses The
hybrid bonds are unsecured and 1n a weaker prefetence position than promissory notes A holder of hybnd bond notes
has no shareholder nghts

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share figure 15 calculated by dividing the result for the financial year attributable to the parent com-
pany’s shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the financial year Result for the financal
year 1s adjusted for the after-tax amounts of hybrid bond interests regardless of payment date, transaction costs of a new
hybrid bond issued znd premium paid, when a hybrid bond 1s redeemed When calculating the earnings per share adjust-
ed by dilution, the weighted average of the number of shares takes into account the diluting effect resulting from changing
into shares all potentially diluting shares

EUR mill 2015 2014
Result for the hrancial year 894 -8e7
e - e —— . Ul
Hybnd bond nterests 125 -107
Premium E.a related to _m%aumom of the ?..:.a bond Issued in 2012 o T mr o

Transaciion costs of the hybrid bond 1ssued 1n 2015 e o
Taxeffect 0" 7 T aw T 21
bEﬁ.u»o.a.dmuz?_.uﬂa:ua&ﬁm_. ) o -r |a. o uu.ut}ifl‘ - \.om
weighted average number Em:mm_aml-l T T o \mwww.| “Tiare
Bask and diluted earnings per share, EUR - Y an
Ellect of own shares Tt T Tt T 000 000
Result for the hnancial year per uzmqm.mcz. - T T R \c\..s a \i.olow,

*exchuding the effect of expenses of the hybnd Eam after taxes

Dividend
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeung that no dividend 1s paid for 2015 The Annual General
Meeting on 25 March 2015 decided that no dividend was pard for 2014

Finnalr Pic’s distributable eguity

EUR mill. 31 Dec 2018

Retained earnings at the end of financial year . o Wo.wr L
“Unrestructed equty T

Hedging reserve 941
“Result for the financial year o7 o o T |Ilmmm¢ Ile.H
Distributable equity total - e T Ham..m‘ o
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4 Consofidation

I notes under the Consolidatian section imclude a description of the general consolidation pringples and methods of consolidation The aim
of the section & to prowide an overall prcture of the groups stricture and panciples applied in preparing consolidated financial statements and
classifying ownership interests, In additron, the notes inchude information about subsidianes, associated companies and joint ventures held,
acquited or sold by the group as well a5 information about assets held for sale i |

4.1 General consolidation principles

Consolidation

Consohidation, consolidation method and classification of ownership interests depends en whether the Group has power
to control or jorntly control the entity or have significant influence or other wterests in the entity When group has power
to controf the entity, 1t 1s consolidated as subsidiary in the Group according to principles described in Note 4 2 Subsidrar-
tes When the Greup has joint control or significant influence over an entity but dees not have power to control, entity 1s
accounted for by using equity method accordimg to pnnciples set in Note 4 5 Investments tn associates and jomnt ventures
Ifthe Group does not have power to contrel nor significant influence in the entity, its ownership interests are classified as
financial assets avarlable for sale and accounted for according to principles described i Note 3 2 Financial assets

Transiation of foreign corrency Kems
Items included in each subsidiary’s financial statements are measured in the currency that 1s the main currency of operat-
ing environment of each subsidiary (“functional currency”) The consolidated financial statements have been presented in
euros, which 15 the parent company's functional and presentation currency Transacuiens denominated in foreign curren-
cles in group companies are translated into functional currency by using the exchange rate on the date of the transactiun
Recevables and Liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies and are outstanding on the closimg date are translated
using the exchange rate of the closing date Exchange rale differences are recognised tn the income statement

Foregn subsidizrics whose functronat currency is not cure are translated into curos by using average raty, for the, finan-
c1al year Balance sheets are translated by using the closing rate for the financial period Translation differences arsing from
the elimination of acquisition costs of foreign subsidianies are recognised in other comprehensive income When a foreign
subsidiary 1s sold, the differences are recogmised as part of the sales gawn or loss

4,2 Subsidiaries

EY consolldation principles of subsidiaries
Finnair Pl 5 consohdated finantial statements include the parent company Finnair PiC and all its subsidiaries The substdiaries ase de-
fined as compantes where the paren! company directly o indirectly owns moie than S0 per cent of the votes or where Fianair other-
wrse has the power to govern the finangial and operating pohcies The acquired subsihares are ingluded in the consohidated Hinangial
statements from the day the Group has control and disposed subsidiaries untid the control ceases

Acquired and estahlished companies are accounted for using the acquisiion method of accounting Accordingly the acguired com
pany's identifiatble assets, liabtees and contingent liabilities are measured at {air value on the date of acguisition. The excess hetween
purchase pnce and fair value of the Groun s share of the wentifiable net assets 1 recognised as goodwill.

All inter-company transachions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated Unrealised
losses are also efimmated unless there s evidence of impairment related to the transferred asset The accounting principles of subsid-
1aries have been changed to correspand with the Groups accounting pelicies

Non-controlling interest and transactions with non-controlling Interest

Non-controlling interests are presented within the equity 1n the Consolidated Balance Sheet, separated trom equity attributable to own-
ers of the parent. For each acqursibon the non-controlling interest can be recognised esther at fair value or at the nan-cantrofling inter
est 5 proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. The carmying amount of non-controlling interests 1s the amount of the interests at
wutial recogrubion added with the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity EY

= Content of the section
BY Accounting principles
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Subsidlaries
Group Group

Name of the company ownership % Name of the company cwnership %
Alrline Business Travel Services
_"._.__._m: nuﬁa o< m_.__wzn =T 1000 9. Aurinkomatkat - SUAtgUFS | _.ﬂnﬂuﬂ_ﬂﬂ_l o 1000 )
Finnair Arrcraft Finance o< Fnland T 1000 fSMT o< / Funland B ISMm K
Finnair ATR Finance Oy Finfang T 1000 | Amadevs Finland Oy Fintand - o 95 c
Finnarr Technical Services 9. Finland o T 1000 »:::.6 oi \mw»ae:ﬂm o Soo

i - P e - o
Finnair m:nsm Servites 9. n__.._.,.._.& 1000 | fovelomat Oy Finland 1060
Fianarr Travel Retail Oy Fland 7 1000 | matkayhtyma Ov, Fintang T w00
Finnatr _n__mz >S.a|m.=._< m< m_m_m.a - 1000 | 000 »mm_:\_almﬁm_m ) o Iuoco|.
Kinterstd Oy Lentokonchuolto, Finland 1000 | 000 Auninkomatkat Russia w00
zo_._zua: Q¥ m..._ai_ o .Eoc Norvista :mmm_ﬂn .nm.:mMm. T T 100 c!.
Kinlests Oy LEKO'8, Fiand 1000 | Other functions o
Kiinterstd 9. Alr Cargo Center 1 n_a_msn.ll 1000 |FTS 1_8_._3_ Services Oy _"s_m__a o |Em c‘
IC Finnair Ltd Great Britain® o 1000 |Back om.._nm mmn__._nmm Estonia o: Estonia i Moﬂ. )
AfS Aerg Awhines Estonia . o woo | T T T T
Balticport 00 Estorsa T T oo | - T
LSG Sky Chets :_”__m:mov Finland ** T Emo T

* IC Finnar Lid 1 a fully owned captive snsurance company in Gurernsey which earnmgs are subject to nermal taxation m Finland
** The Group has made an cooperabon agreement which inctudes a call option due to which the Group does not have control over the com-
pany

4 3 Acquisitions and disposals

In the beginning of the financial year the joint venture of Finnamr and Flybe Group ple (Jater as "Flybe UK®) was transferred
temporanly to Finnair's ownership as Finnair acquired Flybe UK's 66 per cent share of Flybe Nordic with one euro on an
intenm basts Later on Flybe Nordic was renamed as Nordic Regronal Airlines (Norra) Norra was classified as assets held
for sale until Finnair further scld the 60 per cent share to Staffpoint Helding Oy and Kilco Oy Due to the sale Norra be-
cameajoint venture of Finnair and the new owners More information on Norra can be found in Note 4.5 Assocated com-
panies and joint ventures

At the end of 2015 Finnair sold sts ownerstup in Estonian subsidiary Estravel AS, including Estrave!s Lithuaman subsid-
tary Estravel Vilnius UAB The transaction did nat have sigmificant effect te Finnair's financial statements

During 2014 Group sold Finnair Travel Retail's shops at Helsinki Airport to World Duty Free Group Thesale hada 127
million euros positive effect to Finnair's results in non-recurning items inaddstion, hnnarr sold ts subsidiary Finncatenng
Oy te Lufthansa Serviee. kuropafAfrika GmbH The transaction did not have sigmificant effect to Finnarr’s hnancial state-
ments Dunng the financial year 2014 the Group did not acqutre any new businesses or subsidianies

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015 66

4.4 Non-current assets and liabilitles held for sale

EXnan-current assets held for sale or disposal groups are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount 15 16 be recovered
prnaipally through a sale transaction and sale is considered hughly probabile, duning the followmng twelve months

Immedhately before classification, assets held for sale or assets and liabilities of disposat geoups are valued at the lower of the carry-
ngamount or therr fair value less (ost to sell Depreciation 0f these assets 1s discontinued at the moment of classitication £Y

Non-current assets held for sale include mainly aircraft held for sale Aircraft classified as held for sale for 2015 include three
A0 aircrafi that are expected to be sald to Arrbus during 2016 These wide-body awrcraftare going to be replaced by new A350
arcraft In addition, aircraft held for sale include two Embraer 170 and one ATR 72 scheduled for divestment 1n early 2016

In 2014 assets held for sale included three Embraer 190 and six ATR 72, which were sold and leased back at the begin-
ning of 2015

The book value of the assets held for sale

EUR mil 2015 2014
Tangble assets 1230 1198
wenlones T o7 ) : 16 26
ol 1245 122.4

4.5 Investments in associates and Joint ventures

KX associates are companies m which the Group generally holds 20—50 per cent of the voting mght or in which the Group has signil-
wcant infiuence hut in which it does not exercese controd. Compamies where the Group has jomt control with another entity and all the
significant decistons require unznimous cansent are considered as joint ventures The Groups interests in asseciated companies and
Jointly contrglled entities are accounted for using the equity method The Group does not own jointhy controfled entities that would be
classified as joint operatlons, meaning such entities where Group would have rights o enhity s assets or abligations to entity s habiliues
which 1t should consohdate in is balance sheet

The investment e assoctates and joint ventures ichide goodwill recognesed at the ime of acquisition The Group recognises ufs share
of the post-acqursition results in associates and joint ventures i the income statement When the Group s share of osses in an assoate
or a jount venture equals or exceeds its interest m the assogiate or jaini venture, the Gioup does not recognrse further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations on behalf of the associate of joint venture

Results from the transactions between the Group and 1its assoiates ane recognised anly to the extent of unrelated mvestor's inter-
ests in the associates The Group determines at each reporting date whether there 1s any obective evidence that the investment in the
associates 15 impared In case of such indications the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recov-
erable amount ol the assotiate and Its carrying value The imparment 1s recogrised in share of results 10 3ssociates and joint venteres.,

Accounting policies of assotates or joint ventures have been changed where necessary to correspond with the accounting polices
adopted by the Group. If financial statements for the period are not avaldable the share of the profit of certain associated ar joint ven
ture companles fs inctuded i the consoldated accounts based on the preliminary financial statements or latest available information FY

EY- Accounting principles
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The Group's share of the result assets and habiities of associates and joint ventures is presented below

EUR mill 2015 2014
At the begmmng of the financial year 49 82
Shares of results i ) T T Tt T ‘o1 T 3z
Disposals i T o 1| T ot T .NN..- - coﬁ
Atthe end of the financiaiyear o A TR T

The disposals include sale of Kimteistd Oy 1 ent3janue 1 in addion, Flybe Nordic AB {currently known as Nordic Regional
Arrhnes AB) was transterred in the beginning of 203 5 temporanily to Finnair's full ownership but the 60 per cent share was
further sold later in 2015, and Norra continues as a joint venture of Finnair Group and its partners

In addition, more information on transactions with joint ventures and associated compantes can be found 1n Note 4 6
Related Party Transactians

information on the Group’s asseclates and joint ventures 2015

EUR mill Domiclle Assets Uabilitles  Revenue ENMM Holding %
Amadeus Estoma Estoma [13:4 03 i1 03 3325
Nordit Global irlmes Oy (NGAY  Fmand 18 88 121 42 4000
‘Nordic mm%aa_ Arrlines AB (Norra)** o Sweden 405 97 1007 158 40 @m:
-mﬂaam: __am__cou._ma oﬁ.\ - imm_m,zmw‘l 15 7 o 3 14 Q mﬁl 49 mm.
Total T R "7 ers | ar1n usz s

* Nord« Globa! Arrfines Oy business operations are discontinued and the company will e fiqendated dunng 2016
** pased on financal statement of Nerdic Regional Airknes AB (Morra} as of 31 Dec 2015 The Group was formerly known as Flyhe Mordic
AB Norras results Include profit from nine months peniod since Norra changed the end date of the financsal year from 31 of March to 31 of
Detember during 2015

information on the Group’s assodiates and joint ventures 2014

EUR mill Domicite Assets  Liabilities  Revenue _...Mw“ Holding %
Amadeus £storma Estona o] 03 09 03 3325
"Nordrc, Globa Airhnes Oy T T Y Thaand 107 106 422 29 4000
Fivbe NOrdic AB (currently Norra)*  Sweden 402 473 2938 10 4000
Tmteistd Oyy Lemadntie 1 T Trand 26 193 15 00 B33
w.:o:..n: Mmailuoptsto Oy) i ) _m__‘._mm_..ﬂ_ T mm|l i l.oﬂll N ﬂ.llicnmi aluMa.wo.

—— . — -

Total 939 730 345.6 3.8

B According toofficlat nancial statement of Fiybe Finkand Oy as per 31 March 2014 which is holding-company Flybe Nordic AB's subsidiary
and responsible gf the aperations in the Flybe Nordic group

All the assoctated companies and joint ventures owned by Finnarr are unhsted companies, and none of them are consid-
ered as matenal compared to Finnair s operations Finnair's share of associated compantes and joint ventures continuous
results for 2015 was 0 1 million euros (-1 4)
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Nordic tegional Alrfines AR (NorTa, formerly known as Flybe Nordic AB)
Nordic Regtonal Arrlines {Norra), formeriy known as Flybe Nordic AB, 15 a regional asrline company operating in the Nordic
countries and 1n Baltcs Norra has during 2015 operated both purchase trafhic for Finnair and trafhe at its own risk At the
end of 2014, Flybe UK announced that it will exit the joint venture arrangement of Finnair and Flybe Group Pl (Flybe UK)
and sell the shares of Flybe Nordic AB to Finnasr or to a new majority shareholder assigned by Finnair In the beginning of
the financial year 2015 the jomnt venture was transferred temporanily to Finnair s ownership as Finnair acquired Flybe UK s
60 per cent share of Flybe Nordic with one euro, including Elybe UK s loan and interest recewvables from Flybe Nordic of
19 4 million euros Later on Flybe Nordic was renamed as Nordic Regional Airines (Norra) Norra was classified as as-
sets held for sale unbl Finnair further sold the 60 per cent share Lo Staffpoint Holding Oy and Kilco Oy with one euro Due
to the sale Norra became a jomt venture of Finnair and the new owners ‘The change of majority shareholder 1n the joint
venture did not have an effect in the nature of the arrangement, and the operations of Nordic Regional Airhines contin
ue under joint control of Finnair and the new partners ‘The ownership transactions did not have any financial effects to
Firnar Franarr axms to find solutions that would enable the development of regional flying in a financially sustainable way
Fiybe Nordics (currently Norra) operations were loss making and the value of investment in Finnair was wnitten down
m 2014 Inaddition, in the end of 2014 Finnair wrote down 11 3 milhon curos of operational recervables (presented as non-
recurning itemn) and 108 million curos of subordinated lvan recevables (included in financaial items) from Flybe Nordic
Group As part of the restructunng of Norras operations, at the end of 2015 Finnair transferred the operational receiva-
bles of 11 3 millton euros, and lean and interest recewvables transferred from Flybe UK of 19 4 million euros, to Norrs, to
strengthen the equity and financial pesition of Norra Group Transactions did not have an effect in hinnair Group's results
nor financial position, but had a positive effect in Norra Group's profits in 2015 Finnair has accounted for Norra Group's
net assets according to s accounting principles and no share of profits from Norrm has been recognised for 2015
Information on Norra can also be found in Notes 4 3 Acqursitions and disposals and 4 6 Related party transactions

Nordic Global Alriines Oy (MGA)

Finnair s associated companies inchxde Nordic Global Airhines Oy (NGA), which 15 a freight airltne co owned by Finnair
Cargo Oy, Ilmannen and Neff Capital Management. Due to unprofitable business operations, the company 15 under lig-
uidation process The iquidation 15 expected to be finaltsed duning 2016 Frnnair has written down 1its trade recervables
from NGA during 2015 The write down did not cause any matenal eftects to Finnair financial statements The hquidation
1s not expected to cause such during 2016 either Finnair does not expect the hquidation process to cause any matenai fi-
nancial effects during 2016 either

Other assoclated companies
Kiinteists Oy) Lentijantie 115 a property located in the arrport area and co-owned by Finavia, Finnaur Pension fund and
Firnair Oy At the end of 2015, Finnair sold ats share i the property 1o Finavia The sales gan of 6 6 milhon euros have
been reported under non-recurring items

Amadeus Finland's associated company Amadeus Estorua provides IT solutions to travel agencies in Estoria Suomen
limaituopista (the Finnish Aviabion Academy) 15 a vocational special purpose aviation school owned by Finnair Qyy (49 5
per cent), Finush Government (49.5 per cent) and the City of Pani (1 per cent) Finnairis not entitled to company’s results
nor net assets, but possible results need to be used for developing school’s activities
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4 6 Related party transactions

Related party of Finnair group includes its subsidiaries, management, associated compantes and joint ventures and Finnawr
p 1 fund Subsidiaties are histed in Note 4 2 and associates and joint ventures in Note 45 Related party transactions
include such operations that are not elimmated in the group’s consohdated financial statement

[he Finnish Government awns 55 8 per cent {55 8) of Finnair's shares All the transactions with other government owned
companies are with arms length basts

The following transactions have taken place with associated companies and joint ventures
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Transactions with joint venture of Finnarr, Nordic Regional Aitlines AB -Group {Norra), have been included in the
transactions with joint ventures for the full financial year of 2015 Norra became temparanly a fully owned subsidiary of
Finrair on 31 March 2015, when former partner Flybe UK decided to withdraw from the arrangement Finnair reached
conclusion with new partners on 4 November 2015, when the 60 per cent share was sold to new owners and Norra once
agam became yont venture of Finnair Although Norra was fully owned subsidiary between 31 March til! 4 November 2015,
during that time it was classified as asset held for sale and the transactions related to purchase traffic arrangement betw een
parties were not ellminated from Finnar's results from continuing operations, as the arrangement was expected to contin-
ue after sale of 60 per cent share Therefore those transactions have been included in the 2015 refated party transactions

Assoctated company Kunteistd Oy) Lentijintie 1 was sold m November 2015 and was considered as related party of
Finnair until the moment of sale

More information on Norra, Kiinteisté Oy) Lentd)intie 1 and other associated compamies and jomnt ventures can be
found in Note 4 5 Investments i associates and joint ventures

Finnalr pension fund

The Finnair pension fund m Finland 15 a stand-alone legal entity which mainty provides additional pension coverage to
Finnair s personnel in the form of defined benefit plan, and manages related pension assets The assets thclude Finnatr’s
shares representing 0 1 per cent {0 1} of the company s outstanding shares Real estate and premises owned by the pension
fund have been manly teased to Finnawr In 2015 and 2014 Finnair didn't pay anv contributions to the fund Pension obh-
gaten was 2 6 mallion curos (25 3) at the end of the financial year

4.7 Application of new and amended IFRS standards and (FRIC interpretations

EUR mill 2015 2014
Sales of goods and services
rbwmon_&m% B -0 ) 02 g.&.
- e - - - _ e e e T
Joint ventures 493 599
Penswon fund . T T o e o0 o1
v._..n_ﬁuuao‘nue..uuuauunlsﬂi. - - - - T
Associates - T T T s 7 aos
Joint ventures T o 1267 2283
Penswon fund . T s " -mlmll|.ﬂ
Financial expenses ) T T -ttt T T T T T
fomt ventures T T TTTTTTTT T T4 108
Recelvables T - - 0 /- T/ T
Shert-term recemvables from associates - T T 05 15
Shart-term recevables .a.:._ ventures T T T _Iuﬂrlll 73
Uabllities o - T e o TTmrT/ T/
Non-current abilities 1o _m.m: ventures - T T - T ‘mb mM
Non current habilities to pension tund - s T Nw T T Imm 3
Current habiiies to assocrates ) - T T e w.l. Y
Current __ma___:mm48 |ont ¥entures - - /" 7/ IS |i|wal
i i S
Contingent Habilities
m__m-mamma on cm._m_m of _oi_qm ventures - - -iirl.m_mﬂ 20

Transactions with related parties are with arms length, and are with ssmilar terms than transactions carrted out wath in-
dependent parties Management remuneration is presented in Note 1 37 1 Management has not been granted any loans
and there has not been any other transactions with managerment

d._mnru__.Em_—.,NMmE:nmammﬂmn:ﬁaS_dwnq_cmmvmm_-_:_:m_F::uJ«uEm_:n_cnnn_:au.s_w_a_uaeaan:»m39:.
rent standards and did not have an effect on Finnarr financial statements

Regardng changes m the standards effecting future periods, Finrair 1s currently evaluating the effects of FFRS 15 Rev-
enue recogmtion and [FRS 9 Financial Instruments to its financial statements The standards will be, 1n case endorsed by
FU, effective from 2018 onwards Effects of Revenue Recognition standard are stil! under evaluation

According to Finnatr s prelirunary view, 1FRS 9 will allow it to apply hedge accounting more widely when hedging future
cash flows The change will decrease volatility in operating result ‘This isbecause unreabsed fatr value changes of dervatives
can be recognised in ather cemprehensive meome instead of operating result, when hedge 2ccounting 15 appled Changes
related to classificatton and impairment model of financial instruments are not expected o have agmficant effect to Finnawr

IFRS published new Leasing standard FFRS 16 1n January 2016 The standard will be effective from 2019 onwards, in
case endorsed by EU According to preliminary evaluation, Finnair expects the new standard to have significant effect to
its financial statements Arrcraft currently classified as operating leases will be recogmised as right to use -assets and leas-
ng habilities in the balance sheet. Currently future operating lease payments are presented as off-balance sheet items 1n
the notes {(Note 2 2 Leasing arrangements) as operating lease commitments

Other standards 1ssued and effecting future financial periods are not expected to have any significant impact on Finnarr's
inancial statement.
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5 Other notes
H other notes inctude alf such notes that do nat specihcally relate to any previous subject matters K3

S.1Income taxes

I the tax expense tor the period includes current and deferred tax ang adjustments (o previous years 1axation. Taxis recogrused
the income statement, excepl (o the extent that i relates to tems recognised in ather comprehensive income or other equity items.

Deterred taxes are Calculated tor temporary differences between accouning and taxabon using the vakd tax rates tor fulure years at
the closing date. Deferred Lax asset is recogmsed to the extent that realsation of the refated tax benefit through future profits 15 prob-
ahle. Temporary dillerences arise mainly from sales of tangible assels, deprecialion and unused tax losses Deferred tax s secognised
for substdianes undistrbuted earnings only when related tax effects are probable

Deferred tax assets and liabiliies are aftset when they are levied by same taang authonty and finnaw has 2 legally enforceable
nght to set oft the batances E

Huilising deferred tax assets related to tax losses requires management to make expectabions of luture performance of operations.
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Deferred tax assats and (abilitles

The Group has evaluated the nature and classification of deferred tax assets Based on the evaluation, deferred tax assets
and liabdities levied by the same taxing authority met the requirements for offsct eligibility m accordance with 1AS 12 The
deferred tax assets and habilizes are shown net on the balance sheet

Changes in deferred taxes duning 2015

Recognised Recognised in
in the tncome shareholders*

EUR mill 014 statement equity 2015

Deferred tax assets

‘conrmedlosses I 623 107 517

Employee benetits o 51 30 75 05

|o:_2 umanﬂ;md\ differences o ) o 27 - FY h 01

Vahiation of derwvatwes ot farvalee 187 28 26

tod 77 T sss 102 47 739
Offset mwmsﬂm\smmmn taxassets - ) 550 - o 648
Netdeferred taxassets ’ T ms ) %1

“Deferred ﬁﬂmmmm"u that can he used after more than 12 months 06 05 )

Income taxes
€UR mill - 2015 2014 ﬁb:h_z.:mn tax losses expire earliest within four to ten jears >nnc.¢—__=w to the Groupss estimate, the future profits result in
taxable income off-setting the temporary difference realising from the confirmed tax lasses
Tazes for the as.nsn_u— year o ___ - - Distnibuting retatned nmu:::mm o_u:ohm: subsidiaries as %E_n_m:gm would nn”wo a tax effect of 0 2 million euros (G 4)
Current tax 02 0.2
p‘n_'_‘__m_amim qmncm_u_mmn »E_._:..Q.: tax am\mm_o- umﬁ.cnm o |.. - ”u.. 1‘ ) owM r\n an H Recognised Recognised In
Deferred taxes =231 173 in the income shareholders'
otal - - - - _ - - —— — - - 26T 1es EUR mifl 2014 statement equity 2015
- - - - - - _ - Deferred tax llabilitles
“property plant and equpment 518 74 592
The table helow explaing the dilference between the thegretical tax cost calculated with Finnish nomiral tax rate 20 O per cent (20 0) and tax Frante _mmnumm — = = - = - 22 13 3a
expense in the consobdated income statement - —_— — — oo
Other temporary differences 1a 11 22
EUR mill 2018 2014 Yetd "7 a8 98 0.0 58
Resull before taxes 1132 -9%1 QOffset against .u_ma.:mn tax mﬂesl T T 550 ) ) 648
Tares cakculated asing the Fonsh tax eate T 228 198 Net deferred tax llabllitles - 00 00
Difterent tax rates of foreign subsidiaries T ) - T Y T T T T o - ) ) i ) .
Share of resull i assocates and ot vestores 7 " oo T es Deferred tax habiites that are expected 1 realise after 12
Tax-exempt InCome - TTT ee T T T TTos monthsormore 528 602
Non-deductible expenses 5 I
Adjustments recognrsed tor taxes of prior mm:amm} - -7 o i.o.u ) 0 m.
tcome taxes, total T i Y 165
Eftective (ax rale T T T T T T T e

Effective tax rate was 20 8 per cent (-16.7)

B - Content of the section
Y = Accounting prenciples
H - (nbical accounting estrmates
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Changes In deferred taxes dunng 2014
Recognised fecognised in

In the income shareholders”
EUR mij) 2013 statervent equity 2014
Deferred tax assets
Confirmed lgsses T T T T 16 21 623
Employee benefits o -t M.n.'n T NIH 13} 51
Finance leasing - -7 o |oo|l iém 040
Caputalsation of overhead expenses - - T Tre T T w0 T T Tae
Change in accounting principles in 2014 related to engine
mamntenance 34 34 a0
Other temporary n_mma_.nmm. o T A 2 ~|I. o .om 27
valuation of dervatives at far vave FE 174 187
Total ) T T T 69.2 0.7 203 8.8
otiset agains! delerred tax assets frestatedy 692 - 550
Net deferred tax assets ) - lllabit I ‘138
Delerred tax assets that can be used after more than 12 months - es - I|ﬂo|

Recognlsed Recognised In

in the income sharehoiders
EUR mill 2013 Staternent equity 2014
Deferred tax flabillties
Gams from sale of E_._..w_a_m._l_vﬂ. assets BRTY) 166 o 518
Hybrid bond interest ) - T 28 06 T
Employee benefits T T T T T 03 10
Total i ’ T T T T e s oo sse
Oftset against deferred tax m.&m: :m.ua.m&: N ) T ee2 550
Wetdsferredtaxfiablltes 34 ) 0.0
beferred tax habsitigs that are Qmmmmm to realise after 12 T T

manths or more 696 528

5.2 Dispurtes and litigation

Finnair reports only cases of whach the interest 15 600 thousand euros or more and that are not :nsured On 31 December
2015 there were no such disputes pending

5.3 Events after the closing date

Finnair has secured financing, arranged by BNP Panbas, for its third Airbus A350-900 XWB, which was delivered on 30
December 2015 The transaction amounts to approximately [35 milion euros, implemented using a Japanese Operating
Lease with Call Optien (JOLCO) structure, where the transactron amount 1s treated in Finnair's IFRS accounting as a loan
and the aircraft as owned There have not been other remarkable events after the closing date
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5.4 Restatement of key ratios

As of } January 2015, Finnair has adjusted calculation methods of unit revenue (RASK, unit revenue per available seat kilo-
metre) and unat cost (CASK, unit cost per available seat Milumctre) to better refleet the changes in the Group structure
Traffic previously operated and marketed by Flybe {(currently named as Norra) has become part of the purchase traffic
agreement between Finnairand Norra and RASK and CASK for comparison year have been restated to reflect this change
in addition, RASK has been restated to include all revenue and costs of mflight sales Before restatement these were partlv
included in CASK [n addition, restated CASK includes all costs related to group support functions, of which some were
previoush excluded from the calculation Unit revenue per revenue passenger kilometre (yield) for companson vear has
also been restated due to changes in the Group structure

Finnairalso mtroduced new key figures RASK and CASK at constant currency to provide comparative, currency neutral
measurement on urit revenues and costs  All the exchange rate changes and currency hedging effects have been excluded
from RASK and CASK at constant currency

‘The equity ratio formula has been restated to better reflect generally used formula in the aitline bustness Previously eq-
uity ratto was calculated by dmviding equsty with total asse ts, excluded with prepayments recenved The restated calculaton
only dvides equity with total assets, wathout any adjustments related to prepayments

The restated quarterly 2014 Ley ratios are presented in the tables below Changed formulas are described 1n Note 18
Calculation of key ratios

Cumulative key figures
Restated Reported
2014 2014
Equity fatio % 273 277
“Unit revenue um_.\ avallable seat kilometre (RASK) cents/ASK 623 610
Untt qm<m=!=m1m2.ﬂmum==ml mmamzlmﬂ r._am_mw.a.s%_e cents/RPK 645 659
Uit cost per avallable seat kiomelre (CASK) cents/ASK ) ’ 653 637
“CASK mxn_‘.._mﬁ:mi«_._mﬁ cents/ASK T ’ 449 431
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6 Parent company financial statements Finnair Pic batance sheet
Finnair Pic income statement EUR mill Note 2015 2014
ASSETS
EUR mill Wote 20i5 2014 - T~ " - -
Revenus 62 2,066.4 19787 Won-current assets B )
Other operating Income - - T T/ - - quLI 77T 7626 a5 ﬂ..ﬂmm%a_m assets - -0 - T os12 121 127
Operating ncome o T 2,291 20171 Tangrble assets Tt /T T 613 i 30" a2
i o B B CT T T T o B R 7 _gnammmml o T - m:.
Materials and services - N B - - 6 & T 11128 11076 “Shares in mﬂ%.musuﬂ.__mm T T T . .. 4526 4491
Staff costs o T T o5 T w82 17 " Shares i assoclated companies . ) 25 47
cauaaﬂ_an and reduction invalue - T T T T s m$ N Ih.wla' 53 Qther 1nvestmends - o 04 0a
Other aperating expenses S N 1Y) 8091 “Loan and other recenvables T g1 L7y I T 120
Operating expenses total y\ - ‘IW -r .lll‘\ L T \I o \1\H‘rWa.nxuWo+ .u.lww.m_i Oeferred tax assets oRH 653 732
Total non-current assets 602,9 5932
Operating profitfloss T TTTTTT T B8 T Tases Tt Tt T T T o - )
- T -ttt o, e e e Current assets. T - - - )
— el — — —— — . ——
Financial income and expenses 68 181 21 Current recewvables 617 6787 7417
o N ST s T 0 T “Marketable securibies - T T 618 4217 3128
Profit/loss before extracrdinary items . O - ‘Cashand bank cquivalents ’ 619 71 887
) T T T/ T T Totalcurventassets ) 1,382.5 11631
Extraordnary wems . T T T T T e T T s 1360 - - - 0 =
- - - _——— — — ——— ———— e et e ——— — - —_——— - — — - - - - -
TOTAL ASSETS 1986 4 1,756 3
“Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes T T Tea T T 4 - T 7 T
) T S, Ty e o T T EQUITY AND LABILTIES -
Appropnations ) o7 i - T R T || 02 S 0 = /0 - :
tcome taxes T T T T T 87 Equity - - 620
B - o - - T T ) - T mgqmn% ST T - ) 754 754
Profit/loss for the fnandal year T T TTT T T ae” 538 ‘Share premwm account : 247 247
) - o - ) - a T . Legal reserve T T ) : b 1477 1477
Wedgngreserve - ) 41 852
Unrestricted equity funds - T 7504” 2505
“Retaned Mu:—_:‘mm, llllll - o ,S._. Tar7
“Proht/loss for the financiat year o 409 638
Yotalequity B - ) 4289 3971
Accumulated appropnations - T 7 g2’ w0 89
“Provisrons - T - B N 622 898 872
“Liabilities - 0 T - )
Non current liabilities T T - T oen ' 967 049
“Current habtties - 0 - - 622 10510 9583
Total Nabilitles . i 14477 1,263.2
EQUITY AND LIARISTIES TOTAL 1984 & 1,756.3
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Finnalr Pic cash flow statement

EUR mifl 2015 2014
Cash flow from operating -ﬂsﬁna

e e e Ly
zS:: hefore mx._.wca_am:. items 710 1087
OmEm:m_zs - T T T/ - BTV 53
Other non-cash transactions - -0 - T T Y 422
Financial income and expenses 0 0 T 181 321
Changes in working capital T - - T T 67 211
Interest and ather financial expenses uma - - - - .uoﬂf T me m-
zmnmzmn __._qum: and other financial ncome T T T il.__m.r.lultiT 166
ﬂsu_.. flow from ounqn»._..n activitles B - T M[ T <147.2
— e U

Cash ___nl from _iqﬂ-ncq_ﬂua

_Emmﬁam_._.m n _Ew:w_c.m and Ezm_a_m assets B T e m». B s
“Proceeds from sales of tangible assets T B 84 00
Q&:mm I 8:« term En._zww_mm D T o i wW ] 532
_Em.amam n wﬂoclunmsema_mm - o T T T _mmr T
Proceeds from um_mm of associates and _o_a ventures T T da 00
o:i _:émgmam IIIII - Tt o@r )
Cash flow from Investing activitles T T mr Ty
Cash low froe financing activities T T T et T -
vanna& from _ama - T = lmmlmx!lmlol
_.o...zqmum,.amrﬂwlm:mn:w:mmm Tttt tTrm T/ T/ ot T ;m:..||waal
Proceeds from tybrdbord C T oo T T 7 oo
:_a:u bond aumﬁ:m:: ) T Y 00
Receved and gvengrovpconrbetons T "7 380 1036
Cashflow from financing activities |||,“ - ||-~mlmm)u
‘ChangeIn cash flows T ||Ir--!| w4 322
.u..ﬂ:ua_s:n&._?:n- - - T T -, T T TTmTm T
_._E_a E:& at ecm:..:_:m ) T T Taas 4536
Q&amm w cash flows CoTTTT T T o T ~mmqbl||.u.-n
Uquid funds, atend T was | aus
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Notes to Finnair Pl financlal statements

6.1 Accounting principles
The financial statements of Finnatr PIc have been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Standards (FAS)

Forelgn currency items

Business transactions n foreign currencies have been valued using the exchange rate on the date of transaction Recetva-
bles and habilities on the balance sheet date are valued using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date Advances paid
and receved are valued in the balance sheet using the exchange rate on the date of payment Fxchange rate differences on
trade recewvables and payables are treated as the adjustments to revenue and other operating expenses Exchange rate dif-
ferences on other recevables and labilities are entered under imanaial income and expenses

Derivative contracts

According to its nsk management policy, Finnair uses foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity dervatives to reduce
the nsks which anse from the company's currency denominated purchase contracts, forecasted purchases and sales as well
as future jet fuel purchases Dervative contracts are valued using the rates on the balance sheet date according to Account
ng Act Chapter 5 Article 2a The accounting principles related to dervative contracts and hedge accounting are described
more specifically in Finnair Group's financial statement in the section 3 8 Dernatrves

Financial assots and labilitles
Financal assets have been Lassified nto the following categories financial assets at fair vatue through proht or loss (as
sets held for trading), held-to-maturity investments, foans and other recervables The classification 1s made on the basis of
the purpose of the acquisition of the financral assets :n connection wath the original acquisition All purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the trade date 1 1abilities are recognised at acquisition cost Financial assets at fair val-
ue through profit and loss as well as assets and habilities maturing within 12 months are are included in current habiities
Finnair assesses on each closing date whether there s any objective evidence that the value of a financial asset item or
group of items has been impaired H there 15 objective evidence that an impairment loss has ansen for loans and other re
ceivables entered at amortised acqusition cost on the balance sheet or for held-to-matunty investments, the size of the loss
15 determuned as the difference of the baok value of the asset itemn and the present value of expecied future cash flows of
the sard hinanceal asset item discounted at the original effective mterest rate The loss 1 recognised through profit and loss
Other financial assets and habihtzes are recognised a1 fair value Other financral assets include trade recervables, accrued
income and prepaid expenses as well as other non-current recervables hke loan recesvables and other investments as well as
the secunties for aircraft leases Other financral liabilities include trade payables, accruals and deferred income
Derecogmition of financial assets takes place when the company has lost its contractual nght to receive the cash flows or
when 1t has substantially transferred the risks and rewards outside the company

Fixed assets and depreciation
‘The batance sheet values for fixed assets are based on onginal acquisition costs less planned depreciation Land areas are
not depreciated Planned depreciation is based on the expected economic hifetimes

+ IT software: 3-8 years

+ Other intangible assets 3-10 years

+ Buildings over 50 years from time of acquisition to a residual value of 10 per cent or 3—7 per cent of the dimmishing balances
+ Other tangible assets 23 per cent of the dimimishing balances




STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION  FINANCE GOVERNANCE

Research and development costs
Except for major software development costs, research and development costs are expensed as they occur Research and
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6.3 Other operating income

development of aircraft, svstems and operations 1s conducted pnimanly by the manufacturers EUR mill 2015 2014
Leasing Rental Income s 357
Lease payments for arcraft are significant Annual lease paymenits are treated as rental expenses Lease payments due in Capital gams on sales of tangible assets o . 133 . 0o
future years under atrcraft lease contracts are presented as off-balance sheet items Other income 177 8.8
Extraordinary ltems HME'II- e . L - .- 62.6 ans
Extraordinary items consist of income and expenses which deviate from the ordinary activities of the company such as
group contnbutions 6 4 Materfals and services
Appropriations EUR mif 2015 2014
‘The difference between total and planned depreciation 15 shown as accumulated appropriations in the balance sheet and

Matenals and suppliers
the change during the financial year in the income statement. Cround handim 3nd — — - - -

‘The Finnish Business Income Tax Act enables deduction of reinvestment provision in connection with sale of premises Groun ‘wmmuh._lm and catering expenses 1947 1827
The accumnulated amount of reinvestment provision ts included in the balance sheet and the change during the financial Furel costs . . - . N 5968 6430
year n the income statement Arrcraft materiaks and overhau! 2160 1908
I ¢ IT expenses 547 4560
Income taxes in the income statement include taxes caleulated for the financial year based on Finnish tax provisions, ad- _ Otheritems o A . 523 450
pastments to taxes in previous financial years and the change in deferred taxes Total 1,114 4 1,1076
Pension schemes
h 6.5Staft costs

e mandatory pension cover of the company s demestic empluyees has pnmanly been arranged through ilmannen Mutual
Pension Insurance Company and other addibionat pension cover through the Finnair Pension Fund ot Finnish pension in-

EUR mill 2015 2014
surance companies Since 1992, the pension fund has no longer accepted employees other than pilots for additional pen-
<10n coverage. The Finnair penston fund’s pension obhigation 1s fully covered with respect to additional coverage Pension Wages andsalanes _ B 297 237
fund hiabifitzes are presented in the notes to the financial statements Pension expenses i 345 56
Provisions Other sotial expenses 139 125
Provisions ity the balance sheet and entered as expenses i the income statement comprise those items which the compa- Total _ o _ 268.2 %17
ny 1s committed to covening through agreements or otherwise in the foreseeable future and which have no corresponding ) _ o
revenuc 2nd whose manetary value can be reasonably assesscd Salary and bonus expeases of Chiet Executive Othcer and Members of

The company 15 abliged to return leased aircraft at the required redelvery condition To fulfif these maintenance obliga- the Board of Directors

tions the company has recognised provisions based on flight hours flow n during the maintenance pened Cheel Executwe Olficer - ot ’ 12 10
Board of Directors 04 04
6 2 Revenue by business area e - —-—— - - -
EUR mill 2015 2014 Personnel onaverage - ’ i
Revenue by dwrsion Alrline Business 3297 3,396
Aurline Business T T T T T T T T T T asea 19727 Other functions 177 157

Passenger fevenue - 1,8374 17445 Total o L _ _ 3,475 1,554

Ancillary services 394 212

Atroraft lease ncome 1428 1538 6.6 Planned depreclation and amortisation

Other i T 48 532

- - ol EUR mill 2015 2014
— . —— e o — —— e ——— 0n other tong-term expenditure L 35
Drsiribution of revenue by market areas based on fiight routes % of revenue - m— - - - -

and - - - - - e e o m e e |mwa.| —— On buildings 56 ge

F _ = - —_ -

_ Fanfan ) o N _ o e .S. — On other equipment 11 09

m - — — - = e = _- - T -

urope - _ - e S -2 Total 118 53

Other countnes 43 43 — - -

Total 100 100
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6 7 Other operating expenses 6.1 Income taxes
EUR mill T 015 2014 EUR mill 2015 2034
Lease payments for arcraft R L 2173 2400 Change n am_m:.ma axmm -101 87
Other rents for amcratl nmumn_s 1163 27 Tota! -101 82
Ll [l R A o =< - - B
Office and other rents o 336
Traftic charges - I .1 53 6.12 Intangible assets
Sales and marketing expenses 640 545
IT expenses 883 758 EUR mIH 2015 2014
Other expenses 183 832 Other long-term expenditure
Total R L Ea.lo 8091 >E=_m___o_.. cost 1 January 465 426
Additions a2 41
6.8 Financlal Income and expenses _Osposals . 132 _ 03
Acquisition ncmn 31 December 375 265
EUR mil) 2015° 2014 I - - = - = T )
Interest income e Accumulated ngan_ﬂ_o; 1 Janvary ) - -339 306
7 99 - - - = B - B 2
From mSS companes i o _ .  Drsposals B ] ~ ) 125 02
Fegm am:a. tompames w20 Depreciation and reduction m value 40 35
..-.onu_ - - - - el ol ol |PW. _ nu.o. _'Rn.._._usnnn nuc#n.b:an wn Detember <254 =339
Gansondsposalofshares - 82 Go me value 31 December i h 121 127
e eSS ol Intanglble assets Total 31 December . ) 121 127
To group companies i3 <13 - == -
Ta ather companies 193 -194
._...E - - 20.6 207 6.13 Tangible assets
PR _—_— e - —_ Tangible assets 2015
oSm_. _,.Sm_._n&_ expenses (o oz.m_. Companies 99 231
- _ T e — - Other Advances
e — o . _ . e e EUR mill. Land Buildings  etquipment paid Total
lmmn_._mswwm.__._m .m_..m_ losses o s 02z Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2015 07 510 83 65 665
L o N . Additions. 00 0o 10 191 21
m_.Ea_u_ _..ﬂi._a._ﬁ_uaem.'_ ) . __ Disposals 0o 265 21 65 351
bna.-w:_ea cost 31 Dec ~evm 0.7 248.5 72 191 515
6.9 Extraordinary ltems T . - - )
£UR mill - 7015 2014 >nn=3:_m.rmn\n\m=\an&=o= 1 _msmo? ) [131] ~ 202 52 [e]¢] 25 m-
Recerved group contribution 1392 1360 _ Dsposals o oo e 19 . oo 131
- _ - = - . - - Depreciation tor the financial year 00 24 09 [t ]o] =33
g&ﬂna d nﬂs 31 Dec 2015 0.0 114 -4.2 0.0 ‘158§
6,10 Appropriations —_— 3-2. - .
EUR mill 2015 2014 Bookvalue3iDec 2015 B 07 131 10 19.1 80
Change In depreciation difference L o2 o
Change In 8__._<G=._._ma uacm.os 200 +11] The share of machings and mn..__u_._._m_.; in the _uao_ﬁ value

T ST TN ST T T T T s T 412 h 0.2 of tangible assets 31 Dec 201% os

Total
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Tangible assets 2014 Share of
Other Associates and joint ventures parent company %
EUR mill. Land Bulkdings equipment pakd Total Suomen Iimailuoprsto Oy Finland 4950
ACQUISIton Cost 1 Jan 2014 07 510 83 41 641 - - ST T i
a e — [ — - Nordit Regiona! Arlines AB 4000
>In_n=_o=m o ~ . __ _b0 00 10 23 .33 {previously Flybe Nordic) Sweden
Disposals 00 0o 10 00 10 T
Acquisttion cost 31 Dec 2014 o.r 510 a3 6.5 66.5 Share of Share of
R - - T s e e Group companies parent company % parent company %
- - - - -- - - - — Fmnarr Carge Oy Finland 100 00 x__am_u.a Oy LEKD m Fenfand 10000
accumulated depreciation 1 Jan 2014 00 193 52 00 245 fmnar Casgo0y Pinland 10000 Kuatestd Oy
Omsposals 00 00 08 00 08 _Fmnar Arcraft fnance Oy, Finland 10000 It Finnarr Lid Great Britam 10000
Depreciation for the financial year 00 09 03 00 17 lzm::uozlg Fmland 10000 AfSAero airlnes Estonia 10000
mutated depreciation 31 Dec 2014 - 0.0 203 Y 00 253 @.Bh«mng_n»_ Sarvites Oy _u_:s_:al I, . >_._.sam5|m_..._m=a Oy Finland 9500
- - - - o= - - - —— - = — - ———— - — _“__._>_._ml__. Engine mmE_nmm s Oy Findand 10000 Oy Aurinkomatkat Suntours Ltd Ab Finland 10000
R e e i . - N
Book value 31 Dec 2014 0.7 308 32 a5 aiz Fnnair Fhight BuquloH ms_m:ia . ___ 10000 SMTOy Finland 10000
- - - - - - - - - - - - s _Finnarr Travel Retall Oy F rz_&a B 10000 Norvista Travel Lid, Canada 10000
— e - N k
,:..m share of machines and equipment 1 The book value \GM,...@ n:m?. Finland | Oy _"_n_m_a _ ) 10000 FTS Frnancial Servces Oy Fantand 10000
of tangible assets 31 Dec 2014 07 x__am_mmo Oy Air mm_.ma @m. 1 ns_m:n_ 10000 Backotice mm:._nmm Estora Qu Estonia 10000
o T - - Kuntestd Oy Lentokonehuolto Finfand w00
6.E4 Investments * The group has made an cooperation agreement which includes a call option and ceased control over the company
€ur mill 2015 2014 ICFinnair Ltd rs a fully owned captive insurance company in Guernsey which earnngs are subject to narmal taxation in Fintand
Group companies
Acqursition cost 1 January Y 2491 6.15 Non-current loan and other recelvables
Additions S . .. .3 5. 00 EUR mill 2015 2014
weewlﬁ._hnlw.— unon:.vo- _— - - - o e :,nm 2.6 —_ 4.1 From group companigs 325 116
- I . _ o 4 e . From other companies 15 04
assoclates and joint ventures S . o o Totn! 341 120
ACQuesition Cost 1 Janyary a7 154 e ———— e & — - -
T ) i - Y 00
Dreposals - S U 6.16 Deferred tax assets
Revalyation of shares N 00 -107
g%ﬂ December o 25 a7 £UR mill 2015 2014
N Deferred tax assets 1 January 732 442
- — R - e at e e g ik eeiiing - - - -
Shares in other Sauuatn From result for the m:m:n&_ 32 28 103
»n._:_m_zg Sm_ _m_.__._m:, 04 04 From temporary differences T 73 190
- - - — U, o .- — .
ueor value: 31 December 0.4 0.4 From valuation of derwvates at fair 53» 22 202
“eferred Fu assets 31 unnnavn_. 653 732




STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION  FINANCE GOVERNANCE

6,17 Current receivables
EUR mill 2015 2014
Shost-term recewvables from group comparies
Trade recewables 210 4315
- VU
xmﬂ_éa Group 8_.5555_._ 1392 1360
- e
Accrued income and Em?w_n eapenses 32 41
Other recevables 2824 329 u
Total 445.8 512.8
m_._o: term mmnmzma_mm frem mmwen_&mm and Jo jomt ventures - T -
Trade qmnm_ﬁa_mm 112 4z
__oes_ 112 4.2
e — . - _—
“short-term q?mZpu_mm from 2_._@3
Trade aamzma_a 1015 914
vaga mémaa 313 264
Dervative :mnmz.mEmm 558 792
9_.2 recervables 331 275
Total T T T 217 2206
m-_e...-ﬂ:.. Hn-.ﬁ!la T -t - ‘a7 - ALY
6.18 Investments
EUR mill B ¥ 2014
Short-term mvestments at far value 4277 3328
6.19 Cash and hank equivalents
EUR mill ) 014
Funds m group bank accounts and deposits :&E::m n ==mm an._zm 2711 887
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6.20 Equity
Unre-
Share stricted
Share  premium Legal Hedging equlty  Retained Equity
EUR mill capital account reserve reserve funds earnings total
ma==< 1Jan 2018 754 4.7 1477 852 2508 -16.1 971
n:m:mm n mm:ﬂm_ﬁ_lm.om :mum_sm )
Instruments 90 -30
Share based um.m:mﬂmn T ot a0
nmm\:._ﬂm;ﬂtﬁmnm m=mm.m_mm<mmq T ) ) 409 409
Equity 31 _...a... uoum o 754 24.7 1477 £4.1 250.4 ~Pw| 4289
Unre-
Share stricted
Share  premum Legal Hedging equity  Retained Equity
EUR mill caprtal account reserve reserve funds  earnings total
Equity 1 Jan 2014 =a 4.7 1477 4.2 250.5 irr 5319
Change m fair value of hedging - o -7 T
instruments 809 -809
“Share based Bﬁ:m:; T T B o1 - ’ 01
“Result for the fnancial year ’ - 538 538
Equity 31Dec2014 754 247 t4k7 852 250.5 -16.1 3971
Distributable equity
EtR mdll 2015 2014
Hedging reserve 941 -852
Umrestncted equity funds T 504" 505
Retaned earnmgs - - oot e 317
g::msna_ <m2 i - i 409 538
Total T o i 111 1492
6.21 Accumuiated appropriations
EUR mill 2015 2014
Accumulated depreciation difference 1 January 89 91
Change in nmu—mni_o:m_.ﬁla_ﬂam ) 89 ; 0.2
_-R._a___-ﬂm_ﬂnm,.dln_m-_laﬂ.m_ao?:na uu._mum,nun_, i ) - i 0 op 8e
EUR mill 201% 2014
accumutated reinvestment provision 1 january ao a0
Change tn a.=<mm|=mm_~luysms_.. ST T T “200” 00
Accumulated reinvestment pravision 31 December -ttt T 200 0.0

Reinvestment provision is recorded relating to acquisition of new cargo terminal
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6.22 Provisions 6 24 Current lfabilitles
EUR milt 2015 2014 EUR mill 2015 2014
Provisions 1 January 872 540 Current liabilitees to group companies
Provision for the period ) T s s " Trade payatles - 329 28
Provsion used - - - T T Ty T 472 " Accruals and deferred mcome o 133 158
Exhange rate differences ’ T B 7 D 10 w, T T as -ﬂm& bank account liablities i ) 1786 1311
Provisions 31 December T T B ™Y " ) o T ) 248" 1917
Of which long-term T - T T s26 532 T
OFwhich shortterm - o T T Ty T T e “current iabilies to associates and jomt venluses -
Total 7 T T T T T T s T T T Teiz tadesavables - 0o 03
- ST T - T T o Accruals and deferred mcome b Q00 31
Long-term airceaft maiatenance provisions are expected to be used by 2027 Yotd T T T T T/-° - 0.0 1.4
6.23 Non-current labilities Current liabilives to others o o
£UR mill 315 2014 _toamstrom fmancal mstwunons ) 238 245
Loans from group companies 10 10 - Q_._.éma}_m_wm!wma ...... ——— —_—— — oc¢ 280
Loans from finangial institutions . T T T T e T T 38 Prepayments o 01 01
“Bonds - - - /- /T 1562 1558 Trade cw___mc_mm L L o 104 49}
Hybrid bond — T I - ~mef T Tz _ Accruals and deferred income L na? 6482
mm_mm— _.ma___:rmm - T T INJM.' D \IM;wp ogzmﬂﬁ_mm___zmw|u . B 173 N 132
Total - - - - -~ - - - = w.olo.mfl 1049 Total o L ) 826.3 763.1
N - - inttholPU o E——
.:mzﬂq_: of mterest-bearmg __ma___nwr - Tt T T T o o - Current Habilltles nt__zn_ [ - . 1,051.0 958.3
2016 T T — s - ‘
w7 - Tt T T l‘am+ T Tt Accruals and deferred income o R .
ms 0 T/ - - — T T 150 o&\ - T _._%93._ m_ql_al_..m_s: revenues o 07 25h23
2019 - o — - T T T T T TTLe” R et fuiels andtraficcharges 672 639
2020 Tt T - - et T T e I:mm]liiil. Holiday payment hability R o . _ 517 507
2621 and later T o T Tmes T T T Loyalty program Finnaw Plus . . 9 96
Total - Tttt T/ o - Tt T ,_S.N.p,l- - T Dervatives o 1800 1937
- - T Tt T T e T e I — Other items 955 768
Total o T T - 7280 5671
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6.25 Collatera, contingent liabilities and other commitments 6.26 Derlvatives
31 Dec 2015 11 bec 2014
EUR mill "~ C s 2014 EUR mill Nominal value Falr value Nominal vatue Falr value
Guarantees and contingent H_ma___:mm Currency derivatives
on behalf of group compantes - || T/ T -.~|H' T nnwmm 9 :mamm'mm_nm_._ﬂ_:n items :e_.sm_a contracts) - i}
onbehalf of associates T T 7 &g~ 20 fet fuel currency hedging - 3316 a1 1854 359
On others companies ST T oo T T e T T T o Hedge nsoe.aﬂ_mm.. ol 1316 a1 385 4 59
Total - T . T o I T T ttems outside hedge manocasw - b
- - Tt/ T T T T T, Operational cash fow hedging tforward Sa_.mau 3075 148 3704 95
Arcraft lease payments T T T Temr T/ Ilnﬂ_guﬂm T o, o4 37_ o2 L]
Witmoneyear T T 2522 2277 Putoptons "~ . s 4t 1780 30
Alter one year and not later than Iive years T T e 10476 Mems outside hedge accounting total 506 3 1z _ 6585 36
Later than five years I. h T 330 mv - ||~mo!“_. n:ﬁ%@ nﬁnu._ —_ — L1379 » a. - Iu..?-u ° 695
. _ e . e
Total . _ _ o 1@& 1,534.4 p 34._|n1¢||uyﬂn|lll -— H - |7 - -
Parent company has leased the arcratt fleet from the fuly owned subsidiary :m__mmialmnegzﬁ._mmm_w .
Jet fuel forward contracts, tonnes 06 -1407 05 1423
— - T 2014 Medpysccounting ems total 06 1208~ " T os 1423
Other fease cms.:m: m _:..._.:m ocnmamlsmn_Mml mnnccz‘@mi ) B _
Witkin one year - - - - omTe %6 778 .I_ml_ E aqls.ma mo\zmana tonnes _ . 00 42 A [+])] 86
After one year and not later than hve <mmum| - - - 0 - .mN.._.T - .Imuo - ow__c'_..w- - — e o - —_ -
Later than fve years ) T T T TTThan T s oo Clostons etfuel tonnes 0z 06, 02 01
Yotal _— e - — - nf?l.ﬂ.lllg _ |Eom:}3m<_mm=m_ tonnes ) o -0.3 262 02 <393
- B —_ —_—— - —_ - Electrty dervatives Mwh co Q3 00 03
VR Tems outside hedge accounting total o1 302 04 a1
Penson obkgavors “Commodity derivatives totad T 0s ane’ 10 100.4
Totaf obligation of pension fund 317 328.8 - - - - - -
Tota! obligation covered T T s - 0" T a3m .m‘ i 38 Interest _.-?.nm.._ﬂmm?alll T -
Uncovered obligation of Wm:!c_l._ fund IM.M - M i “l“l H\I l‘. H .l 00 00 Hedge accounting ftems. - - o
Total ) .| L% imteresteateswaps " 1500 ) 1500 58
Medge accounting ltems total ) " 1500 52 150.0 5.8
1tems outside mmm_wmmccrzlzm T i i
Interest rate swaps - - Y 00 LT R 31
“ttems outside hedge accounting wtal ) 0o 0.0 %50 01
“Interest rate derivatives total T 1500 52 " 150 " s8
“Equity dertvatives T ) N
“Hedge accounting tems -
N m.an..inuzo_._m ) B ; )
" Calloptions T T 30 56 30 07
T eutopions : 30 14" 10 01
ﬂ_.uﬂﬁ|n§§=_.u ftemstotal - 60 Al 60 0.6
me_i,_..idm:a @ i 6.0 41 60 0.6
Dertvativestotal - 1242 145
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Calculation of key ratios

Operational resull:
peratmg result exthugng faor value changes in derivatives, changes i the
exchange rales of Beel pverhauby and non recprring ilerm

Mon-recorring items.
Capital gains and losses as well as items redated 4o the restructusing and
other non recurming items

Gperational ERTTDAR:
Operational result + depreciabion + lease payments tor aucralt

Sharebolders’ equity:
Equity attrsbutable to cwners of the parent

Gruss capital expenditere-
investments n ntangible and 1angwble assets exchudng advance payments

Avarage capital employed.
Bakance sheet total  nan-mterest bearsng liabies (average)

interest-bearing net debt:
Interest bearing labdities  athei current hrancal assets  cash and cash
equmvalents

Exrnings per share:
Resoll toc the Inancial vear  fvbrd bund expemes aet of tax

Average number of shares dueng the tinancial year
adjusted for share rssues

Result for the period/share
Resedf for the bnancial year

Averape number of shares duting the fitancial year
atjusted for share rssues

Equity/share:
Shareholders equiy

Number of shares at the end of financsal year adjusted for share ssues

Dividend/earnings, %
Davwdendl/share

Earntngs/share

=100

Dhridend yleld, %.
Owdend/share

Share piace af the end of the hinancial year

=100

Cash flow from operating activities/share-
Cash flow trom operating actmbies

Average number of shares durng the fnangiat year
adpsted for share Is5ues

Price/eamnings ratio (P/E}
Share price at the end ot the hnancal year

Earnmgs/share

FINANCE  GOVERNANCE

Equity ratio, %
Shareholders equity + non controlling inferest

Balance sheet total

Gearing, %.
Interest beaning net debt
Sharehalders eguity + non-Conteallmg interest

Adjusted gearing, %.
Interest beanng net debt + 7 = kease payments for arcraft

=100

=100

=160
Shareholders equity + non controlling interest

Return on equity (RDE), %.
Resudt for the financial year

100
Shareholders equity « non controlling interest (average)

Return on capital employed (ROCE), %.
Resuft belore taxes + hnanc) expenses

=100
Average capstal employed

Available seat kilometres (ASK)
Total number of seats avaitable » klometres flown

i oK)y
Humber of revenue passengers » kikometres Hown

Passenger load factor, %
Share af revenue passenger kikometres of availabde seat kdometres

Avallable tonne Kllometres (ATK)-
Kumber of toanes of capacity for carriage of cargu and mad = kilometres
ficrwns

Revenoe tonne kilometres (RTK})-
Total revenve load consssting of cargo and matl = klometres fown

Overall load facter, %
share of revenue tonne kilometres of avadable tonne kilometres

Revenoe per avallable seat kilometre (RASK)-

Unit revenoe (RASK represents the Artine Business lralfc revenue dvided
by avaratle seat kdiometres (ASK) Intlight sales and Carge revenues are
wncluded wm RASK on a nel basss, decreased by dwect costs felated to those
operatons.

Uni revenue (RASK) with constant currency aims (o provide a comparative
Currency nediral measurement for unit revenpes All the currency changes
and cureency hedging resutts are excluded from the measurement

Cost per svallable seat kilometre (CASK):
Unil cost (CASK) represants the Awbne Business aperatonal costs dvded
by avadiable seat kigmetres Operatwonal costs mclude a catculatee capdal

cost tor Finnaw gperated and owned awcratt Direct operabwonal costs related

10 Cargo operatians ang milight sakes are extlugded i the measurement as
their residts are included on a net bass i umt revenves, Non traffic related
revenue 5 netled off and deducted from operational costs

Unet cast {LASK) with Constant currency ams to provie a comparative

currency neutral measurement for unit costs. All the currency changes and
currency hedging results are excluded Irom the measurement
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Board of Directors’ proposal on the dividend

Finnair Pic’s distributable equity according to the financial statements on 31 Decermber 2015 amounts to
181,101,862.30 euros

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meetmg that no dividend shall be paid and the result
for the financial year be retaned in the equity

Signing of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Finandal Statements
Helsinky, § February 2016
The Board of Drrectors of Finnair Plc

=

CA T e —
Klaus Henemann

! /
% Jh i AN

Harn Kermurlen

—

"~
\\.M\QJ))),

MJM.-.Q. e w\?..\r Ot
Maia-Lusa Fiman >

Gunvor Kronman

A

laana Tuominen Nigel Turner

a4
Pekka Vauramo
President and CEO of Finnate Ple
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Auditor’s Report (Translation from the Finnish Original)

To the Annual General Meeting of Finnalr Oyj

We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the report of the Board of
Directors and the administration of Finnair Oyj for the year ended 31 December, 2015 The financtal
statements comprise the consoltdated statement of financtal position, tncome statement, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes 1n equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to
the consohdated financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, iIncome state-
ment, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements

Responsihillty of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparatton of consoli-
dated financial statements that give a true and fair view 1n accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation of financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the
Board of Directors in Finland  The Board of Directors 15 responsible for the appropriate arrangement
of the control of the company’s accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that
the accounts of the company are in compliance with the Jaw and that its financial affairs have been
arranged 1n a rehable manner

Anditor's Responsihility
Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on the financial statements, on the consohidated finan-
cial statements and on the report of the Board of Directors based on our audit The Auditing Act
requires that we comply with the requirements of professional ethics We conducted our audit in
accordance with good auditing practice in Finland Good auditing practice requires that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the
report of the Board of Directors are free from material misstatement, and whether the members of
the Board of Directors of the parent company or the Managing Director are guilty of an act or negh-
gence which may result m liability in damages towards the company or whether they have violated
the Linuted Liability Compantes Act or the articles of association of the company

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the nsks of maternial misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entaty’s preparation of financial statements and report of the Board
of Directors that give a true and fair view 1n order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company's internal control An audit also includes evatuating the appropriateness of accounting
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palicies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaha-
ating the overall presentation of the inancial statements and the report of the Board of Directors

We belicve that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s suthcient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

In our optnion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and far view of the financial posi-
tron, financial performance, and cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU

opinion on the Company's Financial Statements and

the Report of the Board of Directors

in our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and farr
view of both the consohdated and the parent company’s financial performance and financial position
wn accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements
and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland The information 1n the report of the Board of
Directors 15 consistent with the information in the financial statements

Other Opinions

We support that the financial statements and the consolidated hinancial statements should be
adopted The proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the use of the profit shown in the balance
sheet 1s 1n comphance with the Limuted Liabthty Companies Act We support that the Members of
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the parent company sheuld be discharged from
hability for the hinancial period audited by us

Helsinky, 9 February 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

ey

Mikko Nieminen
Authorised Public Accountant
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List of accounting books and voucher types

Batance sheet book paper documents
) Journal and mu__munu_l_nm«- electronic archive

Accounts recetvable and payable electromic archive

Bank recelpts - paper documents and electronic archive voucher types 42 43 68 69 70and Y

Sales __..S_n.nni - paper documents and electronic archive voucher types 30 31 40 41, XV XW Yl and YW
TFlght coupon vouchers electronic archive voucher types SC, SE SF, SH, 51 51, SM, SN, SO, SR, 55 and ST
“purchase nvolces paper documents and electroruc archave voucher types 63 64 66 67 YA YM YN YP YT YU and ¥X
pyﬂ.ﬂﬂﬂﬁ - paper detuments and electronic archive voucher types XQ and YV
“Travel and n-wlm_ﬂum tnvokces electronic archive voucher type YQ

-._dua:.fl gﬂqﬁ ) paper decuments and electromic archive voucher types XK and XM
" Fixed assets vouchers - paper documents and electronec archive voucher types AA and AF

Finnalr Plus vouchars electionic archive voucher type XY

Memo vouchers paper documents and electronic archrve voucher types 10 11, 13 12 16, 17, 18 19, 20 23, 24 XXand Y¥

Clearing vouchers

electromic archwve

voucher types 22 and SU
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Tax footprint

Finnarr's principle 1s 10 pay the indirect and direct taxes 121s subject to tn each country according to local regulatrons The
aim of tax planning 15 to suppert business decisions and to ensure their appropriate implementation, also from the per-
spective of taxation Finnair Group does not have any structures n place in order to transfer taxable income from Finland
to junisdictions with lower tax rates

Finnair's international business operations are mainly related to the sales of fight tickets and cargo through Finnair Ple s
foreign sales units, as well as focal sales promotion activities Sales units are not separate legal entities  The sales unats’ in-
come 15 taxed pursuant to the regulations and double tax treaties pertaining to the international aithne business as part
of the parent company’s taxable income in Finland The operations of Finnawr’s foreign subsidianies m 2015 and 2014 have
been primarnly related to travel services, and they are very minor in scale relative to the Groups business operations as a
whole Finnair also has a subsidiary for resnsurance operations regastered in the Guernsey islands for business reasons, the
result of which 1s subject to taxation in Finland pursuant to the Finrush Act on the Taxation of Shareholders in Controlled
Fore:gn Corporate Entities

Finnair’s taxable operatzons in individual countries outside of Finland are minor in scale Hence, the table below present
Finland separately and all other countries together Country level information for subsidiartes 1s found in the second table
on this page Country level specification for taxes paid and collected outside Finland s found on the next page

2015 2014
Finnair's operatlons in Fintand Other Other
anrd fn other countries Finfand* countries** Totat Finland* countries Total
Revenue EUR mil 23002 147 23240 22699 145 22845
Result before taxes EUR mil s 16 133 1004 14 991
Number af personnel Y 610 4906 4496 676 5172

* The taxable income In Finland includes the result of the remsurance company registered in Guernsey totallng 0 0 euros (0 0)
** Figures relating to ather countries include akso sold foresgn subs:dianes when they were part of Finnair group

Significant portton of the Group's revenue outside of Finfand relates to sold subsidiaries (Fstravel AS Fstravel Vinius UAB,
Latvia Branch) Other Finnair Group’s operative subsidiaries are located in Estonta, where income tax 1s due 1n connection
with distribution of dividends The Group has also dormant subsidiaries in Russia Specification for revenue, result before
taxes, tncome tax payable and number of personnel 1s presented in the below table

2015 2014
Finnair's operations In other countries  gstonia® ...ﬁi.—.. Latvia* fussia  Estonia  tithuania tatvia  Russia
Revenue EUR mll 132 11 05 00 131 08 05 00
Result before tazes EUR mill 16 00 o0 a0 06 01 0o 08
Income tax payable EUR mdl “o2 o0 00 00 05 00 00 00
Number of personnel 303 9 15 0 95 30 15 0

* Figures felating la other countrees inchude akso sold foreign sulrsidiaries when they were part of Finnarr group

The Group alse has a dormant subsidsary m Canada whichis under iquidation process and does not have revenue or person-
nel Profits of sates units are taxed 1 accerdance with regulations and double tax treaties pertaining to the international air-
line bustness and hence, revenue, result before taxes, income tax payable and number of personnel in other countries are not
separately adopted in financial statements Specification of taxes paid and collected in other countries 1s presented averleaf
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Other Dther
Direct taxes payahle, EUR mil) Finland*  countries** Total Finland*  countries Total
Employer contributions 59 EL) 89 57 10 58
Properly taxes 05 oo 05 T 06 00 “os
Other taxes 16 0o 16 17 o0 17
Pubhic substdies received -16 00 -16 11IIM|...| lllom - |l:.|
Taxes Included in direct operating T T
expenses and subsidles in total 64 30 o4 64 1.0 74
income taxes payable* 101 02 w3 o0 02 oz
Total direct taxes payable 18.5 32 197 b4 11 1

* Income taxes payable are tax expenses recorded based on the taxable result which has beenutilised agamst confirmed taxiosses
** Figures relating to other countries nclude ako taxes pard by sold foreign subsiciaries when they were part of Finnair group.

Other taxes primanly include taxes on insurance payments and electricaty taxes Due to the nature of the international air-
line business, jet fuel 1s tax-free Public subsidies consist of subsidies received for traming and they are primarily related to
the avation training services provided by Finnair The reported public subsidies do not include subsidies paid to the arrline
business by the authontzes in various countnes, as they are considered business secrets No such subsidies have been re-
ceved from Finnish authorities

Finnair has confirmed losses in taxation frem previcus tax periods amounting to approximately 31¢ millian euros The
estimated amount of confirmed tax losses after 2015 taxable result has been used 15 approximately 259 million euros The
confirmed tax losses can be utilised aganst positrve taxable income over the next four 1o ten years Income tax {cash tax)
becomes due for payment onk when previous losses have been utilised n full

More detailed specification of employer contnibutions pard in other countries 1s found on the next page

More mformation on direct taxes, such as the taxes pursuant to the consolidated tncome statement, deferred tax assets and
habilities, and the adjustment of the effective tax rate, 1s presented in Note 5 1 tn Finnair’s consolidated financtal statements

iIndirect taxes collected for other Other

the financial year, EUR mill Finland countries” Total Finland  countries Total
Value added taxes sales 83a 19 853 830 oo 831
Value added taxes purchases T 995 56 w51 979 30 1009

Value added taxes, net 161 a7 198 148 29 118

withholding taxes on wages and salaries T T

and other indirect taxes 844 31 875 88.0 20 %01

Excise taxes 03 00 04 't oo 09

Total 8.6 o5 681 M1 a8 72

* Figures refating to other countries mclude akso sold forergn subsidianies when they were part of Finnair group

The most significant ndirect taxes collected during the financial year are withholding tax liabilitees, vatue added tax and
excise taxes

In Finnair's view, the passenger tanffs collected from flight passengers are not considered tax-like payments remitted to the
authonities that are subject to being reported as part of the tax footprmt Passenger tariffs are remitted to the private or public
party responsible for amport operations in each country, and as they are direct compensation for the maintenance of airport ser-
vices, they do not meet the dehnition of a tax More detailed specification of taxes collected in ather countries 1s found overleaf
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Country specific information for 2015 15 presented below only regarding countnies wherte the amount of taxes paid, col-
lected or deducted 15 at least 0 05 millon euros Countries where this threshold is not met are presented as two areas be-
low The figures below include taxes paid and collected by subsidianes, sales unts as well as sold subsidiaries when the

companies were part of the Group
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Country speaific information for 2014 15 presented below only regarding countries where the amount of taxes paw, col-
lected or deducted 15 at Jeast ¢ 05 milhon euros Countries where this threshold 1s not met are presented as two areas be-
low The figures below include taxes pard and collected by subsidiaries, sales units as well as sold subsidiaries when the

compantes were part of the Group

2015 z014
Country spetification, Employer Vak added vt “u?h vatue added EM:.”_J_MH Country specification, Employer value added <ﬂ.ﬁu..ah_nn vatue added zuﬂ_.oﬂ_shu

EUR mifl contributions taxes, sales purchases taxes, net and salarles Total EUR mill contributions taxes, sales chases taxes, net and safarles Total
...oE.E._lna Countries

“Estona 15 09 06 04 08 27 China 02 00 s¢ 00 o4 05
hia 02 00 00 00 0s 08 UsA 01 00 Y oo T oz “o3
Whoama 0z o1 01 01 02 05 waly 01 00 o0 oo o1 o1
s 00 00 00 00 o1 01 The Netherlands 00 00 o0 o0 ol T o
“Latvia - 01 00 00 o 01 02 Estoma o1 00 01 01 oo o1
Wy 00 01 01 20 01 01 Span 00 ao 00 00 o1 ot
Twzetand 00 00 00 20 01 01 Switzerland 00 o0 w6 oo Tai T T oi
“Greete ) 00 01 0o o1 00 ot RusSa 00 00 00 00 o1 o1
ET 01 01 01 o1 0l 0 Sweden ot 00 “03 o3 uz " oo
Befgum 01 00 " 00 0o oo a1 Denmark 00 00 01 01 o1 oo
Austratia oo 00 01 o1 01 00 France 00 o0 @1 o1 80 o1
Sweden 01 01 04 Y 0z 00 Norway 00 00 02 02 o1 o
France 00 o1 01 01 00 00 Japan 01 00 06 06  oa o1
Deamark 00 00 01 a1 01 00 Thatland oo 00 ez 90z o1 o
“Smgapore 00 00 o1 01 00 01 Singapore 00 0o on 01 oo o1
UsA 0o 01 02 02 00 01 South Korea 00 00 0z | 02 Too T ol
South-Karea 00 00 02 02 00 01 Germany 00 00 06 Tos 0z T o3
Norway 00 00 05 05 0z 02 The UK 00 00 04 a4 " Toa T T Toa
\apan 03 00 10 09 s 02 Areas S T T T -
TGermany 00 00 04 04 02 03 Other EU-Countries® 01 00 01 00 00 01
;m__mam' o 00 00 04 04 01 03 Rest of the world** 0Q ao o?_ T ﬂ:& T om| I|oﬂ
The UK 00 00 09 08 00 08 Tota) 10 0.0 30 as " 20w
Areas — * Austria, Belgium Bulgana Croatia Czech Republic Greece Hungary Cyprus Latwa Lithuania Malta Poland Portugal and Slovenia

Other EU-countries” 01 0.2 02 L) 0l 01 ** Australa Canada and ingia

Rest of the worlg** 00 00 00 00 00 00

Totat 1.0 ) 56 3.7 11 25

* Ausstria, Bulgana, Croatia. Czech Republic, Cyprus, Hungary Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal and Slovenia

** Canada and India

Employer contnbutions pawd refate to mandatory employer payments regarding employees located outside of Finland
Withhelding taxes on salary are collected based on local legislaton Value added tax on sales and purchases relate mainly
to passenger sales and carge services Total amount of excise taxes cutstde Finland 1 2015 and 2014 has been less than 0 1
milhon euros and hence this information 15 not presented on a country-by-country basis
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Management principles

General management principles

Finnair's management system 15 aimed at achieving strategic goals, creating added value for the
company’s owners and other stakeholders, managing operational risks and improving the company’s
performance

Operations are guided by principles, policies and guidelines defined by the company, including the
following

+ Code of Conduct

+ Suppher Code of Conduct

+ Corporate responsibility

+ Environmental and energy policy

+ Risk management policy and related, more detailed guidelines concerning different areas
Security policy

+ Data security policy and gumdehnes

Disclosure pohicy

+ Equality policy

+ Remuneration policy

+ Procurement policy and guidehnes on supplier relationstup management
Sponsorship gurdelines

Gwdelines an anu-competition

+ The Group's anti-bribery guidelines

« The Group’s guidelines on conflicts of interest

.

-

*

In financial reporting, Finnair applies the rules relating to listed companies as well as international
financial reporting standards Most of Finnair's operational activities are based on official regulations
and are subject to othuial supervision Within the group, the legality and acceptability of operations

1s monttored as part of Finnair’s general control and audit processes The responsibility for regulatory
comphiance in fight operations lies with the persons defined and approved by the authorities Finnair
15 also subject to supervision relating to finances and information security

Internal control and audit roles and responsibilittes are compliant with the Finnush Companues Act,
the Finnuish Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies and the regulations governing the
aviation industry Finnair’s governance model, control environment and activities, internal audit and
the roles and responsibilities related to these are described in detail in Finnair's Corporate Governance
Statement on pages 90-9%
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Corporate Responsibility at Finnair concerns everyone and our aim is to incorporate the corporate
responsibility aspects equally in all our processes and product design The Corparate Responsibality
function 15 headed by the Seruor Vice President for Communications and Corporate Responsibihity,
who s also a Member of the Finnair Executive Board Reports and all key principles and policies will
be discussed by the Finnair Board of Directors, with a designated member for corporate responsibility
issues ‘The development, coordination and reporting 1s managed by the corporate responsibilaty
function with the support of the steering groups for other key functions

Responsible Finnair

Finnair's corporate responsibility is reflected in its strategy as well as its success factors of commut-
ment to care, simphcity and courage Responsibility is integral to all Finnair operations  The purpose
of the responsihility strategy 1s to reduce the environmental impact and increase the financial and
soctal return for society The key areas of corporate responsibility and sustainabiity strategy fall
under three themes people, the environment and society For a more detailed description of these
themes, please refer to the GRI section

Finnair ts comnutted to complying with international and national legislation in its operattons, as
well as the ethical aperating principles laid out in the Code of Conduct approved 1n 2012 1n 2014,
the Group Executive Board approved additional group-wide guidelines to supplement the Code

of Conduct with regard to the prevention of bribery and topics including hospitahity, conflicts of
interest and compliance with anti-competition regulations Comphance with the guidelines has
been promoted by communicating their content and orgamising traiming events Also in 2014,

the company began the process of comprehensively revising its Code of Conduct The revision is
intended to clearly define the requirements that all Finnair employees must comply with The wark
1s scheduled to be completed by the early part of 2016 As part of the revision, an internal whistle-
blowing channel was launched 1n 2015

The aspects of corporate responsibility that have been defined material for Finnair in the description
are provided in the Materiality Assessment and the GRI content index Finnair’s operations and
services 1nvolve a number of financial, social and environmental considerations These have been
described in more detatl in the following sections

Public affairs and lobbying

Aviation 15 a strictly regulated industry Therefore it 15 important for Finnair to participate i cdiscus-
sions and decision-making regarding its operating conditions It 1s part of the company's growth
strategy to atm towards securing adequate traffic rights
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Finnair pursues its interests in an ethically sustainable manner by approprately introducing its views,
perspectives and expertise The company does not pressurtse or support political decision-makers in
any way in pursuing its interests  The legality and ethicahty of lobbying actvities 15 controlled as part
of the company’s general supervision and audit processes

The aim of Finnair's lobbying activities 1s to maintain relationships concerning relevant policy and
to participate n relevant negotiations and the operattons of advocacy organisations When lobbying
on various civil aviation and industry regulation i1ssues, Finnarr typically cooperates with various
organisations and chambers of commerce Finnair 15 an active member of various aviation industry
organisations, such as AEA and [ATA, but also in the Confederation of Finnush Industries (EK), and
its sub-associations and tn several chambers of commerce

Communications

Finnair aims at open, honest and timely communications In line with these principles, Finnarr's
communications are also 1in compliance with regulations governing histed companzes and hmited
liability companies, as well as the obligations of the Finrush Act on Cooperation within Undertakings
and the communications gdelines of the State Ownership Steering Department

Finnair takes difterent perspectives into consideration and respects all stakeholders’ views of our
operations Finnair’s internal communications are based on reciprocity Every employee has the duty
to communtcate matters related to thetr area of responsibility to the relevant target groups Those

in supervisory roles have a further duty to communicate goals, operations and results to their own
work commumty and create a work environment that enables genuine constructive discussion The
company systematically develops its commumication channcls to cnable more cifictent communica-
trons and to facilitate constructive discussion

Economic responsihility
Finnair as a whole has substantial direct and indirect financial implications on Finland’s both natonal
and local econonues

Awviation 1s a sigmhbcant industry for Finnsh soviety and the nattonal economy The accessibility
created by awrline trafhe is a necessity for Finland's global competitiveness and its economic impact 1s
considerable, aviation ts estimated to account for 3-5 per cent of GDP, employment and tax revenue
Finnair's effective Asian strategy 15 a key element of the GDP contnibutton of aviation and s impact
15 estimated at 1-2 allion euros

Finnair's objective 15 to create sustainable economic added value by producing fight services prof-
itably, cost-competitively and in harmony with the needs of the environment and society Respon-
sible operations are the cornerstone of profitable business actvity, and Finnair takes ito account
the effects of its operations on society These effects are 1dentified and assessed by the company's
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corporate social responsibility and nisk management organisations, which work under the delegated
authonty of the CEO

Finnair’s Board of Directors has set the company’s financial targets, which are prowvided in inferma-
tion material for investors  As a public hmited company, Finnair is committed to earning a prefit
for its shareholders The company's profit distribution principles are expressed in Finnair's dividend
pohicy Fmnair’s financial reporting aims to transparently provide information about Finnair’s finan-
cial position and development

Purchasing practices

As provided in Finnair's Code of Conduct, its procurement operations are entirely based on the
objective and fair treatment of suppliers The persons who make procurement decisions at Finnair
must always be fully independent of the business partners concerned A Finnarr employee must
declare himself/herself disquahfied due to bias whenever they are required to make a decision
pertaining to a contract or business relationship involving farmuly relationships, ownership in the
company concerned (with the exception of a reasonable share of ownership in a listed company) or
any other business or debt relationshzp external to Finnair Finnair does not accept corruption n any
form and requires that its personnel and partners comply with the principles of the UN's Universal
Declaration of Human Rights in all activities related to Finnair

The procurement steering group operating under Finnair's management is responsible for the
steering, development and coordination of the Group's procurement activity The most significant
product/service entities are the responsibility of cross-organisational or intra-business unit procure-
ment groups, t e category teams, formed around each product or service entity The management of
each business unit has the duty to ensure that the personnel carrying out purchasing has access to
valid purchasing guidehines and that the guidelines are observed

Audits are performed in certain product and service groups Auditing focuses on quality and safety
factors With respect to procurement covered by official regulations, only operators approved by the
International Aswr Transport Association (IATA) can act as supphers or subcontractors to Finnair

The sustamability of the supply cham 1s of major importance for the airhine as we are using partners
and service providers to an increasing degree Conforming with the UN’s Universal Declaration of
Human Rights and all apphicable laws and statutes is a minimum requirement Finnarir requires that
1ts suppliers comply with similar ethical standards as we do in our own operations Finnair's Supplier
Code of Conduct provides clear principles to ensure ethical purchasing Responsibility aspects are
considered in cooperation with the corporate responsibthty unit

Finnair launched human rights assessments 1n autumn 2015 and the assessment process will in the
future also include the supply chain Finnair, as part of the oneworld athance, has also joined the
agreement for SEDEX supply chain auditing mstruments
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Environmental responsibility

The biggest environmental impact of an airline 1s its engine emussions As a rule, modern aircraft are
more efficient than previous-generation arcraft, and hence Finnair’s most sigmificant environmental
action 15 to Invest 1n a modern flect Exposure to aircraft noise, on the other hand, has an impact on
the areas surrounding airports and under takeoff and approach flight paths Advances in acrody-
namics and engine technology help mitigate aircraft noise ‘The notse level of the Finnanr fleet has
been sigmficantly reduced thanks to the modernised fleet and nose attenuation systems nstalled in
older-generation arcraft  Other normal operations, meluding running business and office premises
and the fuel of ground velucles, also produce their share of emissions and environmental impact
These are all reported on under Finnair's IEnvA environmental management system

Finnair’s goal 15 to be a leading airhine 1 the ficld of environmentat respensibility We are commutted
to the common goal of the aviation industry to achieve carbon neutrality by 2020 and to cut the ermis-
stons of our flight operations by half by 2050 from the 2005 level We comply wath current environ-
mental legislation, but our environmental work aims at exceeding statutory requirements and being a
proneer in evaluating, reporting and reducing environmental impacts

Finnarr participates actively in civil aviation environmental comrmittees as well as in industry work-
groups in Finland and the Nordic cauntries, promoting the reduction of the aviation sector’s envi-
ronmental load An open diztogue with different stakcholders and continuous development of opera-
tions according to the latest available information are prerequisttes for environmental responsibility
We report oh our environmental tmpacts regulatly in annual reports and as a part of the Carbon
Disclosure Project {CDP) 1n addition, we communicate directly with various parties about our oper-
ations and gladly answer any questions from our stakeholders or private customers

Envirenmental responsibility 1s managed as part of Finnair’s environmental policy and environ-
mental management system Finnair Environment and Energy Policy described the goas of the
company’s environmental management In 2014, Finnaur became the first European arline to recerve
IATA Environmental Assessment (IEnvA) Stage 2 certification for 1ts environmental management
systems IEnvA is an environmental management system developed by 1ATA for airhnes, which we
apply to make use of the best practices in the tndustry Our environmental management system has
becen assessed by thied-party auditors authorised by [ATA who are qualificd to perform audits of
environmental management systems To improve ity performance, Finnair has identified the most
signuficant environmental factors relevant to its operations and defined targets for them

Finnair takes into account environmental considerations 1n all its flight and ground operations
Bestdes energy solutions that reduce the environmental load, Finnair's environmental strategy also
includes the preservation and promotion of naturat diversity, known as biodiversity thinking In
2015, Finnair participated in the biodiversity Master Class organised by Corporate Responsibility
Network FIBS and the Ministry of the Environment One of the outcomes of the Master Class for
Einnatr was the identification of its essential ecosystem services and its most significant impacts on
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thermn For several years, Finnair has also actively supported 1n collaboration with the Finmush
Association for Nature Conservation the ram forest reforestation project in Madagascar

In June 2015, Finnair prohubited the transportation of hunting trophies or memorabilia originating
from endangered species or their parts in its cargo netwark

soclal responsibility

Finnair 1s a company in a complex, highly technical business The company has operations and
supply chain partners in dozens of different countries, each with varying laws and practices The
most important social responsibility areas concern safety, personnel, the supply chain and customers

Responsibility for human rights
Finnair’s own operations involve no significant human rights risks or tmpacts However, indirect
risks and implications may exist 1n relation to the supply chans and outsourced operations

[n order to improve the monitoring of its own operations and those of its entire supply chain, Finnair
launched a project in 2015 to develop methods to assess the reahsation of social responsibility and
human rights and related risk assessment The target 15 to complete the development project in the
first half of 2016 Finnamwr has participated an 2015-2016 i1n the jemt project of travel industry opera-
tors and UNICEF to examine the status of children’s rights within travel service preduction chains
The pilot phase of the project was carried out in Vietnam, and the findings of the project will be
utilised e other destinations 1n the future

Finnair’s human nights management is described 1n the Finnair Code of Conduct, Suppher Code of
Conduct and the company's personnel management principles Finnair respects the UN Universal
Declaratron on Human Rights and the core conventions of the International Labour Organisation
{iLO) Finnair signed in 2013 the United Nation’s Global Compact initiative and undertook to comply
with the Global Compact's ten principles of corporate responsibility As required by the Global
Compact principles endorsed by Finnair, the company aims to prevent any violations of human rights
and the use of forced labour both within 1ts own operations and 1ts supply chain

Personnel

A mayor aspect of social responsibility 1s to do with personnel and their working conditions at
Finnair, 2a major employer Personnel management policies cover all aspects of social responsibihty
that have been identified as material The impacts affecting the personnel and the working conditions
atre managed as based on the HR guidelings and Finnair HR policy

Management, development and training and employee wellbeing

Finnaur does not discriminate based on gender, age, ethmic or national origin, nationahty, language,
religion, conviction, opinton, health, disability, sexual orientation or other personal attributes or
circumstances
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Finnair does not condone harassment in the work community Reporting mfractions 1s every
employee’s nght and the company 1s determined to take steps to intervene i all cases brought to its
knowledge Reports can also be filed anonymously, fur example using the whistleblowing channel
in the company intranet It 15 the duty of every group employee to act so that no one 15 accorded
unequal status

Finnair ofters equal opportunities to everyone with regard to recruitment, work performance, career
progression and development Finnair implements the equal pay principle based on the Finmish
Equality Act and gives both men and women equal opportunities for balancing wark and family Iife
In 2011, Finnar signed the United Nattons Women's Empowerment Principles, which give guidance
on the empowerment of women 1n the workplace, marketplace and community

Finnair comphes with procedures jointly agreed by the employer and employees for the prevention of
harassment and inappropriate conduct The procedure 15 based on the Finnish Act on Qccupational
Safety and Health and comphes with the modet recommended by the Finmush Minustry of Social
Affairs and Health

Leadership and competences are developed on indvidual, team, umit and organisation level
Learning and development solutions are typically either adopted by the entire personnel or tailored
for specific development needs within a unst, or they are aimed at developing professional skiils,
based on official requirements or in support of personal development Leadershup development 15
one of Finnair's key focus areas for 2015-2016 Development needs in teams and the organisation
are identified and the wellbeing and commitment of the personnel are regularly momitored through
a personnel survey

Occupational health and wellbeing at work

‘The target group for the wellbeing at work programme, which Finnair launched in 2011, 15 aimed at
the entire personnel The aim of the programme 1s to promote the effectiveness and functionality

of the work communmity through various annually launched projects and to ensure the wellbeing of
personnel through all career stages ‘The programme also contributes to employee productivity, the
company’s competitiveniess and attractiveness as an employer as well as the simplementation of the
social component of corporate responsibility A strategic development project for wellbeing at work
will be launched 1n 2016 The aim of the project 1s to improve the overall wellbeing of the personnet
and to reargamse the development of wellbeing at work 1n the company

At Finnair, the Finnair Health Services unit 1s responsible for occupational health care services
Finnair Health Services focus on preventive care The model of early caring and the occupational
ability nsk management system are examples of the gmdelines governing preventing health care

Finnair Health Services, Finnair Aeromedtcal Centre FAeMC, coordinates and 1s responsible for the
implementation of occupational health care in the entire Finnair group The operational and service
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quahity of Finnair Health Services is based on the European Foundation for Quality Management's
EFQM Excellence Model The quality system is used to ensure that Finnair Health Services meets
the requirements for good occupational health care practice in both aviation health care and aviation
mediume services The quality manual covering occupational health care and aviation medicine was
updated 1n 2014

Freedom of assoclation and collective negotiation

Freedom of association and the collective night to negotiate on occupational 1ssues are recognised
as fundamental rights in Finland There 1s a long tradition of trade union actvity in the company
Labour market culture in the company has been constructed tn such a way that the orgarnusation of
workers and collective negotiations between the company and employee groups are part of normal
activity All Finnair employees have the night and opportunity te agree on terms of employment
collectwvely The terms of employment of management employees are agreed on locally Personnel
and management remuneration principles are described on pages 105-111

Product responsibility and customer care

The aviation industry consists of a strictly regulated value chain comprised of multsple suppliers

of products and services As an airfine and service company at the top of this value chain, Finnair
creates added value for its customers by providing them with a comprehensive and tugh-qualty
service product in collaboration with its partners We are responsible for transporting customers
and their baggage to thewr destinations safely, smoothly and punctually Ihe most significant product
responsibility aspects in the Finnair Group's operations are flight safety, food safety, 1esponsibility for
individual customers, and responstbility for the cargo carried

At Finnaur, situattons that deviate from the norm are prepared for in advance The group has devel-
oped processes for various unexpected situations and these are continually updated and maintamed
Customers must be able to trust in the fact that they will be cared for throughout the entire service
chain Finnair has responsibihity towards its customers for the overall quality of their experience,
regardless of the fact that some services are produced by Finnair's partners rather than the company
itself Therefore, Finnair pays increased attention to the selection of its partners and the partners are
required to comply with Finnair’s quality assurance policies and ethical guidehines

Safety

Safety 1s at the core of all Finnair’s operations Flight safety and giving priority to it are part of all
decision-making at every stage Finnair maintains and develops the principles of ongoing develop-
ment by adhering to 1ts Safety Management System (SMS) It covers all aspects of flight safety safety
policy, flight safety risk management, safety trammg and communications for the entire personnel
and subcontractor chan, continual auditing of operations and the assessment of the potential impact
of new factors in the operating environment Official regulations and standards set the minimum
standards for Finnair's safety management, which the company aims to exceed tn all areas
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One of the central elements in Finnair's safety system 1s the safety reporting concerning the entire
staft The company encourages its personnel and subcentractors to actively report any processes or
elements they come across that could potentially compromise safety Each report 1s analysed and
assessed for risk, followed by necessary corrective actions based on this, and the person submutting
the report will be notified of the outcome of the investigation Alongside subjective observattons,
Finnair extensively monttors and analyses objective indicators, such as flight data Ongoing moni-
toring and analysis enable a transparent risk level in all areas, which 1n turn enables prompt action on
any mdtcation of altered safety level

Events that seriously jeopardise safety are extremely rare and almost without exception an impartial
safety investigation 1s launched on each event Safety investigations are coordinated by public offi-
cials (Safety Investigatron Authonity) or, if the authorities elect not to investigate the event, Finnarr wall
conduct 1ts own mnternal safety investigation The safety investigators always carry out the investiga-
tion independently and the company’s management has no opportunity to influence the investigation

Objective monitoring of the company's own operations, ongoing development and carrying out
corrective measures as well as open dialogue with the authorities governing Finnair's operations
guarantee safe and high-quality airline operations.

Customer care

For exceptional situations, Finnair has its own separate umit All flight traffic irregularities are
handled centrally from Helsink, thereby gathering the necessary information into one place In this
way, a more detailed overall picturc of the multiplier effects and costs of the irregularitics is obtained,
and efforts are made to munmise inconvenience to the customer

Monitoring and supervision of customer service activity is based on regular auditing, customer feed-
back and customer satisfaction surveys, as well as various mystery customer experiences and meas-
urements performed by external parties Our partners’ operations are also continually evaluated
Monitoring 15 systematic and 15 used to set targets and check that they are bemng met Staff expertise
1s ensured through training

Grstomer data

Finnair respects the privacy of its customers and 15s commutted to ensuring that personal details and
other customer information arc processed appropriately We do our best to guarantee the confi-
dentality, security and accuracy of customer data under all circumstances The company processes
personal details at all stages of travel in comphiance with the legislation on personal data and regula-
tions issued by the authorities in the countries in which we operate
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Cargo and ground handling

In cargo transport, Finnair and 1ts subsidiary Finnair Cargo are responsible for transparting
customers’ cargo m the condition in which 1t has been entrusted to us, and tn comphance with
Finnair Cargo’s General Conditions of Carriage (http //www finnatrcargo com/en/cargo/general-
transportation-terms html) as well as international and national regulations The aim 15 to offer
cargo customers efficient fogistics services This means, among other things, that cargo entrusted to
Finnair Cargo for transport 1s delivered to its destination exactly as agreed with the customer

Finnawr’s Ground Operations unit 1s responsible for the acquisition, quality critenia and quality
control of ground handling services required at airports The unit’s task 15 to ensure that the ground
services used by Finnair fulfil the requirements set for them, both in terms of quality and in respect
of safety and official regulattons

To deliver on their service promuses, both Finnair Cargo and the Ground Operations umt apply a
systematic evaluation process when selecting subcontractors and partners Partners are required,

for example, to ensure and mamtain the expertise of their personnel, and also to ensure that vehi-
cles, equipment and premises are appropriate In additton to quahity audits at arrports, Finnair also
regularly performs quality snspections that continually monitor both its own and subcontractors’
work Finnair Cargo and Ground Operations are responsible for maintaiming and updating their own
quality systems and ensuring that operations comply with requirements

Ground Operations also has an area manager, responsible for airport operations, who has a sigmf-
1cant role 1n monttoring the comphiance of operations with regulations [f some activity does not
to some extent comply with the operations manual or prevailing legislation, the deviation 1s docu-
mented and corrective measures effected immediately

More information about IATA safety and quality audits http //wwwata org
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Corporate Governance Statement 2015

Governance Code 15 publicly available on the website of the Securities Market Association’s website

Contents
at www cgfinland fi

Regulatory framework 90

Governing bodies 90 This statement has been approved by Finnair's Board of Directors and it has been prepared as a sepa-
General Meetings 91 rate report from the Board of Directors’ Report Finnair's auditing firm, PricewaterhouseCaopers, has
Shareholders’ Nomnation Board 91 verified that the description of the main features of the iternal control and risk management related
Board of Directors 92 to the financial reporting process contained herein are consistent with the financial statements
The Committees of the Board 93
Company management 95 Governing bodies

Main features of the internal control and nisk management system The goverming bodies of Finnair pursuant to the Companies Act and the Articles of Association are

pertaining to the financial reporting process 97 the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors (the “Board”™) and the Chuef Executive
Description of the overall system 97 Officer (the "CEQ”) The reles of the governing bodies are descnibed below

Control envirgnment 97
Risk Assessment 98
Control activities 98

Governing bodies of Finnair

Infarmation and commumcation 98

Monitoring and improvement 99 Shareholders

Internal Audit 99
Comphange 99

ﬁ 3
Regufatory framework Shareholders’
[his Corporate Governance Statement 15 15sued pursuant to the Finnish Corporate Governance Nomination

Code 2010 for hsted companies 1t sets out the goverming bodies and the principles of governance of Committee
Finnair Ple Finnair complies with the recommendations of the Code without exceptions

Annual General
Meeting

Auditors

The principal legislative authorities on corporate governance of Finnish Listed companies are the
Companues Act, the Secunities Market Act, the regulation and guidelines 1ssued by the Financial
Superwvision, the rules and instructions for listed companies :ssued by Nasdaq Helsinki and the
Finnish Corporate Governance Code, all of which are complied with by Finnair Company specific
authonities on the governance of Finnair are the Articles of Association and the principles, policies
and gwidelines 1ssued by Finnatr's Board of Durectors

The Articles of Association, the published polices and other additional information on Finnair's
corporate povernance can be found at Finnair's internet site at www finnairgroup com The Corporate
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General Meetings

The ultimate authority in Finnar 1s vested in the General Meetng of Shaseholders An Annual
General Meeting (the "AGM”) must be held each year by the end of May

The competence of the General Mecting of Shareholders 15 set out 1n the Companies Act and 1n
Finnair’s Artacles of Associatton The AGM shall annually decide on the following matters

adoption of the financial statements and the conselidated financial statements
the use of the profit shown on the balance sheet

the discharging of the Members of the Board and the CEQ from habihty

+ the appointment of the Members of the Board and their remunerations
election of the Charrman of the Board from among the Members

« the election and remuneration of the audstor

The Board convenes the General Meetings of Shareholders by publishing a notice not earher than
three months and not later than three weeks before the date of the meeting and always at least nine
days before the record date of the meeting The notice shall be published as a stock exchange release
and on Finnair's website

Each shareholder who 1s registered on the record date as a shareholder in the company’s public
register of shareholders, maintained by Euroclear Finland Oy, has the nght to participate in the
General Meeting of Shareholders If 2 holder of nominee-registered shares wishes to participate 1n
the meeting, he or she has to register temporarily in the register of shareholders Furthermore, in
order to attend the meeting, a shareholder must register for the meeting 1n the manner defined in the
notice convening the meeting

A shareholder has the right to have a matter falling within the competence of the General Meeting of
Shareholders addressed by the meeting, if the shareholder so demands in writing from the Board by
the date announced on Finnair's internet site

‘The munutes of the General Mecting of Sharcholders and the voting results, if any, shall be made
available to shateholders on Finnair's internet site within two weeks of the meeting

2015 Annual General Meeting

Finnair's AGM 2015 was held in Helsinki on 25 March. A total of 257 shareholders, representing 63
per cent of the shares and voting nights of the company, participated either in person or by proxy
representatives All Board members, all candidates for Board membership and the auditors of the
company were present in the meeting
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Shareholders’ Nomination Board

The AGM 2013 decided to establish a permanent Shareholders' Nomination Board The term of
the Nomination Board continues until further notice  The previous practice since 2008 was that a
Shareholders’ Nomination Comnuttee was established annually by the AGMs

The purpose and task of the Nomtnation Board 1s to prepare and present to the AGM, and,

if necessary, to an Extraordinary General Meeting, propasals on the remuneration of the members
of the Board, on the number of members of the Board and on the members of the Board In addition,
the task of the Nomination Board 1s to seck potential future candidates for Board members

The Nomination Board shall forward its proposals to the company's Board by 31 January each year

The Nomunation Board shall consist of four members, who shall be normunated annually The company's
three largest shareholders shall appoint three of the members, and the Chairman of the Board shall
serve as the fourth member The company's largest shareholders entitted to appoint members to

the Nomination Board shall be determined on the basis of the registered holdings in the company's
shareholder register held by Euroclear Finland Lid as of the first working day in September each year
[n the event that a shareholder does not wish to exercise its right to appoint a representative, such
right shall pass to the next largest shareholder

The members of the Nominatton Board are not remunerated by Finnair for their membership in

the Nomination Board The members’ expenses are reimbursable in accerdance with the company s
expense policy In addition, the Nomunation Board's costs of using external experts shall be borne by
the company

2013 and 2014 Nomination Boards

The Nomination Board established in 2013 consisted of the representatives of three largest share-
holders as at the first working day September 2013 and of the Chairman of the Board The share-
holders were the State of Finland, Keva and Skagen Global Verdipapirfond and the cemposition of
the Nomination Board was the following

+ Mr Eero Heliovaara, b 1956, M Sc (Econ ), M Sc {Eng ), Director General in the Ownership
Steering in the Pnime Minister's Office {Chairman),

+ Mr Robmn Backman,b 1971, M Sc (Econ ), Portfolio Manager in Keva,

+ Mr Per Wennberg, b 1969, B Sc (Hon ) in Business Management, Skagen's Managing Director
in Sweden,

+ Mr Klaus Heinemann, see details on page 112

‘The Nomination Board convened three times and all members were present in the meetings On 31
January, 2014, the Shareholders’ Nomination Board submuitted to the Board its proposal for the AGM
held on 27 March 2014
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The Nonmunation Board established in 2014 consisted of the representatives of three largest share-
holders as at the first working day September 20141 ¢ the State of Finland, Keva and Skagen Global
Verdipapirfond, and of the Chairman of the Board Skagen funds sold their shares in Finnair Plc

in November 2014 and consequently their representative in the Shareholders’ Nomunation Board
resigned The nght to nominate a member to the Nomination Board was thus transferred to the
fourth largest sharcholder of Finnatr Plc as at the first working day September, Ilmarinen The
compaosition of the 2014 Nomunation Board was the following

+ Mr Eero Heliovaara, see above, {Chairman),

+ Mr Robin Backman, see above,

+ Mr Per Wennberg, see above, (until 15 Dec 2014)

+ Mr Harri Sallas,b 1951, M Sc (Econ ) President and CEO of limarinen Mutual Pension
Insurance Company (from 15 Drec 2014 until 30 Apri] 2015)

« Mr Klaus Heinemann, see details on page 112

The Nomunation Board convencd two times and all members were present in the meetings On 29
January, 2015, the Shareholders’ Nomination Board submutted to the Board its proposal for the AGM
to be held on 25 March 2015

2015 Nomination Board

The Nomination Board established in 2015 consisted of the representatives of three largest share-
holders as at the first working day September 2015 te the State of Finland, Keva and Emarinen, and
of the Chairman of the Board The composition of the 2014 Nomination Board was the following

+ Mr Eero Helidvaar, see above, (Chairman),

« Mr Robin Backman, see above,

« Mr Timo Ritakallio, b 1962, Master of Laws, MBA, President and CEQ of limarinen
Mutual Pension Insurance Company

« Mr Klaus Heinemann, see detais on page 112

The Nomination Board convened 4 times and the participation rate was 87 5% On 31 January, 2016,
the Shareholders’ Nomination Board submitted to the Board its proposal for the AGM to be held on
17 March 2016 The proposals are available at Finnair’s website

Board of Directors

The Chairman and the Members of the Board are elected by the AGM According to the Artcles of
Association, the Board consists of the Chairman and a mimimum of four and a maximum of seven

FINNAIR ANNUAL REPORT 2015 92

other members The Board elects a Deputy Chairman frem among 1ts members The term of office
of the members of the Board ends at the close of the first AGM following their election

According to the Compares Act, the Board represents all shareholders of Finnair and has the
general duty to act diligently in the interests of the company Under law, the Board 15 accountable to
the shareholders for the appropriate governance of the company and for ensuring that the operations
of the company are run adequately

The accountabthty for the company's governance pertains specifically to the assurance of the effec-
tiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls The marn features of the company's system
of internal controls and risk management are described later in this report Finnair has a number of
polictes 1ssued by the Board, designed to enhance the internal controls The policies are regularly
updated and communicated to the personnel

In addition to the Board's statutory tasks, certain significant matters are reserved for the Board's
decision, as set out in the Board's charter The Board sets the company’s strategic aims< and momtors
the implementation of the same by the management, approves other significant strategic matters,
mvestments, divestments and capital commitments and approves the business and financial plans,
significant partnerships and other major contracts The Board reviews the performance of the
management and it appoints and removes the CEQ and other members of the executive management
and determunes their levels of remuneration  The Board also attends to the succession planning of the
management The Board establishes and regularly evatuates the group's personnel policies, including
the compensation structures The Board's charter is avatlable on Finnair's website in its entnety

The Board evaluates its work annually The Board’s gender distnibution 1n the composition elected by
2015 AGM 1s four men and three women

Members of the Board and their independence

The 2015 AGM held on 25 March elected Mr Klaus Heinemann as Chatrman of the Board and
Ms Mana-Losa Friman, Mr Juss [tivuen, Mr Harn Kerminen, Ms Gunvor Kronman, Ms Jaana
Tuominen and Mr Nigel Turner as other members of the Board ‘The Board elected Mr Harn
Kerminen as its Vice Chairman

Board members represent a diverse range of business and other backgrounds, bringing a broad spec-
trum of views and expenences to Board deliberations The Board assessed the independence ofits
members and concluded that all members are non-executive members independent of the Company
and 1its major shareholders
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Members of the Board In 2015 and thelr attendance in Board and Committee meetings

In 2015, the Board met 10 times 1n addihon, the Board made per capsulam decistons 4 imes
during the year See the table below for information on the Board members’ participation in the
meetings during 2014

12013
Member of the Board since 28 March 2012
+ B 1951,B5¢ (Econ)

_ i Man cccupation: Board professional

, Members of the Board since 24 March 2011
Kerminen | ,N..W_m NnE_:E_._a_:m Board since 28 March
B 1951 M SC Tech. MBA

Main occupation Board protessionat

1 Committee memberships. Audit and Com-
R...&E: and Nommation Committeg

Member gt the Board since 28 March 2012
B 1952 M SC (Eng)

Mam occupation. Board professional
Committee memberships Audit Commit-
e (Charman)

Member of the Board since 28 March 2012
B 1955 M 5c.{Econ)

Main occupation: Board professional
Commuttee memberships Compensation
nd Nenination Commuttee {Chauwrman)

ms. Gmver * Member of the Board since 28 March 2012
B 1963 Masterof Arts

Main occupation, CEO of Swedish-Finnish
Cudtural Centre

Committee membership Compensation
and Nomination Commillee

Memaber of the Board since 27 March 2(14 10/10
B 1960 M Sc {Eng)

Main occupation: CEO of Paulig Group
{ommittee membership Compensation
and Nominalign Cgmmitiee

Member of the Board since 27 March 2014
B 1958 BA{Hon)

Main ocrupation:

Commuttee membership Audit Commiltee

H
.
H
]
.
+

More information on the Members of the Board 1s available on page 112 and on Finnayr s website
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The Committees of the Board

The Board delegates certain of its funchions to the Audit Committee and to the Compensation and
Nomination Committee The Board appoints the Committee members and their Chairs from among
the members of the Board The minimum number of members 1s three in both Commuttees

Each Commuttee meets regularly under theur respective charters The Committees’ tasks and the
work carried out by them during the year are described in their respective sections below The
Commuttees report on their work regulatly to the Board but they do not have decision-making
powers independent from the Board, except where expressly authorised by the Board Copies of the
Committees’ charters are available on Finnaur’s website
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Audit Committee

The Aud:it Commuttee assists the Board in its task to ensure the proper governance of the company,
m particular, by considening the accounting and financial reporting, the Company’s internal control
systems and the work of the external auditors The Audit Commuttec addresses concerns pertaining
to control matters as may be detected by the management or the internal audit or external auditors
of the company These are reported to the Board by the Audit Commuttee The Audit Commuttee
ensures that appropriate action is taken by the management to rectify identified shortcomings

According to the Corporate Governance Code, the members of the Commuttee must be sufhctently
qualified to perform the responsibilities of the Committee

The main duties of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee shall

+ momitor the financial status of the company

= monitor the reporting process of financial statements and intenm reports and assess the draft financial
statements and interim reports

assess the efficrency of the company's internal controls, internal auditing and risk management system
+ monutor the statutery audit and review all matenal reports from the auditor

assess the independence of the auditors, in particular with regard to therr ancillary services

prepare for the Board proposals 1o the Annual General Meeting regarding the election of the aud:tor(s)
and theisr remunerations

review the auditors’ and internal auditors  audit plans and reports

« review the company's corporate governance statement

prepare for the Board the group's nsk management policies

prepare for the Board decisions on significant changes i the accounting principles or in the valuations
of the group s assets,

assess the group s comphance with laws and regulations, and

maintan contact with the auditors

After 2015 AGM, the Audit Commuttee members are Ms Manja-Lusa Feiman (Chairperson),
Mr Nagel Turner and Mr Harn Kerminen All Committee members are independent of the
Company and of its significant shareholders

In accordance with 1ts annual plan, the Audit Committee met 6 times 1n 2015 with an aggregate
attendance rate of 94 5 per cent Each meeting addressed, in addition te the regular agenda items,
special themes under the annual plan The CEQ, the CFQ, the Head of Internal Audit and Risk
Management as welt as the external audstor also participated in the Commuttee’s meetings Finnair's
General Counsel acted as the secretary of the Audit Commuttee The Commuittee held closed sessions
as well as sessiony where the External or Internal Auditors participated without the presence of the
members of the management The Committee also perfermed its annual self-evaluation
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The Audit Committee's activities in 2015

In addition to its customary tasks, i 2015 the Audit Committee attended sefected focus areas, comprising
supplementary pensions, Jomnt Business Agreements in Atlantic and Japanese traffic, investments, financing
and cash flows, accounting treatment of Awrbus A350 and Embraer EI90 aircraft investments and risk
management

The Audit Committee also

» In cooperation with the management, arranged competitive tendering for the group’s audit servi services
and prepared a proposal to the Annual General Meeting on the appomtment of the auditor;

Reviewed and approved a nsk-based internal audit plan for 2014 and assessed the sufficiency of the
resources I the internzl control functions,

Discussed with the CEQ, the CFO and the auditors the company $ accounting policies and the estimates
and judgements that were appled in preparing the reports,

+ Performed an annual self-assessment and set the Committee s annual plan for 2016

Selected the following areas of specific attentran for 2016 financial reporting segments, financlal nsk
hedging, investment, financing and cash plans, changes in IFRSs and the implementatton of new
standards, development project of financial management processes and controls, and an audit analysis
m the aviation sector

Compensation and Nomination Committee

The Compensation and Norunation Commuttee assists the Board in matters pertaiming to the
compensation and benefits of the CEQ and other senior management, their performance evalua-
tion, appomtment and successor plannmg  The Committee assists the Board also m establishing and
evaluating the group's compensation structures and other personnel policies By virtue of a Board
authorisation, the Committee ascertains the achievement of targets for short-term incentives and
approves the payment of incentives to the CEQ and other top management

The main duties of the Compensation and Nomination Committee

The Committee prepares the following matters for the Board

= compensations, penstons, benefits and other materiat terms of the contract of the CEQ

+ compensations, penstons and benefts of the top executives of the group, and other material terms
of thewr contracts 1o the extent that the same deviate from the customary practice
nommations of the CEQ and other top executives

top executives' succession planning

+ composition of the Executive Board

» equity-based incentive plans

+ the printipal compensation pohcies and practices regarding the personnel

+ management's participatton in the boards' of directors of the group and of externzl companies
- major organisational changes

« proposals of awarding the members of the management honorary decorations and titles

A copy of the Commuttee’s charter is available on Finnair's website
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After the 2015 AGM, the members of the Compensation and Neminatton Commttee elected are
Mr Jussi [tévuor (Chairman), Ms Gunvor Kronman, Ms Jaana Tuominen and Mr Harri Kerminen
All Commuttee members are independent of the Company and of its sigmificant shareholders

The members of the Compensation and Nemination Commuttee met 5 imes in 2015 with an aggre-
gate attendance rate of 90 per cent The CEO and the Head of HR were invited to the meetings to
assist the Committee Finnair's General Counsel acted as the Committee's secretary

The Compensation and Nomination Committee's work In 2015

The Committee, among other things

+ Prepared for the Board approval the conditions and targets of the employee share saving plan (FlyShare)
for 2015,

Reviewed the senior management's compensation levels compared to the market level, assessed the
performance of the management relative to the long and short term incentive targets, and approved
the payment of short-term management incentives,

Assisted the Board in determiming the personne! fund's bonus critersa for 2015 and the semt-annisal
targets and conditions for top management,

Assisted the Board in determiming the participants, targets and conditions for the next earnmngs penod
of the share bonus plan for key personnel,

Assessed the development needs of the share bonus program and personnel fund as well as other
rewarding principles and practices of the company,

Assessed the methodofogy and resvits of the company's successor and talent mapping,

Monitored the company's management development initiatives and progress in the company’s vatue
and cultural reform,

Assessed the potential impact of the increase in the general retirernent age on the company’s
supplementary pension expenses and monitored the related negotiations between the company

and its plots,

Momitered a project in the company to develop its payrol! admmimstration,

« Assessed its meeting practices and tasks

.

Company management

Finnalr's corporate structure

Finnaur has two bustness areas Awrhne Business and Travel Services (tour operators and travel
agenctes) and its financial reporting 15 based on this grouping Shared functions in Finnair’s Group
Admunistratien are Finance and Control, Human Resources, Communications and Corporate
Responsibility, Corporate Development, Legal Affairs and Internal Audit
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Company Management

Reports to Board's
Audit Committee

Internal audit

Executive Board Subsets

The CEO

The CEO 1s appointed by the Board The CEQ manages the company's day-to-day operations in
accordance with guidelines and instructions 1ssued by the Board The CEQYs instructions from the
Board include, in particular, the implementation of Finnair's strategy, driving of structural change
and improving the company's profitabihty The CEQ acts as the Chairman of the Executive Board

The Board determines the CEQ's compensation and sets his short and long term incentive targets
‘The main contents of the CEQ's contract, including his compensation and benefits, are described in

the Remuneration Statement and on Finnair's internet pages

The CEO of Finnair 1s Mr Pekka Vauramo, b 1957, M Sc (Mining)
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Executive Board

‘The Executive Board of the Company 15 led by the CEO and 1t compnises the senior management
responsible for Finnair's operations and commeraial activities, finance and control, human resources,
communications and corporate responsibihity and legal affawrrs The members' respective roles and
thetr shareholdings in Finnair are more fully described on the company's web pages The sentor
management 1s appointed and removed by the Board, which also determines their remuneration and
other terms of employment

The duties of the Executive Board include group-wide development projects, the definition of prin-
ciples and procedures that guide the company’s activities, and the preparation of matters to be dealt
with by the Board The Executive Board also acts as Finnair's risk management steering group

In 2015, Finnair's Executive Board met twice a month on average A major proportion of the Executive
Board’s time was used 1n leading key projects relating to Finnair’s strategy and further development
of the strategy The Executive Board also launched a project to reform the values and culture to
support the strategy, and an cxtensive project to develop leadershup and expertise The Exccutive
Group also focused on the company’s financial position, financing, investments and securing the
aircraft capacity required by growth of feeder trafhe, as well as the improvement of operational
quahty, customer experience and occupational wellbeing of the personnel In addition, the Executive
Board addressed ancillary sales, nisk management as well as successor and talent mapping Duning
the year, ownership arrangements of Nordic Regional Airlines were finalised Year 2015 culminated
with the ceremomous introduction of the next-generation Airbus A350 aircraft, symbohising at the
same time the Finnair team spint and 1its personnel’s professionalism and commitment to the Asian
growth strategy

Subsets of the Executive Board

The Executive Board delegates certain of its functions to three subsets These subsets’ decision
making authonty 1s denved from that of the Executive Board, set by the Board by way of the approval
limuts, policies and instructions

Network Planning Group 15 responsible for fleet and network strategy and short and long-term
traffic planrung of Finnair's scheduled, leisure and cargo traffic, among other things The Group 1s
headed by VP Resource Management and Corporate Development, and it meets monthly

Procurement Steering Group 1s responsible for Finnair's Procurement Policy, procurement cate-
gory structure and related development projects It also approves signsficant supplier contracts (with
the exception of 11 contracts) and their related governance models The Group 15 headed by the CFO
and meets at least quarterly
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Brand and Product Board is responsible for strategic brand steering and management as well as
product decisions It decides, for example, on brand development activities, service identity and
visual identity of Finnair The Board 1s headed by the CEQ and meets bi-monthly

In addibion Executive Board acts as the Group Risk Management Steering Group Risk Management
Steenng Group 1s responsible for the Group's strategic risk assessment and setting nsk management
prionties and risk management measures It assesses the adequacy and timeliness of the Group's risk
management policy In addition, it approves changes in the risk reporting process, Finnair common
risk language and risk model The Steering Group 1s headed by the CEO and meets bi-monthly

Management Board

Finnair Management Board s principally a communication and co-operation forum designed for the
personnel’s participation in the company’s governance processes, especially with regard to matters
that affect the personnel The focus of the Management Board work ts on enhancing communication
and understanding between the personnel groups and the management as to the implementation

of the company’s strategic objectives and on sharing information and discussing plans and projects
that affect Finnair's personnel The Management Board also discusses the business plans and finan-
cial performance of the Group, the operational quality and customer satisfaction as well as sigmificant
development projects The Management Board comprises the Executive Board members, certain
semor managers and the representatives of all personnel groups

In 2015, the Management Board met 7 times

Corporate Governance In Finnair subsidiaries

For major subsidiaries, the members of the boards of directors are selected from individuals
belonging to Finnair's senior management and, in selected subsidiaries, also from representa-

tives proposed by personnel groups The key tasks of the boards of directors of subsidiaries include
strategy preparation, approving operational plans and budgets, and deciding on investments and
commitments within the scope of the approval hmits 1ssued by Finnair’s Board

The subsidiaries of Finnair are presented in the Financial Statements 2015 under Note 4 2

Governance principles in key partnerships and outsourcings

Finnair has equity partnership tn Nordic Regional Airhines Oy through Nordic Regional Airlines AB
(ownership 40 per cent) Nordic Regional Asrhnes Oy 1s a Fintush regional passenger airline oper-
ating ATR turboprop and Embraer 170 and 190 awrcraft Its route network 1s designed to provide
convenient feeder connections to Finnair's European and long-haul routes Finnair’s influence over
the governance of the company 1s secured by shareholding and various contractual nghts
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Finnair has entrusted certain important operational services to world class service providers LSG
Sky Chefs Finland Oy runs the former catering businesses of Finnair at Helsinki Airport. It supplies
Finnair's catering services pursuant to a mult-year agreement designed to ensure Finnair's receipt of
hugh quality services, cost savings and other benefits Other sumular long-term arrangements exist in
the ground handling services, with Swissport Finland Ltd, and in the engine and component services
with SR Technics, Lufthansa Technik and Rolls Royce The cost and quality targets of these agree-
ments have been determined so as to correspond at least to a good general market level

Finnaur participates i joint ventures consisting of certain airlines belonging to the onewerld aliiance
These joint ventures seek to improve competitiveness and efficiency 1in a manner benefitting the
passengers Finnawr's influence in the joint ventures 1s based on contractual arrangements Decisions
by the joint venture are sought to be made unarumously

All Finnair's service providers are expected to comply with Finnair's Code of Conduct and Finnair's
Supplier Code of Conduct, and Finnair s entitfed to audit the Supplier’s governance and secunty
practices to ensure this

Finnair's Code of Conduct and Supplier Code of Conduct are available on Fmnair's website

Main features of the internal control and risk management system
pertaining to the financial reporting process

Description of the overall system

The objective of internal contrel and nsk management system pertaining to the financial reporting
process is to provide the Board, the Executive Management and other key stakeholders with a
reasonable assurance of the relrability and correctness of financual and operational reporting, as well
as compliance with associated laws, regulations and internal pohicies It 1s bult on the principles of
Finnair’s overall system of risk management which is aligned with commonly accepted COSO ERM
framework and 1SO 31000 2009 standard for risk management

Control environment

Finnar's Code of Conduct and management system form the foundation for its control environ-
ment and background for awareness and implementation of control activities across the organisation.
Guiding principles of internal control and risk management in Finnair are documented in the Group
Risk Management Policy Other key steering instruments supporting control over reporting include,
but are not limited to, Annual Accounts drafting principles, Code of Conduct, Treasury Policy,
Procurement Policy, Credit Policy and Disclosure Policy

Finnair's Board of Directors holds the overall responsibtlity for the company’s internal control and
risk management [he Board has delegated the implementation of efficient control environment and
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measures to ensure the reliabiity of financial reporting to the CEQ The Group CFO is responsible
for governing financial veporting control environment and acting as the risk owner of reporting risks
The hne organisations of business units and Group-wide functions have the main responsibihty for
executing day to day control activities pertatning to the financial reporting process

The role in the implementation of the internal control and risk management system

fihreelineslofidetence]

First line of Business segments and common functions
Mm qm:m o Day to day contro} and risk management activtties perlaining to the
elence financial reporting process

EHA

Corporate functions
Oversight and continuous tmprovement of the internal control and risk
management envirgnment

Second hne of

defence

J
it Operational level
Y N ) ™

tnternal Audit
Third line of Assessment of control envirgnment day to day control and risk
defence management activities and overall maturity of the internal contro! and nsk
management system
. A A
-_—
' "
The Board of Directors J
Ultimate Reasonable assurance of the achievement ot company s strategic and
respansihity operational ghjectives, reliability of financial and operational reporting,
as well as compliance with laws regulations and internal pohicies
\, A /

Internal Audit assesses the control environment as well as the status and effectiveness af planned
control and risk management activities To ensure the independence of the Internal Audit activity,
Internal Audit has a direct functional reporting hine to the Audit Committee of Finnair Board and 1t 15
posittoned to operate admimstratively under the CEQ The Audit Commuttee appointed by the Board
of Drrectors oversees the financial reporting process and overall matunty of the internal control and
risk management system  The described roles and responsibilites are in accordance with the Finnish
Companies Act, and the Finnish Corporate Governance Code The picture below summarises the roles
of the hsted stakeholders in the implementat:on of the internal control and risk management system
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C

Risk Assessment

The objective of Finnair's financial reporting risk assessment 1s to identify, evaluate and prionitise
the most significant threats to the reliability of internal and external reporting at the Group,
reporting arca, umit, function and process levels Processes related to financial reporting are subject
to on-going risk assessment by the business unit controllers, financial controllers and other shared
service centre staff as part of their daly and weekly activities

Asa part of internal controls development project, the processes with material impact on financial
reporting have been defined and risks threatenang the rehiability and accuracy of financial reporting
assessed 1n a coordinated manner Possible changes in internal and external environment are always
assessed and processes updated accordingly

Control activities

Financial reporting instructions have been prepared to be followed across the organization The
mstructions outhning the content and schedule for the reporting aim to increase the overall control-
lability of the financial reporting process and ensure that financial statement fulfils the requirements
set in the IFRS standards and other apphcable principles

Rusks related to financial reporting are managed through controls aiming to provide reasonable
assurance that the information of interim reports and year-end reports are correct and that they
have been prepared in accordance with legislation, applicable accounting standards and other
requirements for listed compantes These control actwities are
+ preventive, detective and corrective In nature,
+ integrated into reporting processes in business units, group-wide functions and subsidiaries,
« operationalized through the implementation of Policies, Gudelines and Principles,
+ captured 1n Control Catalogues,
supported by Manuals and Standards, Process Descriptions and Work Instructions,
» momtored and continuously improved through a dedicated governance model

Responsibilities over reparting controls are flustrated m the matrix below

Role ;
Control Environment Qwner . Responsible for governing fenancial reporting
= Group CFO ¢ contro! environment and acting as the risk owner

of reporting risks

Control Catalogue Owner i Owner of the process controls defined in the
- Procass Owners i control catalogue

: Responsible for executing / monitoring key
| control(s) defined m the control catalogue

Internal Audit ! Responsible for audit of reporting processes and
! related controls according to the annual audit plan
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‘The main components and roles assoctated with control planning, implementation and monitoring
are summarized below

Report Audit Set Guidelines
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information and communication

Information and communication system provides means for Finnair's personnel to capture and
communicate nformation related to risk assessments and control activities across company's oper-
ations The system aims at providing required personnel access to adequate and timely nformation
on accounting and reporting as well as on related controls Information regarding control require-
ments 1s commumcated through common policies, dedicated guidelines and process level procedure
descriptions
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The CFQ, supported by Investor Relations function, 1s responsible for the disclosure of financial
information and fulfilment of the communication obligations of a listed company Investor Relations
holds the responsiblity over planning and implementation of investor communications and daily
contact with investors and analysts

Monitoring and improvement

Finnair's internal control and risk management system 15 subject to both on-going and penodical
monttoring activities to gain reasonable assurance over its appropriateness and effectiveness
On-going monitoring 15 built into the normal, recurring operating activities of operations and 15
the responsibility of corporate management, business units and group-wide functions

Focus areas of internal control over financlal reporting In 2015 and 2016

2015 Key Activities

Regular self-assessment of risks and controls was performed as set in the annual calendar of internal control
attvities Addittanally, the internal Audit and public auditors performed audits on key controls as defined in
the annual audit plan

Furthermore, control catalogue documentation in additignal key process areas identified after the first phase
implementation was carned gut to further extend the coverage of the consistently defined framewark and
control process Special attention was focused on areas where changes i roles and responsibilities had
taken place

2016 planned Key Activities

Further devetopment of the controls wilt be conducted independently and also using any findings and
suggestions receved from Internal Audit and public auditors By the end of 2016, audits will have been
performed for each control catalogue

internal Audit
The Internal Audit i1s established by the Board of Directors, and its responsibilities are deftned by the
Audit Commuttee of the Board of Directors as part of their oversight function

The misston of Internal Audit in Finnair s to provide independent, objective assurance and
consulting services designed to add value and improve the organisation’s operations Internal Audit
helps the orgamsation to muttgate factors that might undermne its business objectives by bringing
a systematic, disciphned approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of sk management,
control, and governance processes
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Internal Audit focus areas in 2015 and 2016

2015 Key Activities

In 2015, {nternal Aucht set an objective to its audit activities to support management i ther efforts to
enhance revenues and profitability This theme was an overarching objective throughout the Audit Plan 2015
mn ali audit engagements Among main audits were Joint businesses, ancillary revenue, flight ticket safes and
Cargo revenue management and pricing process audits Special attentton during the year was also pawd to
areas such as strategic partnerships and programs, and data integrity

2016 Planned Key Actlvities

Internal Audit focus areas and annual plan for 2016 have been approved by the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directers in December 2015 Key fotus areas of Internal Audit for the year 2016 are based on and ahgned
with corporate strategy, results of risk assessments and recent changes in internal processes Sourcing, third
party nisk management and vendor management processes as well as arrline operatiens will be the main
audit areas for 2016.

Compliance

Finnair 1s commatted to complying with international and local laws and ethical policies in accord-
ance with the Code of Conduct approved in 2012 The Company's Gencral Counsel 1s responsible for
Finnair'’s compliance function, which supports business operations and corporate administration
developing practices related to identifying and complying with the law Ihe key tasks of Finnair’s
Compliance function are to ensure comphance with the regulation 1n all eperations, maintenance of
Finnair's compliance program and the continuzous development of ethical busimess culture,
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Risk management and major risks

Risk Management

Finnair operates 1n a global and highly competitive environment that ts sensitive to economic fluctu-
ations In executing its strategy, Finnair and 1ts operattons are exposed to a broad range of nsks and
opportunities To exploit opportunities to create value, Finnair 15 prepared to take and manage nsks
within the hmits of its risk-bearing capacity (rewarded risks) In relation to rehabibty of reporting,
comphiance with laws and regulations, and flight safety matters, Finnair's objective 1s to mintmise
risks (unrewarded risks) The purpouse of sk management 1s to provide a systematic approach to the
management of rewarded and unrewarded risks in all sections of Finnau's operations.

Policy and framework

In Finnair, sk 1s considered as the potential for loss caused by an internal or external event or senes
of events that can adversely affect the implementation of strategy, achievement of business objectives
or shareholder value Both negative events and unreahised positive events are considered as nisk

The Group Risk Management Policy defines the overall framework for nsk management in the whole
of Finnawr Group Hus framework, while taking into account industry specific requirements, ts
aligned with the commonly accepted COSO ERM framework and the 1SO 31000-2009 standard for

risk management

Dedicated Risk Management Principles have been established to support the implementation of the
Group Risk Management Policy in the following contexts Treasury, New Ventures, Programs and
Projects, Supply Chain, Flight Safety, Corparate Secunity and Information Security Principles associ-
ated with risk management in the context of financial reporting are discussed i Note 3 5 on page 59

Pallcy implementation

The Board of Directors holds the ulttmate responsibility for the Enterprise Risk Management system
m Finnair It 15 responsible for approving the Group Risk Management Policy, setting Finnair Group's
Risk Appetite and overseeing the effectiveness of Risk Management

Finnair Group’s CEQ holds the responsibility over the appropnateness of the Group's Risk Manage-
ment and oversight of Group Risk Management Policy implementation The CEO, supported by the
Risk Management Steering Group consisting of the members of Executive Board, ts also responsible
for reviewing Group Risk Management Pol:cy and risk management prionties

Business unuts, Group-wide functions and subsidiaries of Finnair Group are responsible for imple-
menting Group Risk Management Policy into their management systems and abgning with it ther
Risk Management guidelines, procedures and strategies

Process

Establish context and set objectives

Finnatr Group’s Risk Management System ensures that management has a process in place to assess
and manage uncertainties associated with set objectives, and those uncertainties are analysed and
managed within the boundanes of Finnair’s nisk bearing capacity

Risk Assessment

Risk assessments are executed according to the Annual Cycle defined in the Group Risk Management
Policy Finnair's risk assessment process takes place as an integral part of strategy process and opera-
tional objective-setting across the organusation to enable a holistic view on risks and opportunities

Risk assessment in Finnair Group includes the following phases

dentification of external and internal events affecting the achievement of abjectives,
distinction between risks and opportumities,

analysis of identified nsks.

« integration (aggregation) of risks,

evaluation and prioritisation of risks based on their significance and likelthood

.

To ensure the coverage of nisk identification and systematise the risk assessment activittes, Finnair
has established a common risk model, a common risk assessment ¢niterta and a common risk reposi-
tory As part of strategic risk assessments, also strategic assumptions associated with company objec-
tives are identified and thewr implications analysed

A dedicated Risk Coordinator Forum has been established to support coordination of risk assess-
ment activities 1n business units, group-wide functions and subsidiaries and to ensure these activities
conform to the requirements set 1n Group Risk Management Policy
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Risk response and control activities

Risk Management strategies shall be applied to prioritised risks tn order to reach reasonable assur-
ance that their outcumes fall within an acceptable level These Risk Management strategy options
include

+ Acceptance of nisk
+ Avoidance of misk
+ Transfer of sk

+ Mitgation of nisk
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The CEQ, supported by the Risk Management Steering Group, is responsible for defining nsk
management strategies and procedures, and setting nsk management prionities Risk owners for
business segments, group-wtde functions and at the process level hold the responsibility for planning
and implementing control measures to ensure an acceptable level of residual nisk, and that the refe-
vant risk interdependencies have been appropriately acknowledged

Information and communication

Risk management information system aims at providing means for Finnair's personnel to capture

and communucate information refated to execution of nisk assessments and control activities across
company's operations Identified risks and their control measures are documented 1n risk logs for
follow-up purposes Ded:cated information systems are 1n place to identify and analyse operational
nisk events and support associated operational audit activities Risk management information system
will be subject to further development during the year of 2016 Risk reporting to the Board of Phrectors
and to the Risk Management Steering Group takes place on quarterly basis under the coordination
of Group Internal Audit and Risk Management function Status of Risk Management development
activities and implementation of strategic controls are reported to the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors six imes per year In addition to the periodical business risk reporting, there are several
reporting lines associated with financial and operational risk reporting to both internal and external
stakeholders

Monitoring and continuous improvement

Finnair's risk management system is subject to both ongoing and penodical monitoring activities

to gain reasonable assurance over its appropriateness and effectiveness The implemented risk
management system 1s subject to continuous improvement activities based on PDCA (Plan-Do-
Check-Act) cycle consistent with ISO 31000 2009 On-going monitoring 1s built into the normal,
recurring operating activities of operations and 1s the responsibility of corporate management, busi-
ness segments and common functions The effectivencess of all flight safcty related control activitics
and the general compliance with official regulations are monitored through a quality system Wathin
the scope of the quality system, the safety-critical elements of the company are audited annually The
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 1s responsible for regularly reviewing and monitoring
the implementation of Group Risk Management Policy and the Risk Management process Group
Internal Audit and Risk Management in cooperation with Risk Management specialists 1s responsible
for assessment and development of the matunty of the risk management system In order to ensure
well-coordmated risk management development activities across the orgamisation and exchange of
best practices, a dedicated Risk Manager Forum consisting of risk management spectalists has been
established The forum has meetings on quarterly basis
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Governance model and reporting lines
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inability to generate cash flow
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Major risks
misk ! Definition
 BUSPISSSDNVIRONMENT .. 1-B7, (g5 A B
Compatitors ! The nisk of competitors or new entrants to the market taking
! actions to establish sustainable competitive advantage over
1 finnair
Capital avattabiiity :ﬁ nisk that insufficient access to capital Qamﬂmzm Finnair s
n capacity to graw, execute 1its business model and generate
i futyre tinancal returns
Economk volatility | The nisk that major ecanomic volality or other large scale
1 economic disturbances slow down travelling
Traflcchargesand | The price and availability of overfiight nights as welf as the
flight permissions i price of traffic charges, such as arnval, departure and
navigation charges result in a negative impact Finnair's
i business operations and profit margin
Ceantry risk i The risk that sudden changes tn demand, political S__SE_
! cultural factors, natural disasters, pandemic or other
i disturbances m destination countries slow down travefling
¢ and/or hinder Finnair's ability to conduct business
Lows and regulstiens The nisk that changes in faws, regulations or ther
| Interpretations significantly affect Finnarr's abulity to
: mq_n_ma_(_ conduct business
ﬁi-ru-a _ ) e g
markat risk ! The nisk of tncurring additional costs due to adverse
1 movements of the interest rates, unsuccessful currency
1 position and/or rise of jet fuel price
Unuidity risk ! The risk of incurring additional or unnecessary costs due to

Human capital . The risk that Finnair 15 not abte to execute its strategy ...__._m 1o
» inadequate quahty, commitment or resourcing of human
capital
Capacity planaing The risk that insufficient capacity threatens Finnair s ability to

meet customer demands, or excess capacity threatens
Finnair's abifity to generate competitive profit margins
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Preoduct development program(s}
+ Cost-competitiveness program(s)
s Actie Joint business and alhance cooperation

. .

Contintous momtoring of 832&.8- activities
* Scenanc anatysis
Contingency planning

* Funding plan
+ Treasury Poley

* Roadshows and one-on-one meetings with investors
and analysts
+ Capital Markets Day(s)

Risk diversification through active vendor portfolio
managemen!

= Structural changes

* Fleet ownership strategy

On-gomng analysis of market trend development
Penodical risk assessments
« Contingency planning

N )

« Continuous monitaring of political environment
= Lobbying

+ Active cooperation with key stakeholders
+ Enterpnise-wide dependency analysis

+ Conttnuous aos:o::m and market __.:m__.mm:nm
+ Group level nisk assessments
= Foreign unit risk assessments

= Contingency planning
+ Crists communtcation planning
« Network diversification

+ Awareness through tailored trammng programs
+ Ensuring abihty and resources to execute controls

+ Compliance management programme ta ag:? changes in external
requirements and align internal activities to suppert comphiance them
+ Dedicated internal policies

+ Continuous monitering of hedging ratials)
= Scenario and sensitivity analysis

- #322 policy mqucma by ,sm Board of Directors
« Internal controfs gver Treasury policy implementation

Maintam robust cash balance
« Diversify funding sources

+ Precommitted aircraft financing
+ Maintamn an unytiised credit faciity and commercial
paper programme

Aol ot

B B \
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Strategic naaumﬂm:n,. auzumm:_m:"

= Continuous improvement of HR processes
Change management program

+ Employee wellbeing strategy

» Network strategy
+ Demand forecasting
= Route performance monitoring

» Internal communicatton management

+ Union relations management

+ Contingency planning

+ Active and open communication with _.2 ma_a_..o_am_.m

» Dewation analysis
+ Continuous process improvement

-
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Rrisk ; Definition | Our risk responses tuchde, but are not fmtted te:

| BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT ) : v -

Marketing mbe . The nisk that segmentation and marketing mix decisions gn + Finnair brand re-positioning + Customer satisfaction and consumer trend surveys

i product, price, promotion and distribution do not support
i creation of sustainable competitive advantage

+ New E-commerce organization to safeguard and develop
online presence

+ Continuous benchmarking and strategre pasitionmg of Finnair product

i competitive advantage over oneworld, Finnair's jomnt

+ Jotnt business governance model

Revenoe ramugrmest | The risk that Finnair is not capable to perform competitive * Global sales strategy and revenue optimisation process * Executive level monitoring and performance evaluation
i revenue management to optimise its revenues per seat i+ Datly monitorng of booking trends, 1ssued sales, advance booking reports - Control measures to ensure timeliness and Integrity of
. kilometre + Monitoring of key variables such as market shares, pricing structure and revenue management information
: i yelds of other relevant airlines as well as route profitability
| sanTHERSHPS : 1 |
_ — — - s e
Alliances and Joiut . The nisk that other alliances and/or Joint businesses gain " + Active alliance cooperation « Project and process management methodology
Businesses implementation

! businesses andyor fack of performance and missing of targets

Partners and suppllars The risk that quality and avadability issues and/or unexpected
! costs asseriated with partnerships and suppliers have an
adverse eftect on Finnarr's product and profit margin or
' suppliers gan bargaming power over Finnair

. Dedicated alliance and joint business teams + Joint contindous process 1mprovement activities
: + tnternal controls over joint business processes

+ Supplier dversification

= Suppler relationship management program
« Supplier risk assessments

= Contract nsk management

+ Dedicated procurement specialists per suppler category
Dedicated partner managers

+ Scenano analysis

+ Contingency planning

| saraTy & secumiy i R )
Fllght safety ! The risk of endangered flight safety due to poor process » SMS (safety management system) * Reporting

1 destgn, poor process execution or a human error : * SQM Governance (Safety board, safety action graups, post holder *+ Monitoring

: ' responstbilities) + Safety audit program

; i+ Continuous analysts + FRMS {fatigue risk management system)

: i+ Risk assessment
Buta and cybersoeurity ; The sk of a cyber-attack on aviation systems having an + Risk assessments « Risk management actions

impatt on operations and therefore damaging the Finnair
» brand

The risk that inappropriate parties can access Finnair's
sensitive or classified information jeopardising its
confidentiality and/or ntegrity

, The nisk that a large-scale attack or disruption in information

\ systems affects Finnair's ability to conduct its busmess as
+ planned

» Secunty audits and evaluations Contingency planning




v ., STRATEGY AND VALUE CREATION  FINANCE GOVERNANCE

Remuneration statement 2015

Content
Introduction 105
Total Compensation at Finnair 105
Compensation ts based on job grading 106
Vanable pay 106
Short-term incentives 106
Long-term incentives 106
Management remuneration decision-making procedure 108
Remuneration of the Board of Directors m 2015 109
Management remuneration in 2015 109
Supplementary pensions 09
Termination of the service contract and severance pay 11¢
Other benefits 110

Introduction

This remuneration statement describes Finnair’'s remuneration pelictes and the remuneration of the
senior management, 1 e the Board of Directors, the CEO and the members of the Executive Board in
2015 Further information is available on the company website at www finnairgroup com  The remu-
neration statement has been prepared based on Recommendation 47 of the 2010 Finrush Corporate
Governance Code for Listed Companies published by the Finnush Securities Market Association, and
1t also covers other key components of remuneration that we believe the readers are interested in

Total Compensation at Finnair

Remuneration and mcentive structures take into consideration the effectiveness and costs of different
forms of remuneration Finnair's remuneration policies are comphant with local legislation, regula-
tions and practices [he overall remuneration of Finnaur's different personnel groups are compared
annually to the local pay levels tn simular tasks in every country in whuch the company operates

The salary and other incentive structures apphcable to the CEQ, the members of the Executive
Board, senior salaried employees, engineers and personnel based in units abroad are as follows

1 Fixed pay base salary
II Variable pay short and long-term incentives hinked to company and individual performance
I11. Employee benefits. perquisites and other personnel benefits
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Salaries, addendums and other compensation components of personnel groups other than those
mentioned above are, for the most part, defined in their respective Finrush collective agreetmnents
Outside Fintand, Finnair follows the pay practices and collective agreements of each country of
operation

Employment benefits for all personnel include a staff ticket benefit in line with company policy, as
well as a Sickness Fund for employees based in Finland Certain personnel groups also have a car
benefit and mobile phone beneht in ine with company policy

Finnair aims to make work rewarding and interesting through net only monetary incentives, but
also by offering opportunities for development and job rotation within the company Employees are
satisfied at Finnarr, as evidenced by a high average duration of employment and a very luow employee
revenue The average of service years of all employees was 17 2 at year-end 2015

computational monthly earnings of Finnalr's Flanish personnel groups in 2015%

Medlan®

e s
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3551 3 486

y€omputational manthly earmings Taxable gross earnings deded by 12 months

) The median pay describes the average salary of each group, or the point where hall of the employees in the group earn mare than the
amount. and half earn less The catculations only include employees who earnad pay for the full year Temporary layofls have been ehminated
from the calcutations The calculabions do not include tax exempt benefits or other untaxed forms of compensation such as dally allowances
The data does not mclude prots in superwisor reles Long-term incentrves are ot included

Median earmings describe the average pay level of each personnel group, and are not indicative of
the total personncl costs of that group The median pay of pilots decreased from the year 2013 and
mcreased in 2015 Thas 1s partly explained by vacation bonus days-off in 2014 The median earmings
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of white collar employees and management increased m 2015 due to higher short-term incentives
based on company result In addition, there were changes 1n management affecting the median pay

Average years of servica in Finnalr’s different personne! groups on 31 Dec 2015

Compensation Is based on job grading

Finnair uses job grading as the basis for determining the compensation of the CEO, members of
the Executive Board, white collar employees and personnel based in umts abroad Job grading s
based on the significance of the job and responsibility within the organisation, rather than hierar-
chical reportang relationships Job grading 1s tied to the job, and if a person changes from one job to
another, his or her job grade may change Job grading enables uniformity in compensation-related
dectsions both internally and compared to the market

vartable pay

The aim of variable pay 1s to achteve a flexible and incentivising pay structure that is linked to the
company’s success and the individual’s own performance In addition, long-term 1ncentives are
aimed at commatting the personnel and management to the company and to bringing their interests
m line with the interests of shareholders Performance targets are set by Fennair’s Board of Directors
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Short-term Incentlves

Short-term incentive scheme

Finnair utilises performance-driven short-term meentives throughout its management The mcen-
tive scheme comprises a process of target setting, performance evaluation and performance review
At the target level, the short-term variable pay ranges from 2 5-30 per cent of base salary, depending
on the job grade Ifan individual exceeds his or her targets substantially, the variable pay may, at a
maximum, reach 5-60 per cent of the annual base salary The short-term incentive scheme 1< based
on the company's six-month budgeting period and the vanable pay is paid semi-annually The vari-
able pay 15 calculated based on the indmidual’s base salary for the period in question

The short-term incentives for the CEO and other members of the Executive Board are determuned on
the basis of the half-yearly targets set by the Board of Directors The targets are based on the compa-
ny's business targets set by the Board of Directors for the period 1n question and on the targets set for
the business arca for which the indmidual in question 1s responsible The targets are mainly based on
fimancial measures but also on operative and quality KPIs, such as customer satisfaction

The short-term incentive for the CEO and the members of the Executive Board corresponds to 30
per cent of the base salary at the target level and 60 per cent of the base salary at the maximum level

According to the government gmdelines 1ssued by the Finmish Cabinet Commuittee on Economic
Policy on 13 August 2012, the short-term incentive for an indwvedual may not exceed 60 per cent of
the annual base salary n any given year

Personnel fund

Finnatr has a Personnel Fund owned and controlled by the personnel A share of Finnair's profits is
allocated to the fund The share of profit allocated to the fund ts determmed on the basis of targets
set by the Board of Directors The CEO, other members of the Executive Board and the participants
of the performance share plan are not members of the Personnel Fund In 2015, the targets of the
personnel fund were not reached

Long-term Incentives

Personnel share savings plan FlyShare

On 27 March 2013, Finnair’s Board of Directors decided to launch FlyShare, an employee share
savings plan The plan encourages employees to become shareholders m the company, and thereby
strengthens the employees’ interest in the development of Finnair's shareholder value and rewards
them in the long-term
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The plan consists of annually starting savings periods which are followed by a two-year shareholding
period Every new savings period 1s decided separately by the Finnair Board The third savings period
of the plan started on 1 July 2015

Participation 1in the plan 15 voluntary Through the plan, each eligible Finnair employee 15 offered the
opportumity to save a part of tus or her salary to be invested in Finnair shares The amount of monthly
savings can be 2-8 per cent of each participant’s gross base salary per month, with the annual
maxirmum savings set at 8,000 euros per participant Shares are purchased with the accumulated
savings at the market price quarterly, after the publication dates of Finnair's interim results Any divi-
dends pard on purchased shares during the savings period will be automatically reinvested in Finnair
shares on the next share purchase date following the payment of dnndend

After the two-year shareholding period, Finnair will award each participating employee one
matching share for each two shares purchased The awarded additronal shares are taxable income for
the recipient In addition, employees participating in the plan for the first time are rewarded with 20
bonus sharcs after the first three months Alse the benus shares are taxable income

performance-based long-term Incentlve plan for key personnel

Finnair’s Board of Directors approved on 7 February 2013 a new performance share plan for the
key personnel of Frnnair Group The share plan replaced the previous program which expired at the
end of 2012 The share plan encourages the management to work to increase long-term shareholder
value It has been designed in accordance with the principles of the statement by the Ministenal
Comrmuttee on Econemuc Policy

The share plan consists of annually commencing individual plans wathun which the participants have

the opportunity to earn Finnair shares as a long-term incentive reward, 1f the performance targets set
by the Board of Directors arc achieved The commencement of cach new plan is subject to a scparate

approval of Finnair Board of Directors

Each plan contains a three-year performance period which 1s followed by a restriction penod, during
which the participant may not sell or transfer the shares received as a reward The restriction pertod
1s three years for the members of Finnau'’s Executive Board and one year for other participants In
addition, the CEQ and members of Finnair’s Executive Board are required to accumulate and once
achieved, to mantain a share ownershup 1n Finnair corresponding to hus or her annual base salary as
long as he or she holds a position as a member of Finnair’s Executive Board

and resvards them in the long term.
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‘The potential reward will be delivered in Finnair shares The share delivery 15 split mto two or three
share tranches that will be dehvered to participants during the three years following the performance
pernod

As a consequence of the transfer from the previous fixed three-year structure to a rolling structure,

the new plan will not be in full effect until 2018 Because of this, a one-off bridge element was added
to the plan to supplement payments in 2016 and 2017 The targets of the bridge plan were not |
achteved No shares were deltvered under the lang-term incentive plan in 2014 and 2015

If the performance critenia set for the plan are met at the target level, the incentive pard 1n

Finnair shares to the CEQ or other member of the Executive Beard participating in the plan will be
30 per cent of hus or her annual base salary If the performance criteria set for the plan are met at the
maxtmum level, the incentive paid in Finnair shares will be 60 per cent of the participant’s annual
base salary For other key personnel, the target level for incentives 1s 20-25 per cent and maximum
40-50 per cent of the person’s average annual base salary according to the job grade

According to the rules of the share program, the maximum value of shares delivered to an individual
participant based on the share program :n any given year may not exceed 60 per cent of the person’s
annual base salary Shares are taxable income for the recipient

A person 15 not entitled to the incentive if he or she resigns or 1s dismissed before the date of
payment In addition, during the restriction period the Board of Directors is entitled, at its discretion,
to reclaim already delivered shares from a person included in the share plan who resigns or whose
service in the company 1s terminated

The Board of Directors 1s alse entitled, subject to a particularly weighty reason, to change or cancel
the incentive or to postpone its payment The Board of Directors is entitled to remeve a participant
from the share plan if the person has commutted a sigmhicant offence or acted in a manner detr-
mental to the company or contrary to the company's interests

Performance criteria of the plans

The performance criteria applied to the plan 2013-2015 are the Group’s relative operating EBIT
margin growth and decrease m unit costs in European traffic These two critera are assigned weights
of 60 per cent and 40 per cent, respectively The performance ¢riterion for the share plan’s bridge
element 15 the operating EBIT margin

M The share savings plan strengthens employees' interest in shareholder value
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The performance cniteria apphed to the plans 2014-2016 and 2015~2017 are Return on Capital
Employed (ROCE) and Total Shareholder Return (1SR) These criteria are weighted equally
{50 per cent and 50 per cent)

The target levels and maximum levels set for the criterra are based on long-term strategic objectives
set by the company's Board of Directors Performance against the ¢riteria 1s monitored quarterly

Long-term incentive plan for pilots

Finnair's Board of Directors approved on 13 October 2014 a new long-term mcentive plan for Finnair
ptots The plan is a part of the savings agreement between Finnair and the Finnish Arrhne Pilots’
Assocsatton (SLL) that brings Finnair 17 mallion euros in permanent annual savings The savings
agreement was contingent on the realisation of the incentive plan

The plan period 15 2015-2018 and the prerequusite for rewarding pilots based on this plan s the
achievement of the agreed cost savings over thus time period In additton, the company share price
must be at least 4 euros at the end of the incentive plan If these conditions are met, the palots are
entitled to a cash payment The amount of the payment 15 based on the Finnair share price The total
payment1s 12 mulion euros with a share price of 4 euros and 24 millien euros with a share price of 8
euros, which is also the maximum earnuing of the plan Divided over the four-year period, the annual
earnings potential for one participant 1s equivalent to 5-10 per cent of the annual base salary

There are approximately 700 pilots ehigible to participate n the plan The cash payment will be deliv-
ered m spring 2019, provided that the conditions stated above are met

Management remuneration decision-making procedure

The Board of Directors’ remuneration. The Sharcholders’ Nomination Board prepares annually
its proposal for the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors The Annual General
Meeting of shareholders makes the final decision on the Board's remuneration

The remuneration of the CEO and the Executive Board. The Board decides on the salary, incen-

tive schemes and associated targets of the CEQ and other members of the Executive Board based on
preparatory work carried out by the Board's Compensation and Nomination Commuttee Decisions

on remuneration have been made with consideration of the government guidelines
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Remuneration decision-making procedure

-~

The Shareholder's Nomination Board

Prepares proposal on Board s remuneration

Annual General Meeting

Decides on the Board's rernuneration

w
- BodrdidfDirectors

J

« Decides on the CEQ's and Executive Board members’
remuneralion

« Decides on the incentives performance-refated
variable pays and share-based incentive schemes
pertarning to the company as a whole

« Sets company level targets of the shart-term
ncentive scheme

Compensation
and Nomination
Committee

Prepares
remuneration
related matters
and proposals
for the Board
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Remuneration of the Board of Directors in 2015

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) decides annually on the remuneration and other financial
benefits of the members of the Board of Directors and its commuttees The election and remunera-
tion of the members of the Board are prepared by the Nomination Board formed by the represent-
atives of the company's largest shareholders The remuneration of the Board of Directors and its
commuttees ts patd in cash

‘The members of the Board of Directors are not covered by the company’s share incentive scheme
or other incentive schemes

The annual remuneration and meeting compensation deuded by the 2015 AGM for the members
of the Board of Directors are

+ Charrman's annual remuneration, 61,200 euros
» Deputy Chairman's annual remuneration, 32,400 euros
+ Chairmen of the Audit Commuttee and Compensation and Nomunation Commuttee,
32,400 euros, where these individuals are nerther the Chairman nor the Deputy Chairman
of the Board
«+ Other Board members’ annual remuneration, 30,000 euros
Meeting compensation paid per Board or commuttee meeting 15 600 euros when the meeting
takes place in the member’s country of residence and 2,400 euros for other meetings For tele-
phone meetings, the fee 1s 600 euros

The members of the Board of Directors are entitled to a daily allowance and compensation for travel
expenses in accordance with Finnatr's general travel rules In additron, the members of the Board

of Directors have a limited right to use staff tickets 1n accordance wath Finnair's staff ucket rules
Under the current rules, the Directors and their spouses are entitled to 4 return or 8 one-way tickets
on Finnair fhghts per calendar year in Economy or Business Class The fare of these tickets 15 zero,
exclusive of any airport taxes, fees and charges, which are payable by the Directors and their spouses
These tickets constitute taxable tncome tn Finland

Annual remuneration for members of the Board of Directors has remained unchanged since 2008
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Remuneration pald to Finnair Board of Directors In 2015

: i ! : Meeting | ;
m Annual ._ i Committes ;| compensationy ' Taxable '

¢\ remuneration”  Board meetings ' meetings |, Intotnl henefits™ : Total

4 .l 1

16 200 0. 77400

12,000 ! 0 44400

10,800 7380° 49980

8.400 | 4526, 42926

29,400 : 19537 63,53

9.600 ! 2709 42309

31,800 ! 1,047 52847

e

Remuneration paid to the Boardw 2015
1) The remuneration 1s expressed at the annual leve! but paid (n monthly instalments
#Taxahte berefits comprise Finnair staff tickets, whichcan be used by the members ot the Board

Management remuneration in 2015

In 2015, Finnair's CEO was Pekka Vauramoe The Executive Board comprised six members in adds-
tion to the CEQ CFO Erno Hilden resigned from the Executive Board during 2015 New CFO Pekka
Vahihyyppi started on 1 September 2015 The Executive Board members are presented on page 113

In 2015, no long-term incentives were paid to management

supplementary pensions

The CEO
The CEQ, Pckka Vauramo, accumulates pension and hus retirement age 1s defined in accordance with
the Finnish Employees’ Pensions Act The CEO does not have a supplementary pension benefit
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Exectitive Board

‘The members of the Executive Board accumulate pension in accordance with the Finnish Employees’
Pensions Act In addition, the company has a supplementary pension scheme that includes some of
the members of the Executive Board

All pension arrangements for members of the Executive Board are collective within the meaning

of Finnish tax Taws Al supplementary pensions taken for the executives are defined contnbution
schemes The supplementary defined contetbution pension arrangement applies to three members
of the Executive Board The annual contribution equals 10 per cent of the income for the year The
supplementary penston includes vested rights The retirement age 1s 63 years There are no Executive
Board members with defined benefit supplementary agreements

New CEQ and Executive Board member service contracts concluded after 1 January 2013 will not
nclude sepplementary pension benefits

Termination of the service contract and severance pay

The CEO

According to Pekka Vauramo's service contract, both the CEO and the company have the right to
terminate the service contract wathout a specific cause The notice perod 1s s1x months for both the
company and the CEQ In the event that the company termmunates the service contract, the CEQ s
entitled to a severance pay corresponding to total salary for twelve months (base salary + taxable
value of benefits} in addition to the salary for the notice period The severance pay does not apply if
the CEQ restgns or retires
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Executive Board

According to the service agreetnents of the Executive Board, both parties have the nght to ternuinate
the service contract without a specific cause The maximum notice period 15 s1x months for both
parties In the event that the company termunates the agreement, the member of the Executive Board
15 entitled to a severance pay corresponding to the base salary of maximum of twelve months in adds-
tion to the salary for the notice penod This severance pay does not apply if the contract of employ-
ment 15 cancelled, if the executive terminates the contract or retires

Other benefits

The CEO

CEQ Pekka Vauramo'’s benefits include hife msurance, free-time acaident insurance, travel insurance,
management liability insurance and medical insurance The hife insurance coverage starts at 20 per cent
of annual pay and increases each year The total surm may not, however, exceed 500,600 euros The
CEO also has a mobile phone benefit in hne with company policy

Executive Board

The benefits of the members of the Executive Board include free-time accident insurance, travel
insurance, management liability insurance and the night to medical insurance They afso have a car
benefit and mobile phone benefit in line with company policy

Management remuneration, the company’s long-term incentive plan and pensien contributions are
also described 1n Finnair Financial Statements 2015 in note 1 3 7 Employee benefits
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. ExecutiveBoard 20150 Executive Board 20140 |

Salary and other remuneration paid, euros per year

.
'
r

-

e s e —

1,196,213 | 1,614,461

PRt

5
Y 5

Employee benefits are desrcribed on page 110

60,676 : 65,635
| Shortstermiincéntives® " - #7517 N o B
Principles are described on page 106, 7,508 « I mm(—..fuow.w-:f T .—.m..u..pm,a
o Cerm R R ¥ T i ﬂ
- ‘ 0! o 0
salary and other remuneration pald In total : : 866,744 | 760,042 1,458,152 1,843,200

) Satary and remuneration included for Executive Board membership penod anly

7 Base salary includes holiday bonus

1 Earning perod for Incentives paid in 2014 was 1 Jul 2013 - 30 Jun 2014 and for incentives paid in 2015 1 Jul 2014 - 30 Jun 2015
*10ther taxahle benefits include health Insurances and staff ickets

) No long term incenthves were pasdin 2014 and 2015
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Board of Directors 2015

Klaus Helnemann Jussi itivuord Jaana Tuominen
b 1951, Dhplom Kaufmann, German cthzen. b 1955, M Sc {Econ ), Finnish Citizen b 1960, M Sc {Eng ), Finrush ciizen
Chairman of the Finnair Board of Directors Member of the Finnair Board of Directors Member of the Finnair Board of Directors

; * since 27 March 2013, Member of the Board since 2032 since 2014
. , since 2012, Committee memberships Compensa Committee memberships Compensa-
S Committee memberships: - tion and Nomination Committee (Chair tion and Nomination Commuttee
— . Main occupation Board professional man} Main occupation CEO of Paulig Group
f&l\ “4 Key positions of trust Member of the Main occupation Senior Partner, RJ] since 2008
\ X X Adwisory Board of Skyworks Holdings Partners Limited Key positions of trust Member of
‘WV AN LLC, non-executive Board Director Key positions of trust  Member of the the Board of Directors of Sucminen
Ktaus Nelnemann Harri Kerminen Maija-Llisa Friman of Scope Ratings AG, Adwisory Board Board of Barona Group Oy and RJI Part- Oy), Suomen Messut Osuushunta, and
Director of Avinomics GmbH ners Qty, and Charrman of the Board of Elntarviketeolbsuuslutto ry

RJI Holding Oy 2nd Cloudator Payrofl Oy

Harrl Kerminen Nigel Turner

b 1951, M.Sc.(Eng ), MBA, Finrush aitizen. Gunvor Kronman b 1958, BA (Hon ) British Citizen Member
Vice Chairman of the Finnatr Board of b 1963, MA, Finnush citizen of the Finnair Board of Directors since
Directors since 2012, member since 2011 Member of the Finnair Board of Directors 2014

Committee memberships: Audit Com- since 2012 Committee memberships Audit Com-
mittee and Compensatron and Nomina- Committee memberships Compensa- mittee

tion Commuttee tion and Nomtnation Committee Maun occupation -

Main occupation Board professional, Main occupation CEO of Hanasaart Key positions of trust Mr Turner 1sthe
Key posttions of trust. Chairman of the — the Swedish-Finnish Cultural Centre Deputy Chairman of the Board of Direc-
Board of Metgen Oy, HST Partners Oy Key positions of trast Chairman tors and the Charrman of the Audit Com

and Magsort Oy, Member of the Board of the Board of Kalevala Jewelry Vice mittee of aircraft leasing company Jetscape
of Tikkurila Ov). Normet Oy, SK Spice Chairman of the Board of Crisis Man- Inc. member of the Board of Directors and
Holdings Sarl and Harjavalta Oy agement Imtiative and Plan Interna- of the Audit and Treasury Committees

tional, Member of the Boards of The of NATS plc
Finmsh Red Cross Bisod Service, Hel

Maija-LHsa Friman sink1 University, Konstsamfundet,

b 1952, M Sc (Chem Eng), Finnish The Swedish Royzl National Theater The Board of Directors was elected n the
citizen Member of the Finnatr Board of Dramaten (Sweden}, Rand Corporattons Annual Genera! Meeting held on 25 March
Directors since 2012, (US/UK) and Augusta Victoria Hospital 2015 More detailed informatron abiout the
Committee memberships Audit Com- (Palestine) bogrd members and their gwnership of

Finnalr shares can be found at
www finnairgroyp.com

mittee (Chairman)

Main eccupation Board professional
Key positions of trost. Vice Chairman
of the Board of Neste ] Oy), member of
the Boards of Talvivaara Plc (unti 25 June
2015), LKAB, the Finnush Secunites Market
Assoctation and Beardman Oy Chairman
of the Board of Ekokem Oy (until 24 Aprl
2015} and Helsinki Deaconess Institute.

Jaana Tuominen Nigel Turner
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Executive Board 31 December 2015

Pekka vavramo
@pekkavau

Juha Jarvinen
®lubahelsinki

Arja Suominen
@arjasucminen

Eija Hakakart

sami sarelius

Pekka vihihyyppd
@Pekkavahahyyppa

Pekka vauramo

b 1957, M Sc (Technology) President and
CEO as of 1 Tune 2013 He joined Finnair
from Cargotec, a Finnush cargo and load
handling company, where he held differ-
ent management posttions between 2007
and 2013 Before his transfer to Finnar,
he was based in Hong Kong from 2010 as
COO of the MacGregor Business Area
Between 1985 and 2007 he worked at
Sandvik, a Swedish nunung and construc-
tion company

Eila Hakakarl

b 1961, M Sc {Education), SVP Human
Resources as of 1 of October 2014 Before
jouning Finnair, she was SVP Human Re-
sources at Stora Enso's Printing and Living
division Her previous positions include
SVP Human Resources at Rautaruunkki
and various HR director pasitions 1in both
China and Finland

ville tho

b 1969, M Sc (Technology), COO,
Finnair's service smee 1998 He previously
held various posts in Finnair's Scheduled
Traffic Prior to hus present position, he
was Finnarr's VP Resources Manage-
ment
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Juha Jirvinen

b 1976, MBA, Cluef Commeraial Officer
as of | November 2014 In Finnair service
since 2012 He has extensive experience
n managing different services within the
atrhne industry He served as Managing
Bnrector of Finnair Cargo since March
2012, and pror to that he was the Vice
President, Ground Handling Internatipnal
1n 5AS Scandinavian Airhines

saml Sarelius
b 1971, LLM, SVP and General Counsel,
1n Finnair's service sthce 1998

Arja suominen

b 1958, MA, e-MBA, SVP Corpo-
rate Communications and Corporate
Responsibibity, in Finnair 5 service March
2011 She previously worked for Nokia,
mainly in communications posttions, ul-
timately as Nokia’s Semor Vice President,
Communications

Pekka vihihyyppl

b 1960, M.Sc Econ,eMBA, CFOasof17
August 2015 Vihahyyppi joined Finnair
from Stockmann where he held ditferent
management positions in 2000-2015,
maost recently as CFQ Prior to that he
held financial management pasitions in
for example, Nestlé's Nordic substdiaries,
OKO-Venture Capital and A-lehdet Oy

More detailed informanion aboua the
members of the Executve Board and their
ownershup ot Finnatr shares can be tound at
www finnaigroup.com
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Information for the shareholders

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of Finnair Plc will be held on Thursday 17 March 2016, at 15-00 at
the Messukeskus Helsinki at the address Messuaukio 1, Conference Centre, Helsinky, Finland The
reception of persons who have registered for the meeting and the distnbution of voung trckets wail
commence at 14-00 Coffee 1s served before the commencement of the AGM

The notice to convene the AGM

The notice to convene the AGM and the proposals of the Board of Directors to the AGM will be
pubhished as a stock exchange release and on Finnair's corporate website The notice will contain
the agenda for the AGM Shareholders are entitled to having an issue put on the Annual General
Meeting's agenda, provided that such an tssue requires a decision by the Annual General Meeting
according to the Finmish Companues Act, and provided that they request it in woting 1n due time to
be included i the notice

The right to participate in the AGM

Each sharcholder who 15 registered on Monday 7 March 2016 in the Company’s register of share-
holders maintained by the Euroclear Finland Oy has the right to participate 1n the AGM

Registration for the AGM
The shareholder who wants to participate in the general meeting and exercise their voting right can
register to the meeting at the latest on Monday 14 March 2016 at 1000 Registration can be done

+ In the internet at http //www finnairgroup com,

+ Bye-mail to agm@finnarr fi,

+ By phone from Monday to Friday at 90016 00 in the number +358 20 770 6866,
+ Byfax +358 96940205 or

» By maitto Finnair Plc, Register of shareholders, HEL-AAC/ 502 01053 FINNAIR

A holder of nommee registered shares is advised to request withaut delay necessary instructions
regarding the registration in the shareholder's register of the company, the 1ssuing of proxy docu-
ments and registration for the general meeting from his/her custodian bank The account manage-
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ment organization of the custodian bank will register a holder of nominee registered shares, who
wants to participate in the general meeting, to be temporanly entered into the shareholders’ register
of the company at the latest on Menday 14 March 2016 at 10am

The shareholder may participate in the meeting either tn person or through authonised or proxy
representative Possible proxy documents shall be dehvered by the end of registration period to
Finnarr Ple/AGM, HEL ACC/502, 010153 Finnarr, Finland

AGM 2015 - Important dates
7 March 2016 Record date
14 March 2016 At 10 00 deadline for gwving notice of attendance

17 March 2016 At 16 00 the reception of persons registered to the AGM will commence and

At 15 00 the AGM will commence

Board of Directors’ proposal on dividend

Finnarr Plc's distnibutable funds were 181,101,862 30 euros on 31 December 2015 The Board of
Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that o dvidend be distributed for 2015

financial information in 2016
In 2016, interim reports will be published as fellows

+ Interim Report for January-March 2016 on Thursday 12 May 2016
+ Interum Report for January—June 2016 on Wednesday 17 August 2016
+ Interim Report for January-September 2016 on Wednesday 26 October 2016

The financial statements bulletin and mterim reports in 2016 wall be published at approxamatcly 900
Financial report, financial statements and interum reports are published in Finnish and English The

material 1s available on the company website Shareholders can subscribe or unsubscnbe for the
releases at www finnarrgroup com
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Silent period

Finnair’s silent peried starts three weeks prior to pubhishing of its interim financrals and four weeks
prior to publishing of annual finanvial results Finnatr will not comement on its business or meet with
capital market representatives during that period

Changes in contact information
Euroclear Finland Ltd mantains a hst of Company shares and shareholders Shareholders who wish

to make changes to their personal and contact information are kindly asked to contact their own
account operator directly Finnair cannot make these changes

Assessments regarding Finnair as an investment object

According to information held by Finnar, at least the following analysts publish investor analyses of
the company

+ Carnegie, Robtn Nyberg, Finland, Tel +358 9618 71 234

« Evli Bank, Jaakko Tyrvainen, Finland, Tel +358 9 4766 9314
+ HSBC, Andrew Lobbenberg, UK, Tel +44 207 991 6816

+ Nordea, Pasi Vaisanen, Fintand, Tel +358 9 1655 9943

« Pohjola, Jan Raisanen, Finland, Tel +358 10 252 4504

« Inderes, Antt Viljakanen, Finland, Tel +358 44 5912216

Finnaw does not accept any responsibihty for the views or opinions expressed by the analysts
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Glossary

AEA

Carbon Disclosure Profect

1ATA

Just Cufture

LEED Certificate

Open Skies

Skytrax

UNWTO

The Association of European Airfines

An international not tor-protit organisation providing a global system for compasies and
cities to measure, disclose, manage and share wital environmental information

International Air Transport Association a trade assoCction representing and senving the
awline industry worldwide

The IATA Environmental Assessment (IEavA) program s an environmental management
system designed to independently assess and improve the environmental management of
an airline

international Cwil Avialion Organization an agency of the Unied Nattons promoting safe and
orderly develgpment of international cvil awation

The IATA Operational Satety Audit (#05A) program i an internationally recognised and
accepled evaluatian system designed to assess the operational management and control
systems of an airlne

Orgamsational culture aimung at assigning the consequences for an unsafe act i a far way
based on an understanding of 2n iIndwvidual s accountabibity and responsibilities within the
context of the systems and circumstances that the individual was operating

Leadership m Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) 1s a set of rating systems tor
the design, construchion, operation and maintenance of green buildings homes and
nesghborhoods

QOpen skies s an international policy concept that calls for the liberaksation of the rules and
regulations of the iternational aviation industry—especially commercial aviation=in order to
create a free-market enviranment far the arrkne mdustry

Research company that evaluates commercial airhnes and ther servces

UN world Tourism Orgamization
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Contact information

House of Travel and Transportation
Finnair Qy)

Tietotie 9 A {Helsinki Vantaa Awrport)
01053 FINNAIR

Tel +358 6000 81881 (1,25 euro/answered call + normal call charges)

www finnaircom
www. finnaireroup.com

nngt

@O0DE
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